# Organisational support for refugee students in German higher education

A systems theoretical analysis of the formalisation and development of support structures for refugee students and underlying discourses at German higher education organisations

Von der Philosophischen Fakultät der Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz Universität Hannover zur Erlangung des Grades Doktorin der Philosophie ( Dr. phil.) genehmigte Dissertation von

von Jana Berg, B.A., M.A.

Referentin: Prof. Dr. Monika Jungbauer-Gans

Koreferent: Prof. Dr. Hannes Schammann

Tag der Promotion: 06.08. 2021

# **Contents**

Zι	ısammenfassung	vii
Su	ımmary	ix
Li	st of abbreviations	xi
1	Overview of cumulative dissertation	1
	1.1 Paper overview	2
	1.2 A word on affiliation and institutional context: The WeGe research project	4
	1.3 Refugees in German higher education	5
	1.4 Research on higher education for refugees	6
	1.5 Theoretical framework	9
	1.5.1 The systems theoretical framework	10
	1.5.2 Key terms	14
	1.6 Methods	16
	1.6.1 Research interest	17
	1.6.2 Expert-interviews	18
	1.6.3 Study design	19
	1.7 Results	28
	1.7.1 Explorative pre-study: Challenges and support for refugee students at German HEOs	28
	1.7.2 Main study: Initiation, formalisation and development of support for refugee students	32
	1.8 Conclusion	39
	1.8.1 Project phases and their challenges	39
	1.8.2 Responsiveness and responsibility	42
	1.8.3 Research desiderata	46
2 m	Refugees in higher education: An integrative literature review of recent themes, ethodologies and omissions	49
	2.1 Introduction	
	2.2 Methods	51
	2.2.1 Literature research and selection criteria	
	2.2.2 Review	
	2.3 Results	
	2.3.1 Descriptive overview	
	2.3.2 The methodology of research with refugee students	

2.3.3 The relevance of support for refugee students	74
2.3.4 Challenges for refugee students	76
2.3.5 Institutional contexts	80
2.4 Discussion	84
3 A New Aspect of Internationalisation? Specific Challenges and Support Structor Refugees on Their Way to German Higher Education	
3.1 Introduction	91
3.2 Access to Higher Education for International Students, Asylum Seekers and Refu in Germany	_
3.3 Challenges and Support for Refugees and Asylum Seekers at German HEIs	93
3.4 Support Structures at German HEI	100
3.5 Conclusion	104
4 Formalising organisational responsibility for refugees in German higher educ	cation:
The case of first contact positions	109
4.1 Introduction	109
4.2 Research on higher education for refugees	111
4.3 Analytical framework	113
4.4 Data and methods	114
4.5 Findings	116
4.5.1 The emergence of HEOs' organisational responses to the influx of refugees	116
4.5.2 Organised responsibility: The first contact position	119
4.6 Discussion and conclusion: From responses to responsibility	123
5 Expectations, experiences and anticipated outcomes of supporting refugee stuin Germany - A systems theoretical analysis of organizational semantics	
6 International or refugee students? Shifting organisational discourses on refuge students at German higher education organisations	
6.1 Introduction	130
6.2 Literature	132
6.3 Discursive representations of international students with and without the experient forced migration	
6.4 Theoretical framework	134
6.5 Data and methods	136
6.6 Results	137
6.6.1 From international students to refugee students	137
6.6.2 From refugee students to international students	140

	6.7 Discussion.	143
	6.8 Implications for further research	145
7	Support for prospective refugee students in Germany: Quo vadis?	147
	7.1 Introduction	147
	7.2 Third Mission	148
	7.3 Data and methods	149
	7.4 Higher education for refugees	150
	7.5 First steps, experiences and structural changes: The development of support offers for refugee students	
	7.6 Four stages of programme initiation and development	152
	7.7 Support for refugee students as part of the Third Mission	157
	7.8 Quo vadis? Implications for supporting HEOs' engagement with refugee students	158
R	References	161

#### Zusammenfassung

Für Geflüchtete kann (höhere) Bildung ein Mittel sein, Anschluss und Teilhabe in einem neuen Land aufzubauen, In Reaktion auf stark gestiegene Asylantragszahlen und der Ambition vieler Geflüchteter, in Deutschland ein Studium zu beginnen oder wieder aufzunehmen, wurden 2016 eine Reihe öffentlicher Förderprogramme eingerichtet, die Hochschulen ermöglichen sollten, Studienbewerber\*innen mit Fluchterfahrung gezielt zu unterstützen. Parallel entstanden an vielen deutschen Hochschulen durch das Engagement von Mitarbeiter\*innen und Studierenden eine Reihe dezentraler Unterstützungsangebote, die mit Hilfe der neu verfügbaren Mittel formalisiert werden konnten.

Die kumulative Dissertation basiert auf Expert\*inneninterviews mit Hochschulmitarbeiter\*innen, die als Ansprechpartner\*innen für studieninteressierte Geflüchtete und in Leitungsfunktionen bezüglich der Internationalisierung der Hochschulen beschäftigt sind, und untersucht Unterstützungsangebote für Geflüchtete an deutschen Hochschulen. Damit trägt sie zu einem aktuellen und schnell wachsenden Forschungsfeld bei. Sie umfasst sechs Aufsätze, die sich mit dem Forschungsstand zum Studium für Geflüchtete, den Herausforderungen und Angeboten für Studieninteressierte und Studierende mit Fluchterfahrung, der Formalisierung der Angebote für Geflüchtete, den Erwartungen an und Erfahrungen mit der Ausgestaltung der Angebote, und mit zugrundeliegende organisationalen Diskursen auseinandersetzen. Zudem wird eine Übersicht über die Entwicklung der Förderprogramme von ihrer Initiierung über die Formalisierung und weitere Entwicklung im Kontext praktischer Erfahrungen und veränderter Förderbedingungen gegeben. Die Förderung von Studierenden mit Fluchterfahrung wird dabei im Kontext der Internationalisierung, sowie gesellschaftlicher Verantwortung deutscher Hochschulen diskutiert.

An allen untersuchten Hochschulen wurden in Folge dezentraler, teilweise ehrenamtlicher, Einzelangebote mit Hilfe externer Finanzierung Unterstützungsprogramme für Geflüchtete etabliert. Dabei wurde jeweils mindestens eine Teilzeit-Stelle geschaffen, die als Ansprechpartner\*in für Geflüchtete fungiert, verschiedene Unterstützungsangebote koordiniert und einen zentralen Knotenpunkt inner- und außerorganisationaler Kommunikationsstrukturen bezüglich geflüchteter Studierender darstellt. Diese Stellen können als strukturelle Formalisierung organisationaler Verantwortung verstanden werden. Darüber hinaus adressierten die Angebote für Geflüchtete die akademische und soziale Integration. Ein zentrales Anliegen war es dabei, die angehenden Studierenden bei der Erfüllung formaler Kriterien zu unterstützen. Weitere Aspekte, die den Alltag Asylsuchender und Geflüchteter in Deutschland prägen und den Studienzugang und -erfolg beeinflussen können, wie etwa die Unterbringung oder finanzielle Sicherheit, wurden dabei kaum adressiert; vielmehr wurden etablierte Strategien der Studienvorbereitung pfadabhängig angepasst und erweitert. Einige der Angebote mussten nach ersten Praxiserfahrungen angepasst werden, da sie initial in der Regel auf Vorannahmen von Hochschulmitarbeiter\*innen bezüglich der Bedarfe Geflüchteter basierten. Das zeigt, wie wichtig die Passung von Angeboten mit den Lebensumständen und Bedarfen der Zielgruppe ist und eröffnet die Frage nach dem Einfluss der Zielgruppe auf die Gestaltung der Angebote.

Im Kontext der Etablierung spezifischer Angebote wurde die formale Unterscheidung zwischen Studienbewerber\*innen mit und ohne Fluchterfahrung eingeführt, die von der Ausbildung eines organisationalen Diskurses über Studienbewerber\*innen und Studierende mit Fluchterfahrung

begleitet wurde. Da dieser zunächst hauptsächlich die Funktion hatte, Förderanlässe zu identifizieren, war er von starker Defizitorientierung geprägt. Eine weitere zentrale Funktion dieses Diskurses war die Rechtfertigung des hohen Förderaufwandes für eine vergleichsweise kleine Gruppe. In den Interviews wurde die Unterstützung Geflüchteter immer wieder in den Kontext bestehender Strategien, etwa zur Internationalisierung, Diversifizierung oder der Übernahme sozialer Verantwortung, gesetzt. Dass solche Strategien hier auf neue Förderziele angewandt werden, verweist auf die grundlegende Bedeutung allgemeiner Dokumente organisationaler Selbstbeschreibung und Zielsetzung.

Basierend auf dem Bestreben, Studierende mit Fluchterfahrung nicht dauerhaft zu isolieren, und im Kontext geänderter Förderbedingungen zeichnete sich in den letzten Interviews ab, dass die Differenzierung zwischen geflüchteten und internationalen Studierenden abgeschwächt wird. Was die Angebotsgestaltung angeht, zeichnete sich ab, dass die Unterscheidung im chronologischen Verlauf von Studienbewerbung bis Arbeitsmarktzugang zunehmend an Bedeutung verlieren soll: Während sich die Maßnahmen der Studienvorbereitung weiterhin gezielt an Geflüchtete wenden sollen, soll die Studienbegleitung und Förderung des Arbeitsmarktzuganges Geflüchtete nicht direkt adressieren, sondern sich allgemein an internationale Studierende richten.

Die kurzfristige und befristete Etablierung pfadabhängiger Angebote, die mit der gleichzeitigen Ausprägung eines organisationalen Diskurses über geflüchtete Studierende einherging, kann als Beispiel für den Umgang von Hochschulen mit aktuellen Entwicklungen betrachtet werden. Dabei zeigte sich an den untersuchten Hochschulen, dass (zeitlich befristete) strukturelle Anpassungen nicht in die Kernstrukturen der betreffenden organisationalen Einheiten eingreifen, sondern, entsprechend der theoretischen Vorannahme, prinzipiell der Aufrechterhaltung dieser dienen. Des Weiteren zeigt die Analyse den engen Zusammenhang zwischen diskursiven Repräsentationen und strukturellen Entwicklungen.

Während Geflüchtete formal als internationale Studierende kategorisiert werden, zeigt sich

Schließlich ergeben sich aus den Analysen Anschlüsse für die weitere Forschung hinsichtlich der Weiterentwicklung der Angebote im Kontext veränderter gesellschaftlicher und Förderbedingungen, der Passung von Bedarfen und Angeboten, des Zusammenhangs zwischen Förderangeboten und Studienerfolg, und schließlich dazu, ob und inwiefern die Erfahrungen mit geflüchteten Studienbewerber\*innen und Studierenden organisationalen Wandel anregen und in die Gestaltung weiterer Angebote einfließen werden.

**Schlagwörter**: Studium für Geflüchtete, Studienzugang, Organisationale Diskurse, Organisationale Responsivität

http://dx.doi.org/10.15488/11988

#### **Summary**

Since the refugee influx in 2015 and 2016, many German higher education organisations (HEOs) have implemented support programmes for refugee students in order to enable them to pursue their academic goals. Public funding schemes were established quickly to facilitate those efforts. Based on those funding opportunities, decentral support offers and activities of volunteers were formalised into coordinated support structures for refugee students. Based on a systems theoretical framework, I have analysed expert-interviews with first contacts for refugee students and heads of international offices that were conducted between 2017 and 2020. Throughout six papers, I investigate the initiation, formalisation and adaptation of support structures for refugee students at German HEOs.

The quick, but also temporary, establishment of support projects can be seen as an example of organisational responsiveness and responsibility in view of recent events. All sampled HEOs created a first contact position to counsel refugee students and coordinate the various additional support measures. They can be seen as boundary-positions, mediating between organisations' communicative expectations and refugee students' expectations, needs and situations. Further, they are a key point of the communicative network regarding refugee students, maintaining internal and external cooperations and collecting relevant information on refugee students' situations, aspirations, as well as social, legal and organisational contexts. Additional offers address formal access criteria, as well as academic and social inclusion of refugee students. The specific offers at each sampled HEOs were generally path-dependently based on existing offers. Further, the systemic boundaries defined the range of programmes: Refugees were addressed in established ways of student support, with a main focus on enabling them to meet formal criteria for enrolment. Other aspects of their situation, such as housing or finances, were perceived as outside HEOs responsibilities, regardless of their potential influence on student success. It should also be noted that offers were usually based on ascribed needs and partly had to be adjusted based on experiences with and feedback from refugee students.

Along with specific support structures for refugees, a formal differentiation between international students with and without the experience of forced migration was established. Addressing refugee students as a new target group lead to a specific, often deficit-oriented, organisational discourse on refugee students. Because little academic or practical knowledge on higher education for refugees was available, support structures for refugee students were initially often based on ascribed needs and presumed benefits. They were mostly differentiated from other international students based on the specific needs arising from their circumstances of migration. In addition to identifying needs and potential ways to support refugee students, another function of this discourse was to justify the support for a comparatively small group of students. This was done by connecting them to existing mission statements in the context of higher education organisations' internationalisation, diversification and social responsibility and describing refugee students as a highly motivated new group of students. The connection of refugee students to existing mission statements shows the importance of such documents: by providing a framework of generalised objectives, they allow flexible support for new target groups.

Recently, funding conditions for the continuation of support after 2020 have changed. In addition to study preparation courses, student support and programmes to support labour market transitions were to be established. Those new offers are supposed to be open for all

(international) students. Along with this development, the interview analysis shows a gradual attenuation of the differentiation between international and refugee students. A chronological shift from refugee applicants to international students and graduates seems to replace the focus on students' legal status during previous project phases.

The structural adaptations and changes do not seem to foster organisational change, but rather reinforce the key functions and structures of higher education organisations and their sub-units. At the sampled HEOs, all activities concerning refugee students depend on funding and it has yet to be determined whether the experience with refugee students will inspire lasting adaptations of organisational structures. Overall, the analysis shows the close connection between function, organisational discourse and structural development.

Further research should look into further development of offers for refugee students in the context of changing social and funding conditions and investigate, whether and how experiences with refugee students are recorded and potentially used beyond the current situation and this specific target group. Also, further research should analyse to what extent existing offers are meeting the actual needs of refugee students and whether and how they enable and influence refugees' student success.

**Keywords:** refugee students; organisational discourses; organisational responsiveness

http://dx.doi.org/10.15488/11988

### List of abbreviations

ALG II Unemployment Benefit II

AsylbLG Asylbewerberleistungsgesetz

BAMF German Federal Office for Migration and Refugees

BAföG Bundesausbildungsförderungsgesetz

BMBF German Federal Ministry of Education and Research

DAAD German Academic Exchange Service

DAFI Albert Einstein German Academic Refugee Initiative

DZHW German Centre for Higher Education Research and Science Studies

EU European Union

FH University of Applied Sciences

HEI Higher Education Institution

HEO Higher Education Organisation

IAB Institute for Employment Research

WeGe Research project Refugees' pathways into German higher education

U University

UN United Nations

UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

UNESCO United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

#### 1 Overview of cumulative dissertation

In 2019, 70.8 million people were forcibly displaced worldwide, including 25.9 million refugees and 3.5 million asylum seekers (UNHCR, 2019a). Only 3% of refugees have access to tertiary education (UNHCR, 2019b). Because many of them are living in poverty or without secure coverage of their basic needs, refugees' access to higher education has long received little attention (Dryden-Peterson, 2019). However, in order "to empower people with the knowledge, skills and values to live in dignity, build their lives and contribute to their societies" (UNESCO, n.y.), the importance of providing lifelong education for everyone, including refugees, has been repeatedly emphasised in recent years and the topic has elicited increased social and academic interest. Higher education not only offers a chance to optimise access to the labour market in a new country but is also understood as a source of hope, as a basis for building a new life, and as the chance to overcome and defy stereotypes (Grüttner, Schröder, Berg & Otto, 2018; Ramos, 2020). The United Nations aims to "[e]nsure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all" (United Nations, 2019) by 2030 in their fourth sustainable development goal. This includes the creation of safe learning environments for refugees (UNESCO, UNICEF, World Bank, UNFPA, UNDP, UN Women &UNHCR, 2015). By 2013, the UNHCR aims to ensure access for 15% of refugees (UNHCR, 2019b; 2019c). In order to realise those goals, politics and higher education organisations (HEOs) need to cooperate in creating safe and inclusive learning spaces.

In Germany, the topic was perceived as increasingly important after the refugee influx around 2015: Many of the newly arriving asylum seekers and refugees wished to continue or begin their higher education in Germany, and about one third of them had credentials that were likely to be acknowledged as university entrance certificates (Brücker, Rother & Schupp, 2016). In a context of discourses of social responsibility and refugees as potential new professionals for the labour market (Streitwieser & Brück, 2018), new funding opportunities for support-projects emerged. At the same time, many German HEOs initiated offers for refugee students in order to support their access to and success in higher education.

Simultaneously, the topic received increased worldwide academic attention, creating a rapidly growing research field that touches a broad variety of interdisciplinary topics, such as equity and inclusion, internationalisation, preparation for, access to and

success in higher education, social integration, and participation. Most publications focus on challenges for refugee students or evaluate individual support programmes. However, even though different approaches and their effects on refugee students have been broadly discussed, analysis of the initiation and development of offers for refugee students based on organisational theory has been sparse. In order to contribute to this quickly emerging and dynamic research field, I aim to provide insights to organisational aspects of support for refugee students. Based on a qualitative research design, I have investigated the initiation, formalisation and further development of offers for refugee students at German HEOs and emerging organisational discourses on refugee students. While international literature and research, including the ongoing WeGe-project, provide insights to the perspectives of refugee students, this dissertation focusses on the perspectives of HEO members as crucial actors in initiating, implementing, formalising and enacting offers for refugee students.

Investigating organisational reactions to this specific target group provides an example for how HEOs navigate challenges and opportunities, such as the sudden availability of funding, and thus shows their responsiveness to social challenges and how they take on social responsibility. Further, it sheds light on one of the many institutional conditions that refugees must manoeuvre while settling in a new country.

### 1.1 Paper overview

This section provides a brief overview of the six papers that are included in this cumulative dissertation. They are attached and summarised in more detail below.

During recent years, research on higher education for refugees has greatly increased. **Paper 1** is part of the literature discussion; it specifically focusses on recent topics and dynamics of this newly emerging research field by reviewing papers published between 2016 and 2019. As I am presenting international literature, I am not using the term 'higher education organisations', but 'higher education institutions', the term most frequently used in the discussed papers.

Because little was known about higher education for refugees and only few studies had started exploring the situation in Germany when I began work on this dissertation, the study design included an explorative pre-study that mainly focussed on investigating what German HEO members perceived as central challenges for refugees in German higher education and what support was offered at German HEOs. **Paper 2** (**Berg, 2018**) gives an

\_

<sup>1</sup> https://www.wege.dzhw.eu/

overview of those early insights and considerations. I used this pre-study to choose a theoretical framework. During the explorative study, I used the term 'higher education institutions' rather than 'HEOs', mainly because it seemed to be the most direct translation of the German term 'Hochschulen', which generally includes universities and universities of applied sciences. However, as my further analysis focussed on HEOs as organisations, I then started to refer to them as 'HEOs' throughout all other papers.

The findings of the main study and thus the central results of my research are presented and discussed in three papers: Anja Gottburgsen, Bernd Kleimann and I have analysed the formalisation of support programmes for refugee students. Paper 3 (Berg, Gottburgsen & Kleimann, 2021) discusses internal and external factors that led to the initiation and formalisation of support structures and specifically focusses on the first contact positions that were established to counsel refugees and often also to coordinate the support.

Further, I have focussed on how refugee students are represented in organisational semantics and how they are positioned within HEOs. The main focus of paper 4 (Berg, **2021a**) is how the interviewees argued for the importance of supporting refugee students and how they framed this new target group within the context of their organisation, especially in the context of the internationalisation and diversification of higher education. Additionally, it shows how the programmes, which were often based on assumptions about the newly established target group, had to be adjusted according to experiences with refugee students. The paper is based on interviews conducted in 2017 and 2018 with first contacts and heads of international offices. For paper 5 (Berg, 2022), additional followup interviews with 7 first contacts for refugees from late 2019 and early 2020 were included in the analysis. The interviews showed that those support programmes that had applied for further funding often aimed to integrate offers for refugee students with those for all international students, and differentiations between those two groups that had previously been emphasised in order to warrant additional support for refugee students had grown blurrier. In the context of changed federal calls for funding applications, I have looked into the interplay of programme development and changing organisational discourses on refugee students in contrast or comparison to international students.

Finally, **paper 6** (**Berg, 2021b**) is a part of the discussion, but also includes a new take on the empirical evidence. It is based on all interviews from the main study and provides an overview of the different phases of initiation and further development of support programmes for refugee students at German HEOs. While previous papers

focussed on organisational perspectives on refugees in contrast and comparison to international students, this chapter discusses support for refugee students as part of HEOs' third mission. Further, it highlights practical implications that can be derived from the empirical results of this study.

## 1.2 A word on affiliation and institutional context: The WeGe research project

In May 2017, I started a doctoral position within the research project 'WeGe – Pathways of refugees into German higher education'. The WeGe-project investigates refugee students' trajectories into higher education with a focus on formal study preparation. It is based on a Mixed-Methods-Design, including an exploratory qualitative pre-study followed by parallel quantitative and qualitative surveys of refugees and international students in study preparation courses at higher education institutions and preparatory colleges ('Studienkollegs') at six locations in Germany. The main research interests are individual, institutional and structural factors influencing the trajectories and success of study preparations and educational transitions. While the main focus lies on the perspective of refugee students, the exploratory pre-study included a number of expert-interviews in a case study of one of the project's research locations. Additional expert-interviews with teachers and counsellors were conducted in late 2019 in order to provide further contextual information and address questions that came up during the analysis of previous project-data.

During the conceptualisation of my thesis, it quickly became apparent that I would need different data than the WeGe-project in order to answer my research questions. Even though the larger topic, 'higher education for refugees', is similar, the WeGe-project and my dissertation deal with fundamentally different research questions: they not only focus on different perspectives, but the main focus of the WeGe-project is transition-research, while I am looking into organisational responses to a new target group.

The qualitative pre-study for this thesis was scheduled parallel to the WeGe-project's pre-study. Based on my research questions, I focussed on the perspectives of HEO members, mainly international office members, while the WeGe study mainly focusses on the perspective of refugee students and additional experts, mostly teachers and counsellors. Of the five HEOs I sampled for my pre-study, three are also part of the WeGe-sample. Two of them were further included in my main study. At one HEO, expert-interviews were conducted within the WeGe-project in 2017, including an interview with the first contact for refugees. I conducted the interview and included it in my pre- and main study. Within

the project, we developed individual interview guidelines for each profession. Thus, I was able to include my research interests in the first contact interview guidelines and upon these then based the development of the interview guidelines for my exploratory pre-study. Other than using this interview, the conceptualisation, sampling, data collection and analysis for this doctoral thesis were not related to the WeGe-project. However, working on those different aspects of higher education for refugees has brought me deeper insights and into increased contact with different actors and perspectives within the field. Also, the affiliation with the German Centre for Higher Education Research and Science Studies made some practitioners more interested in participating in my research. Last but not least, the WeGe-project provided a productive and friendly working environment.

# 1.3 Refugees in German higher education

During the years 2015 and 2016, the number of asylum applications peaked in Europe and Germany, exceeding any year since World War II (BAMF, 2020). The often high educational aspirations of the newly arriving asylum seekers (Brücker et al., 2016) were met by a rising political interest in educating refugees and integrating them into the German labour market (Streitwieser & Brück, 2018). The German Federal Ministry for Education and Research (BMBF) and the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) quickly started federal funding schemes in order to support the integration of refugees into German higher education. There are two federal funding schemes: The Integra project was funded with 100 million Euros between 2016 and 2019 and mainly focussed on language classes and academic preparation courses, while the Welcome project was established to support student engagement for refugees, e.g. by providing funding for paid student positions. Welcome projects often focus on social integration or are used to support voluntary projects like refugee law clinics that were started by law students at many German HEOs and focus on legal counselling for refugee students. Further state-level funding schemes became available in some German states ('Bundesländer'). They are often granted for shorter periods, e.g. for one year. Generally, they support similar projects as federal funding schemes, and partly also additional measures like scholarships for refugee students.

Until that time, hardly any German higher education organisation (HEO) had directly addressed or supported refugee students (Schammann & Younso, 2016). Generally, they treated refugees and asylum seekers as international students and did not register their residence status. Refugees could apply, enrol and study based on the same formal criteria as international students. The regular admission process includes an

application with all necessary credentials, such as a university entrance certificate and certificates of the necessary language proficiency. Under specific circumstances, students that have successfully applied for asylum can have access to public financial support, namely interest-free public student loans ( ${}^{\circ}BAf\ddot{o}G^{\circ}$ ). They are also usually freed from tuition fees for international students. The formal classification of refugee students as international students in combination with additional access to domestic student support creates a unique situation for refugee students (Schneider, 2018).

Based on voluntary engagement and the newly available funding schemes, many German HEOs quickly established support for refugee students in and after 2015 (Berg et al., 2021.; Schammann & Younso, 2016; Schröder et al., 2019), making Germany one of the countries with the most advanced support for refugee students (UNESCO, 2018). The offers were well received: Over 14,000 refugees participated in Integra courses in 2016 and 2017 (Fourier, Kracht Araújo, Latsch, Siemens, Schmitz & Grüttner, 2018). While most study preparation courses are closely monitored, no data on residence status is collected once refugees successfully apply at German HEOs. Therefore, no information was or is available about the number of former or current refugee students. Though it is likely that refugees studied at German HEOs before 2015, there was little academic and practical knowledge about their specific situation and ways to support them. Since then, an increasing number of academic studies have looked into the situation of refugee students. National and institutional guidelines for the support of refugee students became available and there is growing practical experience and expertise. One of the central topics of this thesis is how offers for refugee students were initiated, formalised and further developed.

Initially, federal funding was limited until late 2019. When data collection for this dissertation was completed, the applications for the continuation of Integra and Welcome after 2019 were yet to be decided on. The amount of further funding was not yet publicly known. The focus in the call for applications had changed towards supporting access to the labour market and integrating offers for refugee students with those for all international students, which caused some HEOs to plan to restructure their support for refugee students in the case of further funding (Berg, 2021b).

## 1.4 Research on higher education for refugees

When I began this project in 2017, research on higher education for refugees was sparse. Most studies had focussed on primary and secondary education Dryden-Peterson, 2010). The few international publications mostly focussed on challenges for refugees in entering

and obtaining higher education and were usually based on qualitative case studies (Berg, Grüttner, & Schröder, 2018; Ramsay & Baker, 2019). Mainly, international literature addressed cases in the U.K. (Earnest, Joyce, de Mori, Silvani, 2019; Morrice, 2009; 2013), the USA (Hirano, 2011, 2014) and Australia (Brooker & Lawrence, 2012; Harris, Chi, Spark Ceridwen, 2013; Harris, Spark & Watts, 2015; Naidoo, 2015). Only individual papers dealt with the situation in Germany. In comparison to international literature, they rather focussed on the responses of higher education institutions to the then recent refugee influx and provided quantitative (Beigang, von Blumenthal & Lambert, 2018) as well as qualitative (Iwers-Stelljes, Bosse & Heudorfer, 2016; Schammann & Younso, 2016) overviews of early responses at German HEOs. They found a high interest in supporting refugee students, but also a lack of orientation and initial insecurities in dealing with this new target group.

Although most German HEOs did not offer specific support for refugees before 2015, the growing number of asylum applications, the high interest of many newly arriving refugees in higher education and the sudden availability of funding led to a quick development of extensive support programmes for refugees at German HEOs. Since then, along with public interest, the number of academic publications has increased rapidly. The first paper of this dissertation provides a comprehensive overview of recent literature on higher education for refugees.

The impact of the war in Syria and growing numbers of people seeking asylum in neighbouring countries and Europe are reflected in policy reactions and also in the regional focus of academic research on tertiary refugee education: Based on its structural funding and support of the topic, Germany has become one of the most noted (UNESCO, 2018) and is among the most researched countries in this quickly growing research field, along with Canada (Bajwa, Abai, Couto, Kidd, Dibavar & McKenzie, 2019; Villegas & Aberman, 2019) and Australia (Baker & Irwin, 2019; Dunwoodie, Kaukko, Wilkinson, Reimer & Webb, 2020; Lenette, Baker & Hirsch, 2019; White, 2017). Further, support programmes in Turkey (Atesok, Komsuoglu & Ozer, 2019; Erdoğan & Erdoğan, 2018 and Jordan (AbduRazak, Mawdieh, Karam, Yousef Aljaafreh &Al-Azzaw, 2019; Al-Rousan, Fredricks, Chaudhury, Albezreh, Alhokair & Nelsen, 2018; Crea & Sparnon, 2017) have been receiving increased attention.

The majority of international studies on higher education for refugees focus on the situation and experiences of refugee students and their challenges in entering and obtaining higher education. Some of the challenges are similar to those that other international

students with no experience of forced migration face. Others are more specific to the situation of students who were forced to flee to the receiving country (Berg, 2018; Berg et al., 2018). Among typical challenges for refugee students are language proficiency (Shakya, Guruge, Hynie, Akbari, Malik, Htoo, Khogali, Mona, Murtaza & Alley, 2010; Stevenson & Willott, 2007), disrupted educational biographies (Morrice, 2009; Shakya et al., 2010), finances (Schammann & Younso, 2017; Jacqueline Stevenson & Willott, 2007), trauma and psychological distress (Earnest et al., 2010; Shapiro, 2018), the accessibility of reliable information (Bajwa, Couto, Kidd, Dibawar & McKenzie, 2017; Baker, Ramsay, Irwin, Miles, 2017; Stevenson & Willott, 2007) and a lack of role models and community support (Joyce, Earnest, de Mori & Silvagni, 2010; Naidoo, 2015).

A number of challenges arise from the institutional settings refugee students are confronted with when they apply to or enrol in HEOs. Studies show how institutional presumptions (Baker & Irwin, 2019; Berg, 2020), a lack of policies and political support (Luu & Blanco, 2019) and contradictory or mismatching requirements of being part of the asylum as well as higher education systems (Détourbe & Goastellec, 2018; Farrell, Brunton, Costello, Delaney, Brown & Foley, 2020; Klaus, 2020) create structural difficulties for refugees' access to tertiary education.

Additionally, studies look into the support aspiring and enrolled refugee students receive, either by investigating online courses (Reinhardt, Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, Deribo, Happ & Nell-Müller, 2018; Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia et al., 2018) or through conducting case studies of on-site programs (Bacher, Fiorioli, Moosbrugger, Nnebedum, Prandner & Shovakar, 2019; Brown, Chaudhari, Curtis & Schulz, 2018; Kreimer & Boenigk, 2019). Some publications focus on the description and evaluation of policy reactions (Jungblut et al., 2018; Toker, 2019; Unangst, 2019) and institutional support (Bajwa, Abai, Kidd, Akbari-Dibavar & McKenzie, 2018, Bajwa et al. 2017; 2019; Streitwieser, Schmidt, Brück & Gläsener, 2018a; Streitwieser, Loo, Ohorodnik & Jeong, 2019).

While some studies point out institutional challenges and further implications for providing support for refugee students (Schammann & Younso, 2016, 2017), the institutional or organisational settings and responses themselves have rarely been analysed. One exception is an Australian case study by Webb, Dunwoodie, and Wilkinson (2019). They apply a neo-institutional framework in order to investigate shifting equity frames within a scholarship program for refugees and show how "homogenised institutional policies and practices to assess applications construct norms of access and equity, which create new exclusions for forced migrants "(Webb et al., 2019, p. 103). Further, refugees

are sometimes mentioned in the context of the internationalisation of higher education (Streitwieser, 2019), but this is usually done based on conceptual ascriptions, not on investigations of organisational practises or decision making. The papers included in this dissertation address this research gap by focusing on organisational responses to refugee students. They aim to provide insights to organisational motivations to support refugee students, their understanding of this new target group, and the way support structures are created and adapted within German HEOs.

#### 1.5 Theoretical framework

Qualitative research designs mostly do not test but, rather, generate hypotheses. Therefore, they are usually not built on a pre-selected theoretical framework; they either aim to develop a theory or implement a theoretical framework throughout the research process (Flick, 2010). Instead of developing research questions and hypotheses based on a previously selected theoretical perspective, the selection of a theoretical framework for this study was closely connected with the research interest and first insights from the explorative pre-study.

In order to gain initial insights into how refugee students and especially their needs are represented in the field and exactly what support was offered for refugee students, I conducted an explorative pre-study. During the analysis, it became apparent that people in different positions throughout organisational units and hierarchies had provided the impulse for the development of support for refugee students in a decentral manner. Those impulses had resulted in formal support structures. Thus, one resulting follow-up research question regarded the formalisation of such decentral impulses to support structures for refugee students.

Another impression from the pre-study was that support for refugee students was realised in fixed-term projects that would help refugees meet general criteria. Both of those aspects implied that the short-term adjustment of service offers would – at least in most cases – not lead to lasting institutional changes. On the contrary, they rather seemed designed to adjust refugees to organisational expectations. Finally, offers for refugee students seemed to be path-dependently shaped by previously existing offers and ascribed needs of the target group. Those ascribed characteristics seemed to be shaped by the organisational perspective, as they usually referred to whether or how refugees could be supported to meet organisational standards. Further, the description of support for refugee students and especially references to challenges that could not be met by HEO support

structures emphasised the boundaries of responsibility and competence. Based on the assumption that organisational discourses determined offers for refugee students, the second main research interest was the perception of refugees within HEOs. This was divided in two research endeavours: first, the motivations to and expected benefits from supporting them and, second, the interplay of changing organisational discourses and structural support for refugee students at German HEOs.

In order to analyse the formalisation of support structures and individual support programmes as well as the underlying semantics, I decided to apply a systems theoretical framework. Most of the few studies that have looked into higher education for refugees from an organisational theory perspective have used neo-institutionalist approaches (Webb et al., 2019; Beigang, 2021). Thus, using a systems analytical framework adds a different angle to the emerging scholarship on organisational support for refugee students. Systems theory's focus on communicative compatibility allows a structured but flexible analysis of organisational decision making and structure development. While other approaches to institutional theory focus on the impact of the socio-political environment on institutional development (Webb et al, 2019, p. 208) or investigate organisational change (Mahoney & Thelen, 2010; Streeck & Thelen, 2005) the systems theoretical perspective emphasises the limitations of those influences based on the selectiveness of communication between systems and their environment. Understanding the underlying boundaries and expectations of organisational discourse and, subsequently, decision making, creates an opportunity to explain practical challenges such as a lack of representation or the lack of responsible organisational units that Dunwoodie et al. (2020) found in their study on (mis)recognitions of refugee students at Australian universities. Finally, systems theory's focus on organisational decision making and its assumption of flexible changes that stabilise organisational core structures allow the investigation of structural development without the presupposition of organisational change.

### 1.5.1 The systems theoretical framework

In the following, I give an outline of the systems theoretical framework I used for the data analysis. Within the individual papers, specific aspects of Luhmann's systems theory that were crucial for the respective data analysis are presented in more detail.

Luhmann's theory of social systems understands modern societies as *functionally* differentiated in three types of systems: Society is seen as a *social system* that consists of interactive and organisational systems (Luhmann, 1975, p. 10). Each meaningful

interaction between people creates interactive systems (Luhmann, 1975, p. 9). While all systems are based on communication, organisations are mainly focussed on decision making based on specific rules and criteria.

Within society, *functional systems* (*Funktionssysteme*) include all communications regarding specific social functions, such as politics, medicine, education or science. They are sub-systems of the social system and co-exist without hierarchy. Organisations are elementary to functional systems, because they create structures that allow functional operations (Gensicke, 2008, p. 117). Organisational systems, however, are not necessarily part of only one functional system, but can be compatible with several of them. For example, a higher education organisation relates to the educational as well as the scientific functional system but will also have sub-units in relation to the political system.

In this context, *communication* is understood to be the combination of information, utterance and, finally, its understanding (Gensicke, 2008, p. 50; Luhmann, 2018[2011], p. 68). Communicative acts have to be received and understood in order to become meaningful communication. This does not mean that the intended information has to match its understanding, but the understanding depends on the recipient.

Systems consist of all compatible communications regarding one functional area. They reduce complexity by defining what is possible, doable and understandable in this area. This includes all topics, tasks, problems and decisions. The boundaries of a system are defined by possible and meaningful communication, reachability and understandability (Luhmann, 1975, p. 11). That means that social systems are *autopoietic*: They are self-referentially closed and reproduce themselves (Lobato Calleros, Chanlat, Bédard & Ramírez, 2014). Based on functional needs (Luhmann, 1970), systems create regular *structures* of (possible) communications that build generalised *communicative expectations* in order to ensure regularity, stability and durability. Structures become meaningful by reducing the complexity – and thus uncertainty – of the environment and defining a processable set of possibilities (Luhmann, 1075, p. 120).

Functional systems accomplish this through binary codes. In order to be compatible with a system, a communication has to be compatible with this code. Anything that is not part of a social system, and thus not compatible to the systems code, is its *environment*. This includes other systems: Politics and medicine, but also different organisations or departments within one organisation, are environmental to each other based on their communicative expectations. As a result, systems are not compatible with each other and effective inter-system communication — which for each system would mean

communication with its environment – is strongly limited. This is especially true because both systems will understand communications within their own expectations and logics (Gensicke, 2008, p. 67; Luhmann, 1986, p. 33). Because systems limit possibilities and therefore complexity, they are always less complex than their environment (Luhmann, 1970; p. 116; 1975, p. 9). It is important to note that there is not one environment, but, for every system, every communication outside its boundaries is its environment.

Systems constantly observe themselves and their environment. This constant state of *self-observation* and self-reflection allows them to differentiate themselves from their environment, but also to adjust their structures if necessary (Luhmann, 2018[2011]). Each system creates a *self-description*, "the production of a text or a functional equivalent of a text (e.g., indexical expressions such as 'we' or 'here' or a proper name) with which and by which the [system, e.g. the] organization identifies itself" (Luhmann, 2018[2011], p. 347). This self-description serves as organisational memory and "produce[s] the distinction between conformity and deviation, so that the system can let itself be provoked into deviation" (Luhmann 2018[2011], p. 348). Thereby, a system secures the distinction between itself with its expectable and thus acceptable communications and its environment. If a system has sub-systems, they produce their own self-descriptions. Self-descriptions allow a system to know which information it can produce and thus allow autopoiesis (Gilge, 2009, p. 51). Formal versions of such self-descriptions are mission statements of universities as well as their sub-systems, e.g. individual faculties or international offices.

Even though systems are environmental to each other and can only communicate within certain limitations, they are *structurally coupled*: Each system not only observes itself but also its environment. Environmental communications can cause *conflicts* by irritating a system's expectations. This can result in structural adjustments. Thus, systems are at the same time self-referentially closed and open to their environment by structural coupling (Gilge, 2009). Applications of refugee students can be seen as one example of this: As we show in Berg et al. (2021), environmental factors such as the availability of funding schemes, the public expectation of supporting refugee students, and the rising numbers of refugee applications caused HEOs to consider how they could include them. Under other circumstances, applications that do not meet formal criteria and would thus not be compatible to formal expectations would not create a conflict but would be sorted out based on selection criteria. In the case of refugee students, however, we can observe how structural changes result from irritations of regular admission procedures.

Individual members of society are not included in only one system but, rather, are included in a variety of systems. That means one could go to school and attend a class in a school within the educational system, be part of a family (family system), and also be eligible to vote or to receive welfare (political system). Each system has its own requirements and conditions of inclusion and the combination and extent of belonging to different systems can vary individually. As a result, members are part of a system but also part of its environment: The sport clubs of two international offices' members might be the object of the interactional system 'cigarette break', but are environmental to the international offices. This systematic distinction of different sets of memberships to a number of systems that are environmental to each other allows conceptual insights to the situation of refugees students: As I mention in Berg (2018), the participants are aware of challenges for refugees that are not addressable by HEOs. The question of compatibility not only applies to refugees' applications, but also to the possibilities, extent and characteristics of organisational support.

While functional systems tend toward full inclusion of all members of society (Luhmann, 1980, p. 31), organisational systems usually have specific rules of membership and require their members to follow rules of behaviour. Membership has conditions and, within organisations, it is usually attached to a certain role: Refugees apply for the audience roles of students ('Publikumsrollen') (Kühl, 2011, p. 10), while the staff holds different performance roles ('Leistungsrollen') within HEOs. Those performance roles are attached to specific positions with a certain place within organisational hierarchy and a number of tasks and responsibilities (Kühl, 2011).

Individual motivations of members and organisational requirements are independent from each other but can be complementary (Luhmann, 1975, p. 12). In their complexity, organisations have a huge potential for complexity reduction, which allow for the emergence but also the regulation of conflicts in a more complex way than through interactions or within society at large Luhmann, 1975, p. 18). In order to deal with conflicts, organisation members are required to follow certain programmes and hierarchies that frame organisational decision making, which are presented to them as the system's and subsystem's self-description(s).

One way to deal with increasing complexity is to make sure that selective rules, such as communication expectations, are generalisable and thus *transferable*, which means they are applicable to new scenarios (Luhmann, 1970, p. 126). If a certain conflict behaviour becomes normal, organisations can change their self-description, programmes

and structures. This *flexibility* allows innovation and stabilises organisations (Luhmann, 1975, p. 17) as well as structures in general (Luhmann, 1970, p. 120). It does also apply for sub-units or sub-systems within the organisation. In this case, the larger organisational system provides general criteria of transitions and also organises the closer environment of its sub-system (Luhmann, 1975, p. 19), such as other sub-systems or contacts to other organisational systems. Three main formal structures build organisations: decision programmes, communication channels and personnel. These were the main focus of the analysis of the formalisation of support for refugee students presented in one of the papers included in this thesis (Berg et al., 2021).

The main focus of this theoretical framework lies on communication and its compatibility. It can be seen as a rather open theoretical framework in the sense that it does not focus on management, hierarchy, predefined levels, positions or a specific set of organisational tasks, but allows a structured description and analysis of organisational units, tasks, structures and processes and their development. At the same time, it offers a framework to analyse underlying semantics. This allows investigating organisational rationales for and approaches to supporting refugee students as well as the question of how refugee students are perceived and positioned within HEOs.

#### **1.5.2 Key terms**

Based on their different foci, each paper introduces its central concepts in more details. Some terms, however, are crucial for the entire research project. This section introduces those key terms.

**Boundary Position:** To allow systems to meet environmental needs and expectations, information has to be exchanged and specific goals can be negotiated. This is the task of boundary positions (Luhmann 1976): They interact with different organisational subsystems and specific systems outside of the organisation and pass on different communications. First contacts for refugees can be seen as boundary positions, as they are in touch with (prospective) refugee students as well as a number of other positions within their HEO. Thus, they can inform refugee students about the communicative needs of the organisation (e.g. formal application and enrolment criteria) and existing support offers but can also pass on information on the needs of refugee students and coordinate information between other sub-units in order to adapt goal programmes for the inclusion of refugee students.

**First Contact:** At all sampled HEOs, offers for refugee students included one or several first contact positions. First contacts are publicly identified as the go-to contact for refugee students, e.g. on the HEOs' websites. They do not need to literally be the first HEO members with whom refugees have contact but would usually be who refugees are referred to if they contact other positions. The exact tasks and competences of first contact positions often include counselling and the coordination of support offers but vary slightly between different HEOs and are discussed in greater depth in paper 3.

**Higher Education Organisation:** During the pre-study, I had used the more common term 'higher education institutions' (HEIs). However, my further analysis was based on an understanding of universities and universities of applied sciences as organisational systems. Thus, I refer to universities and universities of applied sciences as higher education organisations (HEOs).

Regarding the large variety of analytical and empirical approaches to study institutions and organisations, the terms 'institution' and 'organisation' are multi-facetted and used very differently depending on the research context. Generally, both terms seem to refer to coordinated cooperation. The main difference seems to be that the term 'institution' can be used more broadly and can include rituals, traditions and norms. Institutions can be created intentionally or emerge from (repeated) interactions. In contrast, organisations can be understood as intentionally created structures which aim to coordinate their members actions in order to reach specified objectives (Gukenbiehl, 2006). Understanding universities or universities of applied sciences as higher education institutions would rather emphasise their social task of producing and distributing knowledge (Kehm, 2012). On the other hand, conceptualising them as higher education organisations creates a focus on their internal structures, labour division and processes of decision making. As my research has centred on the formalisation of offers for refugee students and the underlying organisational discourse on refugee students, I proceeded to use the term higher education organisations throughout my main study.

**Refugee Students:** The usage of the term 'refugee' varies in everyday language and also in academic studies. In a legal understanding of the term, a refugee's claim for asylum already would have been accepted. Regarding my interest in discourses on refugee students, my analysis was based on the participants' understanding of the term. They rarely differentiated between asylum seekers and refugees but referred to people with the experience of forced migration as refugees ('Flüchtlinge' or 'Geflüchtete'). In interactions

with counselling positions, the self-identification of refugee students seems determinative. Even though access to some support programmes is regulated based on the students' legal status, this was rather referred to as a practical differentiation and partly dismissed as unnecessary and, most importantly, did not seem to reflect on the interviewees' choice of words. Thus, the term 'refugee' mostly refers to people with the experience of forced migration. Refugee students are either participants in study preparation programmes or already enrolled in higher education.

Semantic and Discourse: Social interaction is based on common boundaries of meaning ('Sinn') that define possible thoughts, knowledge and actions. Semantic sets those boundaries in order to reduce complexity and avoid randomness (Luhmann, 1980). Discourses produce topic-specific meaning and consist of all system-internal communications regarding this topic (Stichweh, 2000). In contrast to poststructuralist discourse analysis, systems theoretical or functional structuralist discourse analysis does not focus on power dynamics or the people producing and shaping discourse; it is mainly concerned with the links between discourse and structures (Keller, 2011).

Organisational discourse on refugee students: I refer to organisational discourse on refugee students as a specialised system of meaning production that represents refugee students within higher education. It consists of all organisational communications regarding refugee students. Empirically, I was interested in how the interviewees understood and positioned refugees within their respective HEOs. Thus, my reconstruction of organisational discourses is mainly based on how the interviewees, as HEO members, perceived refugee students and how they described and assessed organisational policies and regulations.

**Support structures and support programmes:** Support structures include all organisational structures that are part of support for refugee students, such as positions and communication channels. They also include support programmes, which refers to specific offers such as language or academic classes.

#### 1.6 Methods

My investigation of the rationales and organisational contexts that caused and determined the development of support for refugees at German HEOs followed an interpretative research paradigm and thus a qualitative study design (Flick, 2010; Helfferich, 2010; Wahyuni, 2012). The study design included an explorative pre-study and a main study with

two rounds of expert-interviews. Including all research phases, the dissertation is based on 27 expert-interviews with members of nine German HEOs.

#### 1.6.1 Research interest

Interpretative research is based on the ontological presupposition that reality is socially constructed. It focusses on the subjective understanding and conceptual attributes of this reality, usually based on qualitative methods (Goertz & Mahoney, 2012; Wahyuni, 2012). Qualitative sociological research aims to understand the different aspects and complexity of a phenomenon. Therefore, it rather focusses on specifically selected contrasting cases in contrast to similar ones. The idea is to inductively or abductively ascertain from a selection of individual cases the underlying social structures and logics they are shaped by and thus represent (Froschauer & Lueger, 2003). The research process is usually designed as to be open as possible and closely oriented on the logics and realities of the field. This ensures that the entire research process, from the design creation and data collection to data analysis, is as open and object-oriented as possible (Froschauer & Lueger, 2003; Hoffmann-Riem, 1980).

My research focusses on understanding ascriptions and interpretations of actors in certain organisational positions in the field. It follows the assumption that their perception influences and is influenced by how organisational structures are shaped. In this case, their perception interrelates with whether and which support is offered for refugee students. The subjective interpretations of HEO members in formal positions related to refugee students can provide insight into organisational operations and defining rationales. In order to investigate those subjective interpretations, I decided to use a qualitative study design. My initial research interest was whether and how refugees are understood within the context of the internationalisation of German higher education and the presuppositions of support for refugee students. Since little academic research on the needs of and organisational support for refugee students had been done, I conducted an explorative pre-study with a focus on challenges, needs and support for refugee students from the perspective of members of German HEOs (Berg, 2018). Based on my exploratory research, my main study focussed on structural changes, the formalisation and further development of support structures, rationales to support refugees and the understanding of refugees in comparison to international students with no experience of forced migration. Finally, I identified different phases of the development of support structures and discussed them in the context of a third mission of social responsibility.

My aim was to follow the development of support structures at different HEOs throughout Germany. Thus, the design includes a longitudinal study of the development of support for refugees at German HEOs from summer 2017 to early 2020 (Flick, 2010, p. 187). After federal and state-level funding had become available in 2016, the programmes I looked into during the exploratory pre-study were usually in their first or second year. In late 2019 and early 2020, the initial federal funding period for Integra and Welcome had ended and the outcomes of applications for the next period were yet unknown. A similar development could be seen for state-level funded projects. The projects for refugees at the sampled HEOs were either in a phase of applications for a new funding scheme or had just ended. Except for the mere initiation of support for refugees, which could only be discussed retrospectively in the interviews, the timing of the design allowed insights regarding various project phases. It covered perspectives on early orientation and first experiences in 2017. Later, more experienced project members talked about the often adjusted projects in 2018. And finally, the interviews in 2019 and 2020 included either retrospective perspectives on ending projects or insights into a phase of new orientation towards follow-up projects.

### 1.6.2 Expert-interviews

Based on a constructivist understanding of the term, I define 'experts' based on a specific knowledge of and formal position within the field (Bogner, Littig & Menz, 2014). Following Kruse's (2015) approach, there are two specific forms of expert-knowledge: First, practical knowledge, which comes from practical experiences of working in a field. Second, abstract contextual knowledge, which allows for synoptic overviews of the field and is related to strategic positions.

Their formal position gives experts the competence to formally act within and influence or change the investigated structures and settings. In other words, their decisions (co-)construct the research field (Kaiser, 2014, p. 36). My research questions address reasons for and details of the development of support for refugees, as well as the positioning of refugees within German HEOs. They address aspects of strategical as well as practical knowledge of and experiences in the field. Thus, I sampled all interview partners based on their formal position and their practical and synoptic knowledge (Bogner, Littig & Menz, 2002; Kruse, 2015).

In this context, semi-standardised interviews have some advantage over more open interview forms. Following Pfadenhauer's (2009, p. 454) recommendation, I aimed for a

conversation at eye level, while still asking open questions and eliciting explanations instead of short or implicit answers. One important aspect of interviews with experts is time management. Many of my interview partners were worried about the length of the interview when scheduling an appointment. In most cases, the interviews took approximately 45 to 60 minutes, with a few shorter and longer exceptions. Overall, the structure of the guidelines helped me cover important aspects of my research questions, address case-specific details and also allowed for *ad hoc* questions.

Throughout all research phases, the interviewees were informed about research interests and the context of my research and were asked to consent to the recording, transcription and analysis of the interviews.

# 1.6.3 Study design

When I began this study, little was known about higher education for refugees and few international studies had looked into the topic (Berg et al., 2018; Mangan & Winter, 2017; Ramsay & Baker, 2019). Especially the organisational level had rarely been investigated. One of the initial questions that came up while conceptualising this research project was whether and how refugee students differed from other international students or, more importantly, whether and how HEO members differentiated between those two groups. Thus, the research design included an exploratory pre-study that provided first insights into how German HEO members perceive refugee students and the challenges they face in entering and obtaining higher education. Further, the explorative study provided an overview of measures that were taken to support refugee students in overcoming those barriers. In the context of the entire study design, the explorative study offered first insights to a fairly new field of research and allowed for the specification of research questions and the theoretical framework for the main study.

Based on insights from the pre-study and further theoretical consideration, the sample for the main study partly differed from the pre-study. Based on a systems theoretical framework, the main study provided an analysis of the formalisation of support for refugee students at German HEOs and the underlying organisational semantics. In the following, both study phases will be described in more detail, including information regarding the research interest, sampling and analysis.

## Exploratory pre-study

During the exploratory pre-study, I aimed to investigate first experiences with and perspectives on refugee students and (the establishment of) support programmes. Thus, the sample needed to permit investigating different forms of practical and synoptic or strategical knowledge. In order to gain insights to more practical perspectives on organisational contact with refugees, I decided to interview the person that was named as first contact or counsellor for refugees on the HEO's website. Further, I contacted heads of international offices and, in the cases where such a position formally existed, also the vice presidents of internationalisation. As expected, those more strategically oriented positions generally had less or no contact with refugee students but were more closely engaged with the planning and implementation of their HEO's internationalisation strategies. The exploratory pre-study is based on eight expert-interviews and document analysis of mission statements and website information for refugees at five German HEOs, including three universities and two universities of applied sciences. The HEOs were chosen based on their offers for refugee students and their regional distribution across Germany: They are located in four states in different areas of Germany. In contrast, two of them are located in one city and closely cooperated in realising offers for refugee students.

The semi-standardised interview guidelines included questions on the formal position, tasks and contact to refugees. The majority of questions addressed the initiation and realisation of offers for refugee students, including the involvement of volunteers and actors throughout the organisation as well as the interviewees' perception of the needs of refugee students and the potential organisational benefits of supporting them. Further, I asked about the interviewees understanding and the organisational realisation of internationalisation at the respective HEO. Finally, HEO-specific questions about notable particularities in their offers for refugee students, their internationalisation strategy and their mission statement were included. The guidelines were adapted before each interview.

After all interviews were conducted, they were partly transcribed based on the preselected focus of data analysis. A synoptic table was created in order to be able to analyse and compare individual cases. Regarding the interviews, the table included details on the emergence and specifics of offers for refugees including formal attribution of competences within each HEO, the specific needs of refugees, reasons to support and expected benefits from supporting refugees, the understanding of internationalisation and diversification as well as the interviewees' positioning of refugees in that context, and emerging additional topics. For the document analysis, the table included aspects of the benefits and practical implications of internationalisation and related networks. This procedure allowed for a broad overview of topics, interpretations and relevance within the field.

Mainly, the comparative analysis during the pre-study was focussed on if and how members of German HEOs perceive refugees as an individual target group and what measures are taken to support them. The underlying question of whether refugees should be seen as a group of their own has two general implications: First, it is a practical question for further research. If their situation were not different from other international students, it would make more sense to include them in more general research designs. Second, and in this context more importantly, it is a question of differentiations and relevance in the field.

The planning and realisation of the further research was shaped by the emerging aspects, insights from and results of this research phase. For example, the first contact positions turned out to be a crucial part of the developing support structures. Thus, they were not only included as experts during the main study, but their position was also more closely investigated during data analysis (Berg et al., 2021). Further, I decided to use a systems theoretical framework during the pre-study analysis.

### Main study

The closer investigation of the initiation, formalisation and further development of support structures for refugees and underlying interpretations and communications of reality, which are addressed as semantics, was approached in a main study. The main study included a phase of expert-interviews as well as a second phase of follow-up interviews. They were conducted in spring and summer 2018 as well as late 2019 and early 2020. Building on the explorative insights from the pre-study, the main research interests were the formal development of support structures at German HEOs as well as underlying semantics.

In order to investigate the initiation and formalisation of support for refugee students at German HEOs, I cooperated with my colleagues Anja Gottburgsen and Bernd Kleimann. Together, we developed a sampling strategy that I used to extend and partly change the sample compared to the pre-study. As in the pre-study, the case selection was based on a regional cluster of eight HEOs, including four universities and four universities of applied sciences, from seven German states and regions. To provide contrast, the university and university of applied sciences from one city were further included in the sample. The main sampling criterion was the focus of each HEO's mission statement. They were sorted into two categories: first, HEOs that mainly focus on excellent research and

education while prioritising internationalisation and, second, HEOs that focus on equity and inclusion. Since most HEOs address both topics, a stronger emphasis made the difference. For each category, I selected two universities and two universities of applied sciences in consultation with my co-researchers. Since heads of international offices usually provided insights to strategical knowledge and vice presidents for internationalisation were difficult to reach, we decided to focus on heads of international offices and first contacts for refugees. Only those HEOs where both positions could be interviewed were included in the final sample. Three HEOs that were initially sampled for the main study had to be re-sampled. At one of them, I had conducted an interview with the first contact for refugees during the pre-study. The head of the international office seemed interested, but no interview could be scheduled. The other two were newly sampled for the main study. I conducted interviews with three first contacts, but not with the heads of their international offices. Thus, the interviews were not considered during the analysis.

The analysis for different research questions was done separately in individual steps and is described in the respective papers included in this dissertation.

In order to be able to follow the development of support for refugees, in addition to the main study's initial round of expert-interviews conducted in spring and summer 2018, follow-up interviews with first contacts were conducted in late 2019 and early 2020. These occurred at seven HEOs, providing insights into organisational challenges of providing and maintaining support for refugees and plans for further development or first impressions after the end of a project.

### Theory and literature

Qualitative research designs do not primarily aim to test theories. They are usually based on knowledge of the current state of research and literature on the topic and refer to existing theories to explain empirical phenomena (Flick, 2010, pp. 71–80). Unlike linear study designs, which often begin with phrasing theory-based hypotheses, qualitative research design are often circular and apply theoretical and empirical insights to their findings throughout the research process. In this section, I describe the use of research literature and the application of the analytical framework throughout the study design.

As I have mentioned above, I conducted an exploratory pre-study in order to gain first empirical insights to the field. Additionally, I did two structured literature reviews throughout my study. First, my co-researchers and I performed a literature review of international empirical studies on refugees in higher education that were published between

January 1990 and January 2018 in the context of the WeGe-project (Berg et al., 2018). This literature review provided an important overview of topics and findings of the few existing studies, shaped the presuppositions my further research was based on, and supported the identification of research gaps, while the exploratory pre-study helped me to draft specific research questions within those gaps. During the pre-study, I contrasted my findings with insights from literature on the situation of international students in Germany.

During recent years, academic interest in the topic greatly increased and higher education for refugees emerged as a quickly growing research field. In order to keep up with those developments, I did a second structured review of literature on refugees in higher education that was published between 2016 and 2019. This review is included as the first paper of this dissertation. I also used this to finalise my main-study papers and to position my own research within the field. Since each of the research papers I have included in this cumulative dissertation had a different analytical angle and empirical focus, each occupies a slightly different position within the research field. This is represented in their respective literature discussions and conclusions.

Based on empirical insights from the pre-study, I decided to base my analysis on a systems theoretical framework. This overarching framework connects the individual analysis to one research design. However, similar to the changing importance of different findings and aspects of international literature, each of my research questions was connected to different theoretical aspects. The analysis of the formalisation of offers for refugee students is mainly based on systems theoretical contributions to organisational theory (Kühl, 2011; Luhmann, 2018[2011]), while the further analysis of organisational discourses on refugee students refers to Luhmann's (1980) deliberations on semantic as a way to produce boundaries of meaning in a functional differentiated society and Stichweh's (2000) statements on discourses as specialised systems of meaning production. Throughout the research process, empirical and theoretical considerations were closely interrelated. As I have previously described, I decided to apply a systems theoretical framework based on first empirical insights during the analysis of the pre-study data. In preparation for the main study analyses, the interview transcripts were topically pre-coded. The coding categories were deductively oriented around theoretical considerations and included the past and current states as well as expected developments of factors of organisational decision making, namely decision programmes, personnel, communication channels and recourses, which mainly referred to funding. Additionally, perspectives on refugee students were codes. Those deductive categories were inductively complemented with sub-categories and

codes throughout the coding process. This theoretically led pre-coding preceded the analysis for all main study papers. For each of the main study papers, the further analytical steps were based on the theoretical framework, which also determined the main focus of the final interpretation. At the same time, the exact theoretical focus was determined based on the specific research question of each paper.

## Theoretical sampling and transferability

In the previous sections, I explained why I selected experts in specific professional positions. In this section, I describe the theoretical sampling strategy that led to the selection of the specific HEOs that were investigated and discuss the transferability of the results.

In order to look into a variety of cases, this research is based on a theoretical sampling. This means that the cases were selected based on specific criteria and according to their assumed relevance for the research questions (Mey & Mruck, 2009). During the explorative pre-study, the sampling was mainly based on the aim to cover different sociostructural contexts. Thus, HEOs from different German areas and cities of different seizes were selected. In contrast, one university and one university of science from the same city were sampled because they had applied for funding and realised their support for refugee students cooperatively. In order to be sampled, HEOs needed to offer support for refugee students. In order to look into a greater variety of offers, one HEO was added to the sample because it had a strong focus on online education for refugees. All sampled HEOs were public universities or universities of applied sciences. One university of excellence was included in the sample (BMBF, n.y.).

For the main study, HEOs' mission statements were included as an additional sampling criterion. It included two sets. Each set included four HEOs, more specifically two universities and two universities of applied sciences. The first set's mission statements mainly focussed on internationalisation and excellence, the second set's on social responsibility and widening participation. As most HEO's mission statements would fit into both categories, they were selected based on their main emphasis. A practical criterion was that interviews with at least one first contact for refugees and the head of the international office could be realised. At several HEOs, I could only interview the first contact for refugees. They were re-sampled and the interviews were not considered in the comparative analysis.

The final sample included eight public HEOs from cities of different sizes in seven different German areas in the North, South, West and East. Even though this had not been a sampling criterion, all sampled HEOs had received federal and/or state-level funding in order to support refugee students. The number of HEOs that could be investigated was mainly determined based on selecting four HEOs for each set and by the possibility of realising data collection and analysis in the time frame of this dissertation. However, as theoretical sampling should continue until theoretical saturation, it should also be noted that the selected cases seemed to provide a complex overview of minimal and maximum contrasts within the field.

The sample includes universities and universities of applied sciences. Their regional distribution is based on maximum contrast between socio-cultural contexts and German areas, but also one example of minimum contrast between a university and a university of applied sciences from the same city. Especially during the interviews that were conducted in 2017 and 2018, the stories of how support for refugee students was initiated, established and formalised were very similar. Even though most HEOs follow similar funding requirements, their individual realisations of support for refugee students seemed to become more diverse during later programme phases. Thus, the sample can show similarities but also differences in organising support for refugee students. Overall, the sample represents variety (types of HEOs, regional distribution, socio-economic context, specific strategies and realisations of support for refugee students, partly additional internal funding of support programmes), but also similarities (public HEOs, public funding for support programmes, and the contrast-case of cooperating university and university of applied sciences). The variety of cases in this rather small sample does not primarily aim to allow comparative research between specific cases but, rather, aims at extending the range of research. By identifying similarities and case specifics between HEOs in different contexts, the exact impact of those contexts cannot be measured. Nonetheless, the variety of the sample could allow insights into a greater variety of possibilities and, thus, different developments in the field. Therefore, maximum and minimum contrasts are important sampling criteria.

For example, during the interviews in late 2019 and early 2020, the first contacts reported different developments of demand and numbers of refugee students, which they directly linked to the continuation or discontinuation of their programmes. This data does not allow conclusions on the numbers of refugees in different areas, but it shows the importance of demand for the continuation of programmes and allows assumptions and,

potentially, hypotheses on the relevance of numbers of refugees in the area as well as the relevance of contact to the target group and other organisations that could inform refugees about the possibility to study. By including a greater variety of HEOs in the sample, however, it may be less likely to miss fundamentally different developments.

There could be regional or individual specifics or contrasts that were not covered by this sample. It does, however, provide insight into developments and sentiments in the field. It seems fair to assume that it shows dynamics and rationales that could be found throughout Germany's public higher education landscape and allows for developing working hypotheses for further quantitative investigations. For further research and in order to extend insights to the field, it may be interesting to investigate the development at HEOs that did not receive public funding for their programmes for refugees. This could not only affect the initiation but also the continuation of support programmes.

#### Research quality and limitations

When it comes to the quality, or trustworthiness, of qualitative research, different categories have been suggested and discussed in comparison to and distinction from quantitative methods. I will follow four criteria that are broadly referred to throughout the methodological literature (Flick, 2010; Wahyuni, 2012): credibility, transferability, dependability and confirmability.

First, *credibility* is given if the chosen instruments measure what researchers intend to measure and reflects the social phenomenon. It is therefore important to be transparent about case selection and sampling criteria, which I have described above. While my focus on two specific positions within HEOs enabled me to analyse specific perspectives on refugee students, it also has limitations: HEOs are complex organisations with a number of more or less connected, highly professionalised sub-systems. In order to look into the establishment of formalised offers for refugee students, I have focussed my research on two positions that are formally closely connected to either the strategic planning and implementation of internationalisation or the counselling of refugee students as well as coordination of support programmes. In one case, however, an interview with the head of an international office could not be scheduled because the potential interview partner did not see refugees as within the position's responsibility. This shows a potential sample bias based on self-selection: If interview partners that do not perceive refugees to be within the context of the internationalisation of their HEOs do not participate, the result will more likely point towards refugees as international students. This is best addressed with a strong

variety in the sample: The participating heads of international offices' self-description of their tasks covers a range from close engagement to no contact with refugee students, and the interview partners expressed different positions on whether refugees could be seen as international students. In this context, it should also be noted that I only conducted interviews with first contacts during the main study's second wave. On the one hand, this was because my research interest was the development of support for refugees, so I talked to the personnel applying and mostly also managing it. On the other hand, it was a research-related pragmatic decision to focus on one perspective, because scheduling interviews with as many heads of international offices as possible would likely have taken several months. One initial request for a follow-up interview with one head of an international office was immediately forwarded to the HEO's first contact. This only allowed focussing on the projects for refugees themselves; potential questions on strategical development within the context of the organisation had to be dismissed.

Second, *transferability* addresses whether research results could be applied in other contexts. It can mostly be ensured by thoroughly providing relevant information about the context and conditions of qualitative research. In the context of my research, providing thorough case-specific context information holds the risk of de-anonymising the data. This generally must be carefully considered, probably even more so for expert- interviews with people in distinctive positions. I provide an overview of my sample and a brief discussion of the transferability of my results in the previous section. The information, however, needs to remain somewhat vague in order to ensure the anonymity of the participants, which should suffice since my research question does not focus on the specifics of, for example, internal networks.

Qualitative research draws conclusions from individual cases about general underlying social structures. As I have closely looked into a limited number of diverse cases, I can give insights into organisational developments and rationales. Nonetheless, this abstraction also means a loss of information on the exact composition of rationales, motives and organisational structures at each HEO. On the one hand, in-depth case studies could allow a closer investigation of the networks and structures of individual cases. On the other hand, case-based qualitative research is not *per se* generalisable or reproducible. The sampling criteria are meant to provide insights into a large variety of cases, but it cannot be ruled out that other contexts or individual cases might have produced different developments and outcomes or could have shed light on additional aspects.

Third, *dependability* concerns the repeatability of the research design, which I address by providing thorough information about sampling, data collection and theoretical framework. Data analysis is described in the respective papers.

Finally, *confirmability* ensures that the results match the data and that this connection is intersubjectively comprehensible and not based on the researcher's predispositions or perspective. This is often addressed by working in interpretation groups and discussing data and results. I did most of the data analysis alone, with the exception of the analysis of the formalisation of offers for the co-authored paper. In order to increase the confirmability of my research, I presented and discussed the results for the single-authored papers at several conferences, workshops or colloquia. In case of the co-authored paper, data processing and analysis were done in different steps. Each author coded and categorised different interviews in order to increase familiarity with the data. Further, analysis was done in several sessions. Finally, throughout the main study and especially during the second wave, I addressed and discussed central results with practitioners for respondent validation and frequently stayed in touch with other researchers.

#### 1.7 Results

In the following, I will sum up the pre- and main studies' results. They are presented in more detail in the papers that are included in this cumulative dissertation.

# 1.7.1 Explorative pre-study: Challenges and support for refugee students at German HEOs

During the initial planning of my design, I asked myself whether refugees could be understood as a group of their own, distinct from other international students, and what potential differences could be. This differentiation was already given by the field: Structures had been implemented and the topic received increased public attention. Thus, my investigation focussed on the practitioners' perspectives on the specific challenges for refugee students in German higher education. Further, I asked which support was offered for refugee students at each HEO. The pre-study provided an overview of the field and first insights into the perception of refugee students from the perspective of first contacts, heads of international offices<sup>2</sup> and a vice president for internationalisation.

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In the respective paper, I also list 'members of international offices' (Berg, 2018: 221) as participants. This refers to a person that was listed as a first contact on the website but did not formally hold this position, whom I later referred to as one of the first contacts, and a vice-head of an international office, whom I later referred to as one of the heads of an international office during the main study.

Considering the lack of available research at the time, it seemed important to find out more about the specific challenges refugees face. Some studies have looked into those specific challenges from the perspective of refugee students (Grüttner et al., 2018; Schneider, 2018). Investigating a different perspective, I analysed the perspectives of HEO members working with refugee students or in relation to the internationalisation of German higher education. They can be seen as central actors in the field, partly shaping the institutional environment refugee students become involved with and also providing practical and conceptual insights into organisational perspectives. I decided to focus on the challenges for refugee students as they were described by HEO staff and set my results in the context of literature on challenges for international students with no experience of forced migration. Further, I used the study to obtain an overview of the mostly newly developed offers for refugees. Even though the participants showed their awareness of the generally difficult living conditions of refugees in Germany, the interviews as well as HEOs' support structures focussed on challenges directly connected to higher education for refugees (Berg, 2018).

Throughout all interviews, participants described the high motivation of refugee students. This motivation is confronted with various challenges and difficulties. The interview analysis showed that, compared to international students with no experience of forced migration, refugees face a number of similar but also specific challenges. Overall, the experts described hurdles similar to findings in other case studies (Berg et al., 2018; Stevenson & Willott, 2017). The interviewees referred to a number of similar challenges. Their variations arise from the circumstances of migration: Most international students prepare abroad to study in Germany. According to the interviewed HEO practitioners, refugees mostly did not plan to settle in Germany and usually arrive with little to no language proficiency. Thus, in contrast to other international students, they often only begin to learn German around or after their arrival. This is confirmed by a study with newly arriving asylum seekers: Brücker et al. (2016) found that 90% of newly arriving asylum seekers reported that they had no German language proficiency before entering the country. This can be seen an example of a similar but increased challenge in comparison with other international students. Finances are another similar but slightly differing challenge. Some interviewees emphasised that, unlike international students in general and depending on their residence status, some refugees are eligible for national welfare and student support. Ambiguity concerning the responsibility of institutions during study preparation and the

often precarious financial situation of refugees, however, still makes this a crucial challenge (Schammann & Younso, 2017).

Additionally, the interviewees described a number of specific challenges for refugee students that are caused by the circumstances of forced migration and the German asylum system. Among them are missing documents due to forcibly interrupted education or sudden migration, inhibited freedom of movement, and unfavourable living and learning conditions. Also, psychological distress because of experiences before, during and post migration as well as fear for the safety of friends and family remaining in the country of origin was repeatedly mentioned as an important factor throughout the interviews.

In summary, it can be stated that, depending on their individual situation, refugee applicants and students face a specific set of interconnected challenges. This partly leads to an accumulation and the creation of further difficulties that are also described by the study participants: The time refugees need to arrive in the receiving country, deal with pressing issues of the asylum system and basic sustainment, gather crucial and correct information about studying in Germany and then fulfil the formal criteria to apply at HEOs or for study preparation extends the gap in their educational biography and potentially adds financial pressure. Social isolation, which is described as a challenge for all international students, potentially slows the process of language learning even further. Often, as the participants described, alternative obligations related to family, job centres, or the multitude of bureaucratic requirements and appointments concerning their legal status limit the refugees' presence in preparatory courses.

Based on the empirical evidence, it became apparent that the specific challenges for refugees have consequences on different levels: First, language proficiency and the availability of documents are important formal access criteria and crucial to their ability to apply for and access higher education. Second, most challenges concern the living and learning conditions of refugee students. This can be the gap in their educational biography, which can result in a lack of learning routine. It can also be that, depending on their status, asylum seekers and some refugees are not permitted to relocate and are often offered housing in remote areas (Täubig, 2009), which can inhibit access to HEOs as well as their daily learning environment.

Another focus of the pre-study was to provide first insights into which support was offered for refugee students at the sampled HEOs and how it had been initiated. The interview partners described how, after the number of refugee applicants and counselling requests greatly increased, individual actors and offices at HEOs started to support refugees

and developed specific support structures. The document analysis showed that services and support provided by the sampled HEOs usually targeted study preparation and, as became apparent throughout the interviews, were path-dependently built on previously existing structures: All HEOs offered language classes, measures to support social integration and access to Wi-Fi and facilities like libraries. The participants emphasised that it was impossible for HEOs to address all challenges, even if they inhibit access to or performance in study preparation and higher education: Support mostly focussed on formal access criteria and many issues, such as housing or trauma treatment, were considered outside the responsibility and reach of HEOs.

The analysis showed that the realisation of individual offers depended on available structures. An example is psychological support for traumatised people, which is offered by one university that already had an existing programme working on the topic. The main objective seems to be to help refugee students fit regular admission criteria. Thus, it seems fair to state that after a large number of applications did not meet the communication expectations of regular admission, a set of specific support structures were implemented in order to deal with this irritation. This shows the flexibility of HEOs and also how this flexibility is used to obtain stability: HEOs did not change any of their basic structures but added additional structures in order to assist applicants with meeting standards. I have published an overview of the main results of my pre-study in the second paper included in this dissertation (Berg, 2018).

The comparative overview of challenges and support from the perspective of HEO members provided first insights to rationales for supporting refugee students and the newly developing structures. It showed great motivation, but also limits to supporting refugee students. During the pre-study I had decided on using a system theoretical framework in order to determine the compatibility of applicants and HEOs as well as how well offers met the perceived challenges of refugee students. Based on those first results it became apparent that it would make more sense to focus on universities and universities of applied sciences as higher education organisations instead of institutions, because I intended to study structural developments on an organisational level, such as the formalisation of new structures and the interconnection of organisational discourse and decision making.

## 1.7.2 Main study: Initiation, formalisation and development of support for refugee students

After the pre-study had provided a general overview of the field and was used to decide on a theoretical framework, I conducted and analysed further interviews in order to investigate the formalisation of support for refugee students as well as underlying organisational discourses.

#### Formalising organisational responsibility for refugees in German higher education: The case of first contact positions

As a first step, I collaborated with Anja Gottburgsen and Bernd Kleimann<sup>3</sup> in analysing the formalisation of support structures for refugees. The results are presented in the third paper included in this dissertation (Berg et al., 2021). After the numbers of asylum seekers had already been rising for a few years, 2015 and 2016 saw a generally rather unexpected peak, leading to intense public debates on integration and participation. Soon, refugees were discussed as potential highly skilled professionals who might fill a gap in the German labour market (Streitwieser & Brück, 2018). The interview partners described a number of factors that caused HEOs to react to this emerging public discourse on education and labour market integration, as HEOs were expected to support and educate this group. At the same time, many of them received an increasing number of counselling requests and applications from prospective refugee students. Internally, pioneers created awareness and acted to support refugees. This initial action was described as decentral and as having taken place on all hierarchical levels throughout HEOs. Among the examples given were student counsellors who worked extra hours to cover additional requests, student initiatives, e.g. for social inclusion, refugee law clinics where law students provide legal counselling for refugees, and the academic as well as administrative staff and management who sought funds and partly extended existing service structures in order to fit the needs of refugee students. The quick availability of external funding was referred to as a crucial enabler of the initial or further development of formal support structures for refugee applicants and students. First reactions became formalised structures: the interview

32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> My colleagues, Anja Gottburgsen and Bernd Kleimann, participated in creating the guideline I used for most of the main study's first wave's interviews and took part in topically coding them afterwards. Together, we developed a systems theory based analytical framework in order to analyse the formalisation of support structures for refugees at German HEOs in response to the refugee influx and held several interpretative sessions together. Our common analysis resulted in one of the papers included in this dissertation: Berg et al., 2021.

analysis shows that HEOs formally described new tasks and distributed responsibility for them, along with creating and defining new communication channels.

At all sampled HEOs, the formalisation of support for refugee students resulted in path-dependent support structures, mostly realised as a time-limited project for refugees. One central aspect of those structures is the first-contact position which usually is a part of those projects. The responsibilities of this position as they were described during the interviews include the counselling of refugee students and often also the coordination of offers for refugees. They can be seen as so-called boundary positions (Luhmann, 2018[2011], p. 178): They communicate with actors outside and also inside the organisation throughout different organisational units. Thus, they pass on information in a way that fits different recipients: They translate organisational expectations for prospective refugee students and identify and communicate challenges and needs as well as potential solutions to different parts of their organisation.

Throughout our analysis, the importance of personnel for the initiation, realisation and formalisation of structural change became apparent. Not only were all initiatives described to be based on previous engagement of pioneers, but, according to the interviewees, their insistence and motivation increased awareness and established supporting refugee students as an important aspect of HEOs' social responsibility. Further, the analysis showed that the exact realisation of newly formalised support structures depended on the personnel that was hired: At different HEOs, we could observe various communication channels when looking for internal and external networks. The formalisation of support structures usually led to the establishment of new connections, e.g. between international offices and local initiatives supporting refugees, but also between international offices and diversity management within HEOs. We could observe the influence of different hiring strategies: first contacts that had worked at the HEO before usually focussed on internal contacts, while those that had not worked at the HEO before and presumably been hired based on their experience with refugees focussed on extending external networks to other local or regional institutions.

Overall, the position of first contacts can be seen as an example of how HEOs formalise responsibility in the context of a specific challenge. They show flexibility in creating new structures and exploring solutions for a new target group while path-dependently relying on established strategies. However, the implementation of additional structures does not change the core functions or structures of HEOs. Quite the contrary, by supporting refugee students in meeting general criteria, the flexibility of creating additional

structures strengthens regular procedures. The support depends on personal engagement but also is based on mostly external funding. By creating time-limited projects to support refugees, HEOs maintain their flexibility; they explore a newly emerged problem, test a solution and keep the option of ending or adapting newly created structures. Regarding the time limit, the sustainability of support structures for refugee students remains open for further investigation.

### 7.2.2 Expectations, experiences and anticipated outcomes of supporting refugee students in Germany – A systems theoretical analysis of organisational semantics

Considering that HEOs did not collect information on the residence status of their applicants, it seems fair to assume that up to the point of newly established support for refugees, any application from a refugee that did not fit the HEO's formal criteria and did not succeed in the competition for limited study places would have not created any further stimulus than any other non-compatible application; it would have been merely dismissed based on conditional programmes of selection and admission. Similarly, successful refugee applications would not have been specifically noted. The interview analysis shows how internal and external factors led to a new awareness, or, on the organisational level, a new differentiation: Refugees had become a new target group. In order to better understand how refugees are perceived within HEOs, as a second step, my further analysis focussed on a better understanding of the discourse on refugees and rationales to support them. In this context, I also focussed on the initial research interest of whether refugees were understood as part of the internationalisation of higher education. The results are discussed in the attached book chapter and fourth paper of this cumulative dissertation (Berg, 2021a). The participants described a number of expected benefits from and reasons to support refugee students that motivated them, their colleagues and pioneers at their HEOs. First initiatives were often connected to general altruistic motivations. Quickly, the resulting support for refugee students became connected with the rhetoric of either the HEO's or its sub-units' existing documents of self-description, such as mission statements or internationalisation strategies: Participants referred to internationalisation, diversification and social responsibility as reasons to support refugee students. The internationalisation and diversification of the student body, as well as taking on social responsibility and supporting students in need, were pre-existing ideas of a HEO's tasks beyond research and teaching that were then applied to a new target group. Internally, support for refugee students can be seen as a fulfilment of self-description and thus of HEOs' strategies and tasks. This can also be applied externally: Throughout the interviews, support for refugee students was repeatedly described as a social responsibility HEOs must assume. On the one hand, this meant help for students in need. On the other hand, this meant training new experts for the German labour market. Both of those environmental outcomes were understood to be part of the general tasks of HEOs. In a way, the participants' references to social responsibility, internationalisation and diversification, and thus their references to general goals of their respective HEOs, imply that support for refugee students is well embedded in HEOs' general tasks and goals. However, such extensive support for a rather small target group needed justification. Partly, the participants mentioned explicit discussions on why this specific group received that much support. Beyond meeting external and internal expectations and goals, the participants also anticipated benefits for their HEO: They expected a new group of highly motivated students, contributing to a more diverse and international student body and thereby increasing the internationalisation at home. This means that refuges are understood to add to an intercultural experience on campus that is meant to motivate domestic students to go abroad but also to give them the advantage of making international contacts and obtaining intercultural skills at their home university.

Throughout the interviews, participants also emphasised a number of experienced benefits. These included a rise in voluntary student engagement and a new awareness of overly complicated bureaucratic procedures and organisational structures. Finally, they did refer to refugee students as a new group of international and diverse students and welcomed the new insights to their situation as a possibility to learn more about the needs of all international students.

This leads to the next question of the perception of refugee students within the context of the internationalisation of higher education: Even though internationalisation strategies and the expected benefits of an increased internationalisation at home are mentioned as reasons to support refugee students, not all participants would consider refugee students to be international students. Throughout the interviews, refugees were related to different aspects of internationalisation, which emphasises the multiple levels and facets of the process (Knight, 1994). Formally, internationalisation strategies provide the framework of supporting refugees and, in many cases, first contact positions are part of international offices (Schammann & Younso, 2016). Further, the formal classification as international students allows refugee students to access services for all international students. As the interview partners describe, however, the specific situation of refugee

students results in a slightly different set of needs than those of most international students. For example, depending on their legal status and the duration of their stay in Germany, refugee students might be eligible for public student support, which is not usually accessible for international students (Grüttner et al, 2018). Also, in addition to similar challenges such as social isolation and meeting language requirements, as seen in the prestudy, refugees are described as often facing a number of further hurdles, such as previous traumatic experiences, missing documents or a lack of preparation and support. According to the interviewees, this results in the need for additional support and thus formal and informal differentiations from other international students. As mentioned, refugee students are, however, perceived as international students in the sense that they increase the internationalisation at home. Overall, most interview partners argued for integrating refugee students with all international students quickly, which would also include merging support structures, in order to reduce potential stigmatisation.

Due to the quick initiation and formalisation of support structures for refugees, programmes seem to rather be built upon practitioners' expectations of what refugee students might need than on experience with the target group. As the interviews conducted in 2018 showed, most programmes had been adjusted in reaction to experiences with and feedback from refugee students. For example, in some cases, the timing of language classes had been adjusted to accommodate other obligations, such as the timing of obligatory integration courses. This can be seen as an example of the flexibility of organisations: Structures were built on expectations. Some of those expectations had not been met and were thus problematic, which led to adjustments based on experience. In this way, the discourse on refugee students can be understood to change along with expectations, which can result in structural changes. In comparison with the pre-study interviews from 2017, during the interviews in 2018, participants showed more confidence in understanding the needs of refugee students and meeting those needs within the realm of possibilities of their respective HEOs. Instead of insecurity regarding how support would match the needs of the target group, the future of the programmes had become the major concern. Different HEOs were either planning to expand and further adjust, maintain, or end their engagement of refugee students. Thus, I conducted a second wave of main-study interviews in late 2019 and early 2020 in order to analyse the further development of offers for and organisational discourses on refugee students.

# From 'international' to 'refugee' to 'international students': The interplay of discourses on refugee students and the development of support structures at German higher education organisations

In order to analyse the further development of support programmes and organisational discourses on refugee students, the final part of the main study is based on all 25 main-study interviews, including interviews with ten heads of international offices from 2017 and 2018, with eight first contacts from 2017 and 2018, and seven follow-up interviews with first contacts from 2019 and 2020. Paper 5 shows the results of an analysis of the interdependent development of organisational discourses on and offers for refugee students.

As the previous analysis of organisational discourses on refugee students showed, the need to justify the resources that were put into supporting this new target group, and the need to define formal access criteria to newly created support structures, had led to the establishment of refugees as a target group of their own. During the early phases of the support programmes, the interviewees often argued that refugees had specific needs or otherwise differed from other international students and thus had to be seen as a group of their own. In order to quickly integrate them, however, some HEOs took very early actions to integrate refugee students into regular offers for international or all other students as soon as possible.

This general aim of integrating offers for refugee and international students was reflected in the follow-up call for applications of the federal funding scheme: After the first call for the funding period from 2017 and 2019 had specifically asked for projects that would support refugees in preparing for German higher education, the call for the next funding phase added continuous support from study preparation to student support and help with access to the labour market. It also explicitly included the aim to integrate offers for refugees with those for all international students (DAAD, 2016, 2019).

The initial differentiation of refugee students had been needed to establish them as a new target group and to justify specific support. Changing funding conditions and the notion of quicker integration in integrated courses, however, caused a shift in organisational discourses. Refugee students began to be compared to rather than differentiated from international students throughout the interviews: They were considered international students again. In 2019 and 2020, the interviewees rather emphasised similarities between those two groups instead of describing the specific needs of refugee students. This is mainly reflected in three developments: First, the interviewees described

a perceived chronological shift throughout different study phases: While refugee students needed additional support in study preparations, their differentiation from international students should become increasingly obsolete after their enrolment. They might still need support to catch up with academic practices, but the questions and challenges would continue to become more and more similar to those that all international students or even all students face. Secondly, some interview partners feared to socially isolate refugee students and thus set the objective of allowing them to become "regular international students" (U1E3T1, first contact for refugees) as quickly as possible. Finally, as the practice of opening offers for all students or creating integrated offers for international and refugee students proceeded, the formal differentiation of refugee students lost importance, as it already had existed largely to regulate access to specific support structures. HEOs had not begun collecting information on the legal status of their enrolled students, which reduced the formal usefulness of this newly created category to a very narrow spectrum of individual courses.

At the time of the follow-up interviews, six HEOs had applied for funding in order to continue their offers for refugee students. Their plans for the next funding phase reflected the new funding conditions and changing discourse and were oriented around the decreasing importance of the refugee status throughout the study phases.

The data analysis shows that functional needs, organisational discourses and structure development are interrelated and interdependent. Only after the functional need to formally identify and differentiate refugee students became apparent did a related organisational discourse emerge and shape the newly established or extended support structures for refugee students. In the context of changing funding requirements and increased experiences involving refugee students, discourse and structures were adapted to fit changing functional needs.

It seems, therefore, not surprising that throughout the earlier interviews, the main distinction between refugee students and other international students seemed to be based on the specific needs of forced migrants: As the discourse's main functions seemed to be the legitimation of specific offers and identification of appropriate support measures, it is in a way designed to be deficit-oriented. The introduction of a chronological differentiation that intended for refugees in study preparation to become regular students and alumni throughout their education does not overcome this deficit discourse but, rather, seems to aim at supporting refugee students to quickly overcome their specific challenges. In contrast to this deficit orientation, as previously described, the interview partners'

perspectives on support for refugee students also included a number of expected organisational benefits. Thus, the discourse on refugee students could offer the chance to combine debates on and assessments of benefits and needs (Karram, 2013).

#### 1.8 Conclusion

During an explorative preliminary study and a qualitative main study, I analysed 27 expertinterviews with members of nine German HEOs. Additionally, the pre-study included a document analysis of the mission statements and internationalisation strategies of five HEOs. I explored different stages of support programmes for refugee students, with a focus on the reasons HEO members gave for supporting refugee students and the first formalisation of support structures. Further, I discussed support for refugee students in the context of the internationalisation of higher education and showed how existing structures, previous experiences, and discourses and expectations shape and are re-shaped by the development of new structures. From matters of social and academic integration to the question of responsibility for and ways to address the issue of a certain target group, my research encountered questions of compatibility. Its focus on communicative expectations and compatibility thus made systems theory a helpful theoretical framework for analysing the motivations, approaches and limitations of support for refugee students at German HEOs. By emphasising how a certain flexibility stabilises organisations, it also offered a basis from which to understand the project-based creation of support structures within the context of regular organisational operations.

#### 1.8.1 Project phases and their challenges

Based on a final analysis of the follow-up interviews with first contacts that I conducted in 2019 and 2020, I looked into late stages of the initial support projects and reconstructed different phases of programme initiation and development after HEO members had identified the need to act and support refugee students. Each project phase was accompanied by specific challenges. In the book chapter that is the fifth paper included in this dissertation, I describe these project phases and their respective challenges, discuss support for refugees in the context of HEOs' third mission and list possibilities for enabling HEOs' further support for refugee students (Berg, 2021b).

The interviewees described an initial *decentral voluntary engagement* that was based on a large variety of supportive acts throughout different levels of the organisational hierarchy and within different sub-units: Members of international offices and student counsellors worked extended hours to counsel refugees, students initiated social activities

and counselling offers such as refugee law clinics, and management positions such as heads of departments and presidents sought funding for structural support of refugee students.

Existing formal structures were rapidly altered and/or supplemented with additional offers for refugee students: The analysis showed that initial direct action was followed by the *formalisation of offers for refugees* (Berg et al., 2021). This step was based on external and partly internal funding and included the establishment of formerly mentioned first contact positions and offers, primarily those in support of study preparations for refugees (Schammann & Younso, 2016). The interviewees described a number of challenges during that phase and especially emphasised the unavailability of qualified personnel, infrastructural resources such as enough rooms for additional courses, and a general insecurity regarding how to approach the specific challenges of this target group. In the beginning, little or no guidance or experience was available.

When considering those early phases and the reasons given for initiating and formalising support for refugee students at German HEOs, the study participants repeatedly referred to internationalisation and diversification, but also a general social responsibility or a third mission (Berthold, Meyer-Guckel & Rohe, 2010, E3M, 2012; Predazzi, 2012). This third mission refers to an increasing expectation of communication and exchange between HEOs and their environment. Beyond their core tasks of research and teaching, HEOs are expected to respond to social challenges and contribute to social development. This includes taking on social responsibility. The third mission is usually included in HEOs' self-descriptions and mission statements. Generally, the term 'social responsibility' remains vague and can thus be connected to new tasks or target groups, such as, in this case, refugee students, as is shown by the interviewees' references to mission statements that do not specifically mention refugee students. By creating offers for refugee students, vague mission statements are given a concrete meaning: 'There are no self-evident topics or actions of social responsibility, but expectations have to be communicated and prioritized' (Berg, 2021b). Further, the realisation of offers for refugee students that focus on preparing them to be successful applicants and students reinforces and thus stabilises the core tasks of research and teaching, which can be interpreted as an example of the stabilising effect of organisational flexibility (Luhmann, 1975, p. 17).

Later interviews show that, along with the availability of funding and the establishment of programmes for refugee students, information material, workshops and guidelines became available, and regional as well as national networks were established. Based on this input and local experiences with refugee students, the next phase was the

adaptation and stabilisation of offers for refugee students. The interview analysis suggested that initial worries had been replaced by increasing routine. The main challenges during this phase seemed to be personnel changes and worries about further funding of the programmes. Mostly, the time-limited projects meant time-limited contracts for first contacts. As shown by a few cases in the sample where first contact positions needed to be newly staffed, personnel changes often meant re-orientation not only for the new employee but for the entire project.

Up to this point, the development seemed to be fairly similar at all investigated HEOs. The last interviews, however, showed structural changes and the *diversification of further developments of offers for refugee students*. All initial projects had just ended or were about to end. Overall, two developments could be discerned: the application for further funding or the end of specific support for refugee students. In one case, no application for further funding had been submitted and support for refugee students ended with the ceased project funding in late 2019.

In most cases, the project members had applied for further funding. The applications were described as including new outlines for follow-up projects and, thus, further structural changes to offers for refugees. Commonalities included the integration of offers for refugees with offers for all international students, a stronger focus on support throughout refugee students' studies, and labour market access. Additionally, each HEO included path-dependent specific offers, for example, cooperation with local businesses to provide access to internship positions or an increased use of social media to reach the target group. Most of those changes depended on external feedback, e.g. from network partners affiliated with other HEOs and members of the target group, on internal feedback, e.g. from teachers, and on changed requirements for further funding.

During this late project phase, the main challenge that was mentioned among those who had applied for further funding was insecurity because the outcome of those applications was still unknown at the time of the interviews. Further, no data-based assessment of the success of study preparation programmes was possible because no data was collected on the legal status of study applicants. The interview analysis showed that new aspects of support programmes, such as labour market access, were accompanied by new insecurities regarding how to realise them. Those concerns, however, were not yet pressing, because the realisation of potential further support for refugees was yet to be determined based on external funding decisions.

Viewing the initiation, formalisation and further development of support structures for refugee students as separate topics clarifies possible challenges for HEOs that want to offer services for refugees and to find ways to overcome those challenges. First of all, the importance of personnel in recognising the need to act and initiate action and strategies must be emphasised (Webb et al., 2019). In order to establish new structures and formalise this initial action, the availability of funding is crucial. Further, trained experts, information and guidance, and external networks are presented as important factors. Due to their limited scope of action, HEO members emphasise that their support programmes can only address some of the challenges that refugee students face. A number of aspects, such as housing, stressful (learning) environments, mental health, etc. cannot or can only partly be addressed by HEOs, because these aspects are outside their specific tasks and not consistent with their compatible communication. Those factors, however, will likely influence student success. Thus, supporting refugee students is a social task beyond the responsibility of HEOs. Finally, taking on social responsibility should be incentivised for HEOs, e.g. by making it part of university rankings.

#### 1.8.2 Responsiveness and responsibility

In the context of research on forced migration, the need to prioritise the perspectives of asylum seekers and refugees has repeatedly been emphasised (for an overview of different approaches to research with refugees, see Berg et al. 2019a) and many publications primarily focus on analysing the perspectives of refugee students (Grüttner, 2019; Hartley, Baker, Fleay & Burke, 2019; Lenette et al., 2019; R. Student et al., 2017; J. Stevenson & Baker, 2018). Among other factors, their experience and ability to navigate in the receiving country, however, largely depends on organisational contexts. Regarding the welfare system, Schammann (2015) has shown the importance of individual case workers for different realisations of policies. Thus, in addition to understanding refugees' perspectives, it seems important to understand the perspectives of actors who shape those conditions. Looking into the initiation, formalisation and further development of, as well as rationales behind, offers for refugee students provides a better understanding of the motivations and expectations of those actors. In the context of systemic boundaries, those motivations and expectations shape institutional environments. Understanding relevant actors' perspectives on refugee students thus seems crucial in order to analyse challenges and the scopes of actions for refugee students, as well as to identify potential misunderstandings and limitations to organisational support.

Support for refugee students in Germany can be seen as an example of how HEOs respond to timely challenges and social expectations or, in other terms, of their responsiveness and organisational responsibility. "Corporate social responsiveness comprises the processes of issues management, stakeholder management and environmental scanning." (Black, 2006, p. 26). In the case of projects supporting refugee students, external funding schemes and also HEO members can be seen as stakeholders. The interview analysis shows a number of internal and external factors required for HEOs to react. The mere existence of refugee applicants and students did not suffice as a motivator, as refugees studied in Germany before 2015 but were almost entirely unaddressed by any initiatives or specific support structures. The interviewees mentioned a number of motivators accompanying the initiation and formalisation of offers for refugee students: Increased numbers of counselling requests, public interest in the topic, the engagement of HEO members (see Slack, Corlett & Morris (2015) regarding the importance of employee engagement for corporate social responsibility) throughout different sub-units and levels of hierarchy, and the opportunity for external funding resulted in the initiation and quick formalisation of offers for refugee students in the form of timelimited projects, usually including a first contact position (Berg et al., 2021).

In order to support this specific target group, HEOs had to create communicative compatibility. The first phases of decentral engagement and the formalisation of offers depended on re-phrasing the issue of refugee students within the organisations' boundaries, responsibility and competence. First of all, awareness for this specific target group had to be established by creating a formal differentiation from other international students (Berg, 2021a). Generally, legal status is environmental information and not further regarded by HEOs. They still do not collect information on the legal status of their students. On the one hand, this allowed refugee students to apply in the same way as other students. On the other hand, it also had created a blind spot for the specific challenges refugee students face because of their situation. In order to address refugee students within the systemic logic of their HEOs, HEO members needed to identify factors that challenged refugees' applications and study success or, in other words, factors that prevented them from meeting the HEOs' communicative expectations. In this context, it seems little surprising that the discourses surrounding refugee students seem deficit-oriented when their function is to identify needs and potential support strategies (Berg, 2022). Overall, my analysis shows five main points:

First, systemic boundaries limit organisations' scopes of (and interests in) action. Thus, the way they take on social responsibility has certain systemic boundaries: It is limited to assisting them in meeting the expectations of the very organisation that is supporting them by becoming acceptable applicants and successful students. The data shows that realisation of engagement for refugees happened within the context of HEOs' boundaries, using HEO-typical formats, such as courses or specific social events, in order to support refugees' aims to fit HEOs' communicative expectations, such as admission criteria. Even if individual members might be aware of broader issues and challenges for refugees, the support typically remains within those systemic boundaries. This can be seen as an example of how HEOs address their third mission in addition to and closely attuned with their first two missions of research and teaching (Henke, Pasternack, Schmid & Schneider, 2016, p. 14).

For example, all sampled HEOs offered study preparation for refugees. They usually addressed formal access criteria by offering academic and language courses conducted by trained professionals. In addition, offers for social integration usually happened in formats that had previously been established for other international students. These were often at least partly carried out by students. Arguably, aspects such as remote housing, group homes or concern about the safety of relatives and friends can also influence study success. Even though HEO members are aware of a number of additional challenges for refugees, they argue that addressing them would either be outside HEOs' responsibility or their competence. As Dunwoodie et al. (2020) have shown, this can result in practical challenges for refugee students who struggle to identify organisational units that are responsible for their concerns. Another aspect is that new structures do not necessarily cause or imply organisational change but can be used to adapt individual structures in order to stabilise the organisation's core functions in what could be called a flexible conservation of central functions and structures.

Second, successful support for refugee students depends on a number of organisations and actors. Even before funding schemes became available, support for refugee students at the sampled HEOs was initiated by decentral voluntary acts of pioneers. This emphasises the importance of personnel for organisational responsibility. However, even with refugees' best interests in mind, some HEO members described difficulties with other organisations. Many refugees depend on social welfare and, thus, are to some extend depending on their Jobcentre-caseworkers. Some first contacts talked about experiences where attendance in study preparation programmes or applying at their HEO was made

impossible by the decision of Jobcentres that wanted refugees to access the labour market. Also, refugees were described as missing classes in order to attend appointments in relation to their asylum procedure or welfare. In those cases, organisational interests did not match; the political and the education system can have different and partly contrary goals (Détourbe & Goastellec, 2018).

The first two points refer to divided responsibilities and system-specific different ambitions. This emphasises the importance of awareness and support throughout organisations and individual actors. Otherwise, contradictory objectives, rules and requirements of different systems can result in the creation of additional challenges for refugees in obtaining higher education and in other areas of life.

Third, representation matters and makes a difference when it comes to the realisation of support programmes: Due to a lack of experience with and manuals on support for refugee students, the initial offers were based on HEO members' assumptions about the needs and potential of refugee students. The interviewees explained that in some cases support offers did not match refugees' expectations or did not meet their needs. For example, refugees were described as having shown little interest in visiting classes without collecting credits (Schammann & Younso, 2016). Thus, the presumptions and – if possible - support structures partly had to be altered. This learning-by-doing approach seemed to be necessary to ensure quick responses to the increase in refugee applications in 2015 and 2016, and growing experience arguably leads to improved offers. However, it can also result in additional challenges for the students who are part of first experiences. Thus, it seems imperative to further investigate the perspective of refugee students and triangulate expectations and experiences of HEO members and refugee students regarding the need and reality of support for refugee students. This is especially important in the context of the end of the first programmes and the beginning of follow-up projects with a new focus on study success and access to the labour market. It seems important to develop offers in close coordination to the feedback and needs of the target group.

Fourth, the interviews showed that support for a specific group had to be legitimised, which was done by connecting refugee students to existing concepts within organisational self-descriptions: Establishing support structures for refugee students was accompanied by establishing connections to the rhetoric of internationalisation, diversity and social responsibility. This emphasises the importance of generic or vague mission statements and documents of self-description. They can be applied to new target groups and ensure internal 'value-attuned communication' (Black, 2006, p. 31). Thus, they are

among the "systems, policies and procedures to assure social responsiveness (Black, 2006, p. 26).

Fifth, the organisational responsibility for refugee students at the sampled HEOs was attributed to a specific position that was created in order to counsel refugees and manage all offers for them: the first contact position. This boundary position is the communicative junction between internal and external communications and, thus, is responsible for (at least being aware of) all organisational operations that affect refugee students. When the projects end and this position is no longer available, certain offers might still exist, but there is no position that accumulates target group-specific knowledge. Thus, first contact positions can be seen as the key to organisational responsibility for refugee students at German HEOs, because they collect, preserve and provide specific knowledge of the target group and related organisational structures. This is emphasised by one case in which the support project had ended and all refugee-specific structures, including the first contact position, had ended with the project deadline.

In this context, it should also be noted that many HEO members argued for a quick integration of offers for refugee students with offers for all international students in order to prevent stigmatisation. Thus, they welcomed and reinforced plans to integrate support for international and refugee students. In a way, this notion is supported by the analysis of Klaus (2020), who pointed out the constant need for identity management for refugee students. An interesting follow-up question would be how refugee students perceive their position within HEOs and how their self-identification influences their utilisation of support offers for refugee students, international students and all students.

#### 1.8.3 Research desiderata

The results presented in this thesis offer an organisational theory approach to understanding offers for refugee students. They show that offers for refugee students can be seen as an example of organisational responsiveness, decision making and flexibility and indicate a number of follow-up research questions. As previously described, the research presented in this dissertation covers a certain time frame (2017–2020). During that time, extensive external funding had allowed HEOs to create and maintain support structures for refugees. The sustainability, however, of those time-limited projects remains in question, and the results and success of HEOs' initiatives for refugee students are yet to be determined. This could include the question of which factors determine the success of the program from different perspectives: As Young et al. (2017) have shown, the political and educational

systems can have different expectations. In the context of increasingly diverse approaches to supporting refugee students, further research could not only evaluate individual projects but also examine whether and how different strategies of integrating refugee students influence the self-perception, aspiration, integration and academic achievements of refugees in higher education. One example would be investigating whether labelling offers as 'for refugees' or 'for internationals' influences refugees' response. In the context of the Covid-pandemic, questions of successful support programmes have become more urgent. On the one hand, this provides yet another opportunity to study organisational responsibility and individual coping mechanisms. On the other hand, some measures that have been used to support refugee students, such as online courses, are now of interest for wider use. Thus, follow-up research could look into whether and how the experience with refugee students has influenced how HEOs and preparatory colleges have adapted their offers during the Covid-pandemic.

Whether or not current experiences lead to long-term organisational change with refugees as a new target group also remains a question for further investigation. Based on my current results, it seems more likely that it will continue to be a matter of time-limited projects. However, the question remains, if and how HEOs will apply their current experiences for future refugee applicants or potentially other target groups. In other words, the transferability (Adomssent, Godemann & Michelsen, 2007) of current strategies and experiences remains open for investigation. One limitation of my research is a strong focus on international offices with the exception of a few first contacts who were affiliated with different offices. It would be interesting to investigate engagement and the realisation of support and policies throughout different academic and administrative sub-units of the university. It should specifically be noted that student engagement has yet to be explored. In order to examine the compatibility of offers for refugees with their needs, further research with refugee students, as conducted within the WeGe-project, is necessary.

An interesting follow-up question results from the function of the German Academic Exchange Services (DAAD): After the Federal Ministry of Education and Research provided 100 Million Euros for the first Integra funding phase (2017–2019), it mandated the DAAD to administer those funds. Thus, the call for application and further coordination and management of Integra offers was the DAAD's responsibility. In a way, they mediated between the Ministry, a sub-system of the political system, and HEOs, each a sub-system of the education system. Thus, the DAAD could be seen as a boundary organisation or, rather, as an organisation that includes boundary structures. This task does

not define the DAAD in total, but apparently organisations can be in the situation of needing to mediate or translate communications between other organisations that would otherwise not be able to understand each other. If entire organisations, sub-organisations or structures were primarily created for the purpose of such inter-system translations, it might be interesting to expand the concept of boundary positions and apply it not only to positions, but also to sub-units, and also on a larger scale.

Another interesting aspect concerns the division of HEOs into academia, administration and students. Research on HEOs has often focussed on the first two. Further organisational research could focus more on the interrelation between HEOs and their students. Also, topics like support for refugee students need coordination throughout different academic, administrative and partly also student organisational sub-units. This could be an interesting opportunity to investigate internal support structures. Finally, further research could further investigate the processes and factors of organisational decisions related to the exact realisation and potential continuation of support for refugee students as an example of organisational decision making (Begičević, Divjak & Hunjak, 2010; Calleros et al., 2014).

## 2 Refugees in higher education: An integrative literature review of recent themes, methodologies and omissions

Jana Berg

#### **Abstract**

During recent years, the number of publications on higher education for refugees increased heavily, forming a dynamic new research field. This integrative review discusses 103 journal articles, book chapters, and monographs that were published between 2016 and 2019. It aims to provide a comprehensive overview of recent topics, trends, and results in this newly emerging field. First, this paper gives an overview of the methodology of research with and on refugee students. Further, it shows rationales to support refugee students and sums up challenges for refugees and asylum seekers in entering and obtaining higher education as well as institutional contexts as they are discussed throughout the literature. Finally, the review discusses changes and trends of the emerging field of higher education for refugees and identifies open research questions. It seems advisable to increase the diversity of theoretical and methodological approaches, including more comparative, multi-perspective, and multi-level studies.

#### **Keywords**

Higher Education for Refugees, Literature Review, Integrative Review, Equity and Inclusion, Refugee Students

#### 2.1 Introduction

The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) is reporting "the highest levels of displacement on record" (UNHCR, 2019a) of 70.8 million displaced people worldwide, including 25.9 million refugees and estimates that only about 3% of refugees are enrolled in tertiary education. Notably, this estimation changed from 1% in 2019 based on various factors, including the success of funding programmes (UNHCR, 2019b). Even though the right to education is a Human Right and the importance of refugee education has been widely acknowledged (UNESCO, 2018; United Nations, 2019), social engagement, as well as academic studies, used to almost exclusively focus on early childhood, primary, and secondary education (Dryden-Peterson, 2010).

Before 2016, studies on tertiary education for refugees were sparse and usually based on "primarily exploratory, qualitative investigations with (sometimes very) small case numbers" (Berg et al., 2018, p. 82). Along with growing social interest and newly developing initiatives to support (prospective) refugee students, a growing body of academic literature has been investigating aspects of higher education for refugees. Probably due to the availability of only very few previously published studies, and partly also close connections to individual support programmes for refugee students, many studies had similar foci on the experiences of refugee students, access and transition challenges, as well as case studies of institutional support. Nonetheless, the quickly growing body of literature also led to a greater variety of methodological and theoretical approaches, new research questions, and partly new regional foci.

Previous literature reviews have looked into research on higher education for refugees until early 2018 (Berg et al., 2018; Mangan & Winter, 2017; Ramsay & Baker, 2019; Reinhardt, 2018), but this integrative review (Torraco, 2005, 2016) seeks to provide both a comprehensive overview of the main topics, findings, and trends of recent developments and a discussion of open questions in this quickly emerging field. It, therefore, sets a focus on academic literature on higher education for refugees that has been published between January 2016 and December 2019. It can be read as an orientation to understand the current trends of an emerging research-field and provides suggestions and implications for further research.

First, I describe the methodology and methods this review is based on (2) and proceed to give a general overview of central topics I found in the literature (3): the methodology of research with refugee students (3.2), rationales and reasons to support them (3.3), challenges for refugee students (3.4), and institutional contexts (3.5). Finally, I discuss the reviewed literature and develop a research agenda for further studies on higher education for refugees (4).

Regarding the terminology, refugee and asylum seeker are terms that are used in various ways and with different connotations in everyday language and academic studies. Both terms cover a broad variety of living situations in diverse personal, structural and national contexts (McBrien, 2005). In this review, I describe the findings of studies and conceptual papers with different definitions of those terms. Refugees and asylum seekers were either identified based on their legal status (Mupenzi, 2018) or their self-identification (Sheikh, Koc, & Anderson, 2019). The studies that define refugee students based on their migration experience usually do not discuss the specifics of different legal statuses or

outcomes of asylum applications. Throughout this review, I generally refer to 'refugee students', meaning students in higher education or preparatory programmes with the experience of forced international migration. In this context, asylum seekers are refugees who are waiting for the outcome of their asylum application. Thus, this term gives an additional information about their legal status. Throughout this review, I only refer to asylum seekers when they have been specifically mentioned in the discussed publications.

#### 2.2 Methods

Informed by literature on the methodology of systematic reviews, this paper provides an integrative review (Torraco, 2005, 2016) of current literature on higher education for refugees. Considering the quickly growing body of literature on the topic since 2016, the narrow time frame is meant to survey recent developments, existing studies, main trends, topics, and results in this newly growing field, followed by a discussion of research gaps and a synthesis of open research questions and methodical implications. The following leading questions structured the search and review process:

- How has the field of research on higher education for refugees changed along with growing public and academic interest?
- What are central topics, results and yet unaddressed research questions?
- How can further research build on and advance refugee and higher education studies?

During the last four years, I have been part of an empirical research project on the situation of refugee students in HEI and study preparation institutions in Germany. In order to address different research questions regarding the experiences of refugee students and organisational responses to their needs, my co-researchers and I conducted interviews and a focus group with refugee students, interviews with practitioners in counselling, administration, managerial and teaching positions and did a quantitative panel-study of international students with and without the experience of forced migration in German study preparation. My experiences with the field and resulting impressions of international studies on the topic did motivate this review.

#### 2.2.1 Literature research and selection criteria

The literature discussed in this review was searched and selected through several steps. The first step was to conduct a database search in May 2019. In addition to the large interdisciplinary database Scopus, and the social science database GESIS, databases with an educational focus were searched: the Educational Resources Information Center

(ERIC), Education Source and peDOCS. Based on combinations of English and German keywords like "refugee students", "refugee", "higher education", "study preparation", "Studium", "Geflüchtete", the search was focussed on peer-reviewed articles that had been published in or after 2016. Table 1 provides an overview of all keyword combinations. The decision to search English and German keywords was mainly based on the assumption that most international publications would be in English. Thus, it could be expected that English keywords would cover an extensive part of international scholarship. Further, first results showed that the three main regional foci of international research on higher education for refugees were English- and German-speaking countries (Australia, Germany and the USA). Therefore, the search was extended to the German databases GESIS and peDOCS and German keywords were included.

**Table 1:** *Search Keywords* 

	Keyword Combination	18
Refugee(s)	&	Higher education
Forced migration		Tertiary education
Asylum seeker(s)		Postsecondary education
Refugee student(s)		College
		Preparatory colleges
		Preparatory classes
		Preparatory courses
		College preparation
		Study preparation
Geflüchtete	&	Studium
Flüchtlinge		Hochschule
Asylsuchende		Studienvorbereitung
		Vorbereitungskurse
		Studienkollegs
		Hochschulzugang

Thus, the final selection was partly determined by institutional or free access to databases and papers. Another aspect was the limitation to English and German keywords. Even though it seems fair to assume that English keywords provide a broad overview of the field considering the lack of publications from e.g. South American contexts, it would make sense for further investigations to add keywords in different languages. In this case, my language skills prevented further extension of the included languages. Some journals ask authors to provide additional English keywords for publications in other languages. Thus,

it could have been possible to find articles in other languages. However, I did not exclude any search results based on their language.

The second step was to conduct a similar search through additional databases, including Academia.edu, Google Scholar, and ResearchGate. Due to filter settings, this search was not limited to peer-reviewed articles, but it could be assumed that the search could provide additional results. In total, the first two steps produced 1,154 results. Further, I included additional papers and chapters based on my experience with the field and references in the reviewed papers. During the writing process, I continued to update the search and to include literature that was newly published until December of 2019. A final database search was conducted in January 2020.

After student assistants had listed all results and sorted out doubles, I carefully went through the research results and excluded research on other, at the most tangentially related, topics. This exemplarily concerned papers on the political mindset of teenagers (Abs & Hahn-Laudenberg, 2017), on a variety of migration-related topics such as religion (Hansen, Jackson & Ryder, 2018), attitudes towards immigrants (Adamczyk, 2016), research methodology (Kaukko et al., 2017) and finally a large amount of studies on healthcare and mental health (e.g. Salami, Salma & Hegadoren, 2019), with the exception of studies with a focus on mental health or wellbeing in connection to higher education . I excluded all work on early childhood and school education (Massing, 2018) and on other forms of adult education (Käpplinger, 2018). Finally, I excluded literature reviews on higher education for refugees (Berg et al., 2018; Mangan & Winter, 2017; Ramsay & Baker, 2019; Reinhardt, 2018).

In order to follow general developments as comprehensively as possible (Steward, 2004, p. 496), I included empirical studies, as well as conceptual and descriptive publications. I followed Denney and Tewksbury's (2013) suggestion that the "two most appropriate sources are academic journal articles and academic books" (p. 227). It should be noted that policy documents, policy briefs, and blog posts often include evidence-based insights and project reports include research that will later be published in journals or books. However, in order to narrow down the pool of papers, I focussed on work that had been published in journals or in books that had been released by a publisher<sup>4</sup>.

policy and institutional responses in several European countries.

54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>, I would, however, like to mention the following project reports that provide interesting insights into the topic: Fourier et al. (2017; 2018) provide statistical overviews of federally funded study preparation projects for refugees in Germany. Also focusing on Germany, Beigang, von Blumenthal, & Lambert (2018) have conducted a quantitative analysis of the responsiveness of German higher education institutions after the influx of refugee applications in 2015 and 2016. Finally, Yildiz (2019) provides a collection of chapters on

For papers to be included in this review, they had to meet the following selection criteria: a) They had been published in an academic journal (including journals that target practitioners) or they appeared in an edited volume or as a monograph with a publisher. b) They had to focus on study preparations or higher education for refugees and asylum seekers. In order to be as comprehensive as possible, this category was meant to be broad and included all papers with a higher education focus. This selection was based on the publications' abstracts. Finally, as no funding was available, I needed to c) be able to access to full paper. I used [two libraries] and contacted the authors of inaccessible papers directly.

Finally, 103 journal articles, chapters, and books were accessible and thus included in this review. They will henceforth be referred to as 'papers'. *Table 2* provides an overview of the reviewed literature. Additionally, all reviewed papers are marked with an asterisk in the reference list.

**Table 2:** Overview of Reviewed Literature

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
Abamosa, J. Y.; Torbjørnsen Hilt, L. & Westrheim, K.	2019	Norway	Policy Analysis, Social Inclusion
Abdo, D. & Craven, K:	2018	USA	Every Campus a Refugee Program; Resettlement
Abdurazak, L. F.; Mawdieh, R. S.; Karam, A. A.; Aljaafreh, A. Y. & Al-Azzaw, M. E	2019	Jordan	Refugee Camp, Challenges
Akbasli, S. & Mavi, D.	2019	Turkey	Challenges
Al-Rousan, T.; Fredricks, K.; Chaudhury, S.; Albezreh, S.; Alhokair, A. & Nelson, B. D.	2018	Jordan	Well-Being, Peacebuilding

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
Anderson, T.	2019	Canada	Media representation, International and Refugee Students
Atesok, Z.O.; Komsuogly, A. & Ozer, Y.Y.	2019	Turkey	Access challenges, Institutional policies and practices
Avery, H. & Said, S.	2017	Lebanon	Radicalisation, Peacebuilding, Socioeconomic Development
Bacher, J.; Fiorioli, E.; Moosbrugger, R.; Nnebedum, C.; Prandner, D. & Shovakara, N.	2019	Austria	Program Evaluation, Integration Theories, MORE initiative
Bajwa, J. K.; Couto, S.; Kidd, S.;  Markoulakis, R.; Abai, M. &  McKenzie, K.	2017	Canada	Challenges, Experiences and Expectations
Bajwa, J.K.; Abai, M.; Kidd, S.; Couto, S.; Dibavar, A. & McKenzie, K.	2018	Canada	Intersectional Challenges, Development of Support Structures
Bajwa, J.K.; Abai, M.; Couto, S.; Kidd, S.; Dibavar, A. & McKenzie, K.	2019	Canada	Psychological Capital, Life Satisfaction
Baker, S.; Ramsay, G.; Irwin, E. & Miles, L.	2017	Australia	Support, Counselling, Inclusivity

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
Baker, S.; Irwin, E. & Freeman, H.	2019	Australia	Challenges, Time, Temporarilty, Timescpaes
Baker, S. & Irwin, E.	2019	Australia	HE Transition Challenges, Institutional Expectations, Stuck Places
Baker, S.; Irwin, E.; Taiwo, M.; Singh, S.; Gower, S.; Dantas, J.	2019	n/a (Methodological Paper)	Methodology
Bellino, M.J. & Hure, M.	2018	Kenya	Refugee Camp, Developing Support Structures
Berg, J.	2018	Germany	Intersectional Challenges, Development of Support Structures
Berg, J.; Grüttner, M. & Schröder, S.	2019a	n/a (Methodological Paper)	Methodology, Framework for Methodological Approaches
Berg, J.; Grüttner, M. & Schröder, S.	2019b	n/a (Methodological Paper)	Interviews with Refugee Students, Methodology and Methods of Research with Refugees

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
Berg, J., Schröder, S. & Grüttner, M.	2019	Germany	Study Preparation
Bouchara, A.	2019	Germany	Challenges, Social Networks
Brown, B.G.; Chaudhari, L.S.; Curtis, E.K. & Schulz, L.	2018	India	Refugee Camp, Global Service-Learning, Development of Support Structures
Brown, S.; Saint, M. & Russell, C.	2017	Ruanda	Refugee Camp, Information and Communication Network
Brunton, J.; Brown, M.; Costello, E.; Farrell, O. & Mahon, C.	2017	n/a (Online education)	Online Education, MOOCs, Digital Readiness Tools
Crea, T. M.	2016	Malawi, Kenya and Jordan	Refugee Camp, Development, International Education
Crea, T. M. & Sparnon, N.	2017	Malawi, Kenya and Jordan/ Online Education	Refugee Camp, Digital Capital, Distant Education
Dahya, N. & Dryden-Peterson, S.	2017	Kenya, Nairobi, Canada	Refugee Camp, Online Social Networks, Gender
Détourbe, MA. & Goastellec, G.	2018	Germany and England	Social stratification, Access to Higher

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
			Education, High Participation Systems
Dunwoodie, K.; Kaukko, M.; Wilkinson, J.; Reimer, K. & Webb, S.	2020	Australia	Competing discourses on needs of refugee students, Recognition
Erdogan A. & Erdogan, M.M.	2018	Turkey	Adaptation, Academic and Social Profile, Challenges, Potential
Ergin, H.	2016	Turkey	Perspective of Turkish Students on Refugee Students
Ertong Attar, G. & Küçükşen, D.	2019	Turkey	Prejudice, Belonging
Fleay, C.; Mumtaz, G.; Vakili, M.; Hartley, L.; Offord, B.; Macfarlane, C. & Sayer, R.	2019	Australia	Enabling Access, Collective Approach
Fook, J.	2017	n/a (Conceptual Paper)	Conceptional Paper, Equity
Grüttner, M.; Schröder, S.; Berg, J.; Otto, C.	2018	Germany	Agency, Capabilities, Aspirations, Challenges, Support
Grüttner, M.	2019	Germany	Social Exclusion and Inclusion, Psychological Wellbeing, Belonging, Resilience, Study Preparation

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
Halkic, B. & Arnold, P.	2019	n/a (Online education)	Online Education, MOOC, Challenges, Support
Hartley, L.; Baker, S.; Fleay, C. & Burke, R.	2019	Australia	Access experiences, Challenges, Support Implications
Harvey, A. & Mallman, M.	2019	Australia	Cultural Capital, Student Diversity, Equity
Hirsch, A. & Maylea, C.	2016	Australia	Access Challanges, Asylum Policy
Iwers-Stelljes, T.; Bosse, E. & Heudorfer, A.	2016	Germany	Development of Support Structures, Organisational Development
Jack, O.; Chase, E. & Warwick, I.	2019	UK	Psychological Well- Being, Health- Promoting Universities
Jungblut, J.; Vukasovic, M. & Steinhardt, I.	2018	Germany and Belgium	Access, Policy
Karipek, Y.Z.	2017	Turkey	Acculturation, Integration, Challenges
Klaus, S.	2020	Germany	Refugee and Student Identitiy, Ambivalent Biographical Constructs

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
Kong, EH.; Harmsworth, S.; Rajaeian, M.M.; Parkes, G.; Bishop, S.; AlMansouri, B. & Lawrence, J.	2016	Australia	University Transition Challenges, Equity
Kong, EH.; Lim, KC. & Yu, S.	2019	South Korea	Nursing Students, Challenges, Policy Implications
Kontowski, D. & Leitsberger, M.	2018	Poland and Austria	Hospitality, Support, Institutional Readiness, Capabilities and Public Role
Kreimer, A. & Boenigk, S.	2019	Germany	Cross-Sector Support, Access
Lee, M.W.; Han, MS. & Hyun, E.R.	2016	South Korea	Language Practices, Neoliberalism
Lee, R.	2018	USA	Education effect of parents' Visa-Categories
Lenette, C.	2016	Australia	Conceptual, Rationales to support refugee students
Lenette, C.; Baker, S. & Hirsch, A.	2019	Australia	Systemic Policy Barriers, Neoliberal Settlement, Language Policies, Challenges

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
Luu, D. H. & Blanco, G. L.	2019	USA	Federal Policy Discourse, Access
Marcu, S.	2018	Spain	Challenges, Institutional Support, Education for Sustainability
Maringe, F.; Ojo, E. & Chiramba, O.	2017	South Africa	Policy-Practice Disjunctures,higher educationPolicy Framework
Molla, T.	2019	Australia	Challenges, Resilience
Muñoz, J. C.; Colucci, E. & Smidt, H.	2018	n/a (Online education)	Online Education, Open Education, Learning Purposes
Mupenzi, A.	2018	Australia	Educational resilience, Experiences
Naylor, R.; Terry, L.; Rizzo, A.; Nguyen, N. & Mifsud, N.	2019	Australia	Structural Inequality
Nayton, C.; Meek, G. & Foletta, R.	2019	Australia	NGO-Pracitioner Perspective, Language Education, Lifelong Learning
R Student.; Kendall, K. & Day, L.	2017	UK	Collaborative Auto- Ethnography
Park, E.S.	2019	South Korea	Language Requirenments,

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
			Language Learning, Support Programs
Perry, K. H. & Mallozzi, C. A.	2017	USA	Worldview, Discourse Analysis
Phan, T.A.	2018	USA	Implications for Support at Community Colleges
Rasheed, R.A. & Munoz, A.	2016	Iraq	Peacebuilding, Peace- Education
Reimer, K.; Kaukko, M.; Dunwoodie, K.; Wilkinson, J. & Webb, S.	2019	n/a (Methodological Paper)	Methodology, Head, Heart, Hands and Feet Approach
Reinhardt, F.; Zlatkin- Troitschanskaia, O.; Deribo, T.; Happ, R. & Nell-Müller, S.	2018	n/a (Online education)	Online Education, MOOCs, Integration Approaches, Diversity
Rowe, N.; Martin, R.; Knox, S. & Mabingo, A.	2016	USA	Academic Acculturation, Inclusion, Citizenship
Schammann, H. & Younso, C.	2017	Germany	Development of Support Structures, Challenges
Schammann, H. & Younso, C.	2016	Germany	Emerging Institutional Support for Refugee Students in Germany, Implications

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
Schneider, L.	2018	Germany	Access, Aspirations, Challenges
Schröder, S., Grüttner, M. & Berg, J.	2019	Germany	Study Preparation, Access, Life-Wide (Language) Learning, Interpretative Patterns
Shapiro, S.	2018	USA	Familial Capital, Agency, Support, College Transitions
Sheikh, M.; Koc, Y. & Anderson, J.R.	2019	Australia	Access barriers, challenges
Sheridan, V.	2016	USA	1956 Revolution, Support and Surveillance, Access tohigher educationin the 1950s, Historical
Sontag, K.	2018	Switzerland	Access
Sontag, K.	2019	Germany, France, and Switzerland	Access, Challenges, Highly Skilled Refugees
Steinhilber, A.	2019	Jordan	Evaluation of psychosocial support, Scholarship Programme
Stevenson, J. and Baker, S.	2018	UK and Australia	Discourse, Challenges, Support, Practice

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
Streitwieser, B.	2019	n/a (Conceptual Paper)	Conceptual, Internationalisation, International Student Mobility
Streitwieser, B.; Miller-Idriss, C. & deWit, H.	2017	Europe	Challenges, Support, Responses, Internationalisation
Streitwieser, B.; Brueck, L.; Moody, R. & Taylor, M.	2017	Germany	Potential, Challenges, Support
Streitwieser, B. & Brück, L.	2018	Germany	Cultural, Political and Economic Dynamics, Support, Motivations
Streitwieser, B.; Loo, B.; Ohorodnik, M. & Jeong, J.	2019	Europe and North America	Integration, Support, Policies
Streitwieser, B.; Schmidt, M.A.; Brück, L. & Gläsener, K.M.	2018	Germany	Support
Streitwieser, B.; Schmidt, M.A.; Gläsener, K.M. & Brück, L.	2018	Germany	Challenges, Support
Tamrat, W. & Habtemariam, S.D.	2019	Ethiopia	Challenges, Private Education
Theuerl, M.	2016	Germany	Transcultural Space, Support
Toker, H.	2019	Norway	Acknowledgement of foreign  Documents,higher educationPolicies

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
Tuliao, M.D.; Hatch, D.K. & Torraco, R.J.	2017	USA	Culturally-Responsive Instruction, Community Colleges, Support
Tzoraki, O.	2019	Greece	Responses, Support
Unangst, L, & Streitwieser, B.	2018	Germany	Inclusive Practices, Support Structures, Support Rationales
Unangst, L.	2019	Germany	Policy Implications
Unger-Ullmann, D.	2017	Austria	Language Learning, Support
Vickers, M.; McCarthy, F. & Zammit, K.	2017	Australia	Peer-Mentoring, Intercultural Understanding, Support
Villegas, P.E. and Aberman, T.	2019	Canada	Access Challenges, Racialisation, Precarious Status
Vue, R.	2019	USA	Challenges, Trauma, Resilience, Pedagogies of Remembrance
Webb, S.; Dunwoodie, K. & Wilkinson, J.	2019	Australia	Equity Frames, Organisational Theory, Support
White, J.	2017	Australia	Conceptional, Educational Exclusion, National Identity

Author(s)	Year	Country of Research	Themes
Witthaus, G.	2018	Germany	Online Education, MOOCS, Community of Inquiry, Developmental Evaluation
Yesufu, L. & Alajlani, S.	2019	Jordan	Social Innovation, Zaatari Refugee Camp
Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, O.; Happ, R.; Nell-Müller, S.; Deribo, T.; Reinhardt, F. & Toepper, M.	2018	n/a (Online education)	Online Education, MOOCs, Study Success

#### **2.2.2 Review**

After the literature-selection, all papers were summarised in order to provide a first overview of the material. This step was crucially supported by a group of students as well as a fellow researcher in the field. The summaries were done using a template I prepared with sections for the topic, research question, localisation, relevance, methods, theoretical framework, and central findings of each paper. All summaries contain brief notes and selected quotations for all applicable sections. They provided a first overview and orientation for further steps. The next step was to familiarise myself with all the papers and to create a synoptic table to sort them according to their topics, methods, sample, and regional focus. This "descriptive evaluation of each study" (Wright, Brand, Dunn, & Spindler, 2007, p. 26) allowed for a generalised description and comparison of the literature under review. Instead of applying a conceptual framework to add a new angle to an established field of study, I decided to survey the main characteristics and issues of this newly emerging field in order to identify implications for further research. The topics and central results that are presented in this review had not been pre-selected, but their identification was grounded on reviewing the discussed papers. Throughout the review process, I discussed the papers' results and quality with students and fellow researchers.

#### 2.3 Results

# 2.3.1 Descriptive overview

In order to provide an overview of recent literature on higher education for refugees, all included papers were sorted into descriptive categories, including their publication date, the localisation of the study, empirical method, sample, and main topics. *Table 3* provides an overview of publication dates, which shows that there has been a notable increase in international publications since 2016.

 Table 3: Number of Publications per Year

Year of Publication	Number of Publications
2016	12
2017	19
2018	28
2019	43
2020 (available online in 2019)	2

A comparison to previous literature reviews emphasises this impression: Ramsay and Baker's (2019) discussion of 46 papers that were published between 1999 and early 2018 included 30 papers that had been published between 1999 and 2015, and 16 after that. Berg et al. (2018) reviewed 34 empirical studies that had been published between 1990 and early 2018. Seventeen of them had been published between 1990 and 2015, and 17 more after that.

When describing the relevance of the topic, many papers refer to recent developments such as the globally increasing number of displaced people, refugees, and asylum seekers (R Student, Kendall, & Day, 2017), especially after the war in Syria, and also to an increase in asylum seekers and refugees with high educational aspirations. It can

only be assumed that this might also have led to the availability of new research funds and greater interest in the topic by journal editors and book publishers.

International research before 2016 mostly focussed on English-speaking countries, primarily Australia, Canada, the UK, and the USA (Berg et al., 2018). *Table 4* provides an overview of the regional foci of the papers that are discussed in this review:

Table 4: Regional Foci

Country	Number of Publications
Germany	21
Australia	19
USA	10
Turkey	6
Canada	5
Jordan	4
Norway	2
South Korea	3
UK	2
Austria	2
Ethiopia	1
Greece	1

Country	Number of Publications
India	1
Kenya	1
Lebanon	1
Ruanda	1
South Africa	1
Spain	1
Switzerland	1
Multiple Countries	11 (5 of them multiple European countries)

While Australia and the USA are still among the three countries with the most academic inquiry and output on higher education for refugees, the general regional focus has shifted. Before 2016, hardly any research had been conducted on the situation of refugees in Germany, for example. This has rapidly changed, now making Germany the object of the most country-specific studies in this review. This development seems to be closely related to the war in Syria, which caused a significant influx of new asylum applications in Germany and the country's rapid development of structural funding for refugees. Parallel to that development, publication numbers indicate an increase of academic interest in refugee education in neighbouring countries to Syria, including Turkey and Jordan, and European multi-country studies.

Mainly, the reviewed publications focus on Europe, Australia, and North America (Canada and the USA). A few papers, however, also take Asian and African countries into account. Strikingly, the search produced no papers investigating the situation of refugee

students in either South or Central American countries. It must also be noted that surely the regional focus of studies is influenced by the limitation of using only English and German keywords for my search. Of all included publications, eight were published in the German language. Two of them are methodological, while five focus on Germany and one on Austria.

Of all 104 papers included in this integrative review, 80 present results of empirical studies. Of those, the large majority conducted qualitative studies (59). Ten studies used mixed methods, and nine were based on quantitative or standardised research designs. Often, the studies presented relatively small samples or case studies of individual support programmes, including very small quantitative sample sizes. The commonness of qualitative and small-sample studies could have various reasons. First, considering the rather small body of previous research, it stands to reason that research projects either focus on or start with explorative studies to gather first empirical evidence of the field. Second, programmes for refugee students are often HEO-specific and not part of a coordinated national or even supra-national approach. Thus, even if all participants of a specific programme are included, the sample size might still be limited. Third, identifying and reaching the target group outside of specific support programmes poses serious difficulties. Finally, little quantitative information is available for further analysis, because refugees are usually neither identifiable in survey-studies, nor do HEOs provide specific information on them. As Streitwieser and Brück (2018) have pointed for the German context, no data is collected on the legal status of enrolled students.

I was unable to classify the methods of two empirical studies as qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods due to their contradictory or partial methods sections. Seven papers are categorised as conceptual, which I understand as drawing on or developing a theoretical framework to discuss the topic (Callahan, 2010). Further, seven papers are categorised as desk research. They provided policy overviews or project-descriptions with no mentioning or description of methods. Another seven papers presented descriptions and discussions of individual support programmes. Finally, four papers introduced methodological implications or frameworks for research on and with refugee students.

The leading topics of most papers I reviewed were the situation and experiences of refugee students as well as institutional contexts with a strong focus on challenges and support for (prospective) refugee students. They will be presented in more detail in the next sections. Eight of the papers discussed higher education in refugee camps, and six papers focussed on online education. Finally, it should be noted that most of the research has taken

the perspective of refugees and asylum seekers into account. Of the 80 empirical studies, 60 either solely focussed on (38) or included the perspective of or data on asylum seekers and refugees in a mixed sample (22). This can be related to refugee studies' strong demand to take first-hand experiences into account (Berg, Grüttner, Schröder, 2019a).

### 2.3.2 The methodology of research with refugee students

A majority of the empirical studies have investigated the perspectives and experiences of (prospective) refugee students. They are based on different approaches to research with refugees. Four publications specifically focussed on the methodology of research with refugee students (Baker, Irwin, Taiwo, Singh, Gower, & Dantas, 2019; Berg, Grüttner, & Schröder, 2019a, 2019b; Reimer, Kaukko, Dunwoodie, Wilkinson, & Webb, 2019). Among them is Berg et al.s' (2019a) introduction of a classification of empirical approaches. Based on a review of methodological literature, the authors distinguished ethical, emancipatory-participative, and research-pragmatic approaches. Following this framework, this section gives a brief overview of methodological approaches to research with refugee students. It should be mentioned that the conceptual framework is based on how the target group is reflected, and what outcomes and benefits are expected from the research project. Thus, research-pragmatic approaches are not to be understood as unethical, but differ in the way how empirical decisions are made – or rather, how they are described in their method sections.

First, *ethical approaches* emphasize the potential vulnerability of and aim to protect them from any harm that could result from the research process (Berg et al., 2019b, p. 3). Reimer et al. (2019) stated that "[r]esearchers have raised numerous aspects unique to participants from refugee and asylum seeking backgrounds that must be noted when designing and conducting research" (p. 195). In order to do that, researchers must carefully consider "how, at the very least, to do no harm with this particular group of participants" (Reimer et al., 2019, p. 193). On the one hand, this includes awareness of and strategies to not reinforce experienced trauma (Bajwa, et al., 2018, p. 116), and on the other hand, it means increased awareness for "[p]ower dynamics and status hierarchies" (Baker et al., 2019a, p. 17). Such research can give refugees the space to share their experiences, tell their own stories and develop their own position (Hartley et al., 2019, p. 6; Mupenzi, 2018, p. 131).

The first step toward ethical research with refugees is to follow procedural ethics, which were indeed acknowledged to offer a certain basic guideline (Reimer et al., 2019,

p. 195). However, they were also criticised as an additional bureaucratic procedure that can lead to researchers focussing more on writing a report that will fit the committee's expectations than on carefully considering their research practices (Stevenson & Baker, 2018, 114f.). In case the formal procedure is not well-attuned with the specific target group, blindly following it could even lead to increased ethical issues (Reimer et al., 2019, p. 196), as Baker et al. (2019a) have shown for the example of parental consent. In their study, due to the need for parental consent forms, "an undue burden was placed on high school students who were required to explain, and sometimes translate documents, before parents could sign them." (Baker et al., 2019a, p. 18). Therefore, they argued that it was important to not only follow the logic of ethical guidelines but to interpret and apply them practically based on target group reflection as well as empathy (Reimer et al., 2019) throughout the entire research process (Baker et al., 2019a). Beyond the instructions of procedural ethics, a lack of attention for and awareness of the participants is imperative. This includes the reflection of their potential needs, but also the consideration of possible risks that could emerge for them. Otherwise, inattentive researchers risk to reproduce social exclusion and/ or repressive structures.

Second, *emancipatory-participative approaches* have a similar perception of their target group but aim to actively include them in the development and conduct of research (Berg et al., 2019b, p. 3). Research designs in this category take measures to include refugees throughout several stages of the research process, beyond merely data collection. This can mean the selection of research topics and foci (R. Student et al., 2017) or offering co-authorship after cooperation throughout the research-process (Baker et al., 2017, 5f.). Participatory research thus depends on the interest and availability of members of the target group to participate extensively. Furthermore, the application of a critical lens, and sufficient resources, including adequate funding and time, are crucial factors for the realisation of participatory research projects. Finally, inequalities between researchers and participants, for example regarding their compensation or their scopes of action, and inequalities within the target group that can lead to unbalanced representations or even exclusions, need to be carefully considered (Berg et al., 2019b, p. 4).

Reimer et al. (2019) emphasised the importance of an activist approach while conducting research with refugees: researchers should "identify what needs to be done to move forward and promote human well-being" (p. 200). Generally, ethical approaches would more likely do that by creating awareness and voicing policy implications, which many of the reviewed studies do. In comparison, the objectives of emancipatory-

participative approaches include a direct beneficial influence on members of the target group. This can mean that researchers support their participants individually or create offers for a number of members of their target group.

Third, research-pragmatic approaches mainly reflect on their target group in order to find answers for methodological and methodical questions that might result for their study design (Berg et al., 2019a, 2019b). Examples from the reviewed studies include the consideration of language barriers (Berg et al., 2019b; Hirsch & Maylea, 2016), traumarelated difficulties in responding to research-questions (Akbasli & Mavi, 2019, p. 5), and cultural implications (Crea, 2016, p. 14). Even though the topics are similar to ethical considerations, research-pragmatic approaches mainly consider them in relation to their practical implications: they focus on possible consequences of the target group's characteristics for the research project. Ethical approaches, on the other hand, rather consider the research project's consequences for their target group.

### 2.3.3 The relevance of support for refugee students

"Academia, like freedom, is indivisible. It is enriched by diversity, and so long as some are excluded, all are restricted. How citizenship in the academic space is perceived and experienced is, therefore, a complex and urgent political concern" (Rowe, Martin, Knox, & Mabingo, 2016, p. 68).

Many authors advocated that there is a moral and social obligation to provide higher education opportunities for refugees (Abamosa, Hilt, & Westrheim, 2019, p. 13; Lenette, 2016) and referred to education as a Human Right (Naylor, Terry, Rizzo, Nguyen, & Mifsud, 2019). Referring to political, institutional, and individual motivations to support refugee students and their own understanding of the relevance of the topic, the reviewed papers expected a number of benefits from providing this support on the social and institutional level, as well as for individual refugees.

On a social level, higher education was a crucial enabler for the integration of refugees (Marcu, 2018, p. 18). Further, Rasheed & Munoz referred to it as a method of "peacebuilding" (2016, p. 172), and Avery & Said (2017) argued that it helped preventing radicalisation. In the long term, educated refugees were understood to be important actors "to support their communities in exile and contribute to the future development of their home countries" (Avery & Said, 2017, p. 107). Another notable aspect related to social integration is labour market participation, which was repeatedly emphasised as an important outcome of higher education (Abamosa et al., 2019, p. 4; Marcu, 2018, p. 2;

Tuliao, Hatch, & Torraco, 2017, p. 23). "Successful higher education outcomes [are expected to] increase refugees' potential to contribute to a country's socio-economic advancement and can thus prevent further marginalisation" (Lenette, 2016, p. 2). The strong political, institutional, and academic focus on labour market outcomes was criticised to "sideline the social justice and human potential aspects regarding the social inclusion of refugees into higher education" (Abamosa et al., 2019, 2) and "undermines other important settlement outcomes including social integration, trauma recovery, and understanding the sociocultural context" (Lenette et al., 2019, p. 95).

On an institutional level, refugees were sometimes understood to support HEIs' internationalisation (Abamosa et al., 2019; Berg, 2018; Streitwieser, 2019) and enrich their cultural diversity (Theuerl, 2016, p. 178; Unger-Ullmann, 2017, p. 5). This effect was described as beneficial for domestic students, especially those who are acting as mentors (Vickers, McCarthy, & Zammit, 2017, p. 198). Investigating the anticipated and experienced benefits of supporting refugee students might on the one hand allow a perspective that is less deficit-oriented than most investigations of challenges for refugee students. However, on the other hand, the criticism of a labour market focus that is mentioned above could also apply to a focus on benefits for domestic students. In closer orientation on the needs of refugee students, newly implemented support programmes were understood to provide a chance for HEIs to "re-assess the ways in which students can engage and how they can give value to the skills brought by the prospective students" (Sontag, 2018, p. 542).

On an individual level, higher education was described to empower refugees (Crea, 2016, p. 19) and support their sense of belonging as well as their psychological wellbeing (Al-Rousan et al., 2018; Bajwa et al., 2019; Grüttner, 2019) and self-esteem (Bajwa et al., 2018, p. 120) and as a way to help them overcome trauma (Maringe, Ojo, & Chiramba, 2017). Finally, participation in higher education programmes can be seen as "an act of resistance itself" (Villegas & Aberman, 2019, p. 79), in order to overcome and defy stereotypes and negative ascriptions (Harvey & Mallman, 2019, 663f.).

The studies that investigated the perspective of refugee students found them to be highly motivated to participate in higher education. They were often described as expecting the improvement of their situation (Schneider, 2018) and to see higher education as a facilitator for positive individual development as well as a chance to socially participate and give back to their communities (Crea, 2016, p. 19) or repay the support they received in their host country (Hirsch & Maylea, 2016, p. 23). Bellino and Hure (2018, p. 48)

described a higher education programme within a refugee camp, which was built based on the initiative and active participation of refugees. They found refugees to desire to be a role model, to support younger generations, and to facilitate hope. On the one hand, refugees' expectations for higher education were described to help them integrate into and participate in the new country (Kong, Harmsworth, Rajaeian, Parkes, Bishop, AlMansouri, & Lawrence, 2016, p. 192; Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, Happ, Nell-Müller, Deribo, Reinhardt, & Toepper, 2018, p. 170); among other factors based on the benefits of language skills and higher education degrees in the labour market (Crea & Sparnon, 2017, p. 12; Park, 2019, p. 10). On the other hand, Karipek (2017) mentioned motivations among Syrian students to return and rebuild their home country while "bring[ing] back a range of knowledge and experience" (p. 127).

Overall, scholars understood higher education to potentially "yield better settlement outcomes for refugees to increase social cohesion and, more importantly, help redress some of the personal and social disadvantages and the detrimental public discourse" (Lenette, 2016, p. 2). Higher education could create hope and can be the "foundation of building a new life in the host country" (Grüttner et al., 2018, p. 117). By providing trustful environments and spaces for exchange (Villegas & Aberman, 2019, p. 77) and thereby "humanising" (Fleay, Abbas, Mumtaz, Vakili, Nasrullah, Hartley, Offord et al., 2019, p. 187) refugees, successful projects could support refugees in building agency, developing critical thinking, and reflecting on their own position, thereby counteracting social exclusion and marginalisation (Avery & Said, 2017; Bajwa et al., 2018; Fleay et al., 2019; Lenette, 2016). This was done in most exemplary fashion by previous refugee students who act as role models in their communities (Lenette, 2016).

# 2.3.4 Challenges for refugee students

Among the main research interests of the reviewed studies were the numerous challenges refugees face in accessing and obtaining higher education. Some of those challenges are similar to those most international students must deal with; others are specifically increased or added by the circumstances of the migration of refugee students (Berg, 2018). In this section, I give an overview of those multifaceted and often interrelated challenges (Atesok et al., 2019, p. 133; Kong et al., 2016, p. 190; Sontag, 2019, p. 76).

The main challenges that were identified throughout the papers included language proficiency, the accessibility of information, finances (AbduRazak et al., 2019, p. 176; Baker et al., 2017; Sheikh et al., 2019, p. 15), housing in stressful environments and/or

remote areas (Akbasli & Mavi, 2019; Schammann & Younso, 2017, p. 13), and issues of mental health. Further, family obligations (Perry & Mallozzi, 2017, p. 511), social isolation, discrimination, acculturation in a new learning environment, legal issues, and disrupted educational biographies, as well as impeding institutional settings, were described to inhibit refugees' access to and success in higher education. Some authors also argued that cultural differences slowed down, and cultural similarities to host countries could increase, social and academic integration (Karipek, 2017, p. 125; Tamrat & Habtemariam, 2019, p. 134). In this context, gendered expectations can cause additional hurdles, especially for women (Crea & Sparnon, 2017, p. 17; Perry & Mallozzi, 2017, p. 496).

One of the central challenges that was identified throughout the papers is missing linguistic capital, which usually refers to expert knowledge of the English language and the receiving country's main language. A lack of documented language proficiency results in formal difficulties in accessing study preparation as well as higher education programmes (Grüttner et al., 2018; Unangst & Streitwieser, 2018). Further, familiarity with the *lingua franca* and its cultural implications is an important facilitator of successful participation in higher education and, prospectively, the labour market (Akbasli & Mavi, 2019, p. 10; Park, 2019). Harvey and Mallman (2019) argued that even though multilingualism could be considered a strength, they rather found it to increase family obligations such as necessary translations. The participants in their study at Australian universities did not view their multilingualism as a strength at university and were also discriminated against based on their foreign accents.

Several challenges relate to the mental health and wellbeing of refugee students. They derive from pre- as well as post-migration phases (Jack, Chase, & Warwick, 2019, p. 62) as well as unclear prospects (Crea, 2016, p. 19) and can exemplarily result in a lack of stability, increased vulnerability, and inhibited academic performance (Erdoğan & Erdoğan, 2018, p. 275; Sheikh et al., 2019, 9; 14). Mental health issues and the various and time-consuming challenges inhibiting quick integration and participation in their host countries were described to create a feeling of lost time (Baker, Irwin, & Freeman, 2019b, p. 11), which could thus frustrate and potentially demoralise refugee. Further, the experience of non-acknowledgement of previous knowledge and education (Baker & Irwin, 2019; Jack et al., 2019; Sheikh et al., 2019) on the one hand and social isolation and discrimination on the other hand (Harvey & Mallman, 2019; Molla, 2019; Villegas & Aberman, 2019) can cause feelings of low self-esteem (Park, 2019, p. 7; Tamrat &

Habtemariam, 2019, p. 134). Based on quantitative survey data, Grüttner (2019) has shown that:

"mechanisms of social exclusion can hamper learning and study preparation success and thereby threaten the academic careers of international students and integration strategies of refugee students. Personal resources of resilience like resilient coping can strengthen feelings of belonging against the backdrop of perceived xenophobia" (p. 42).

Finally, institutional settings add to refugees' challenges in entering and obtaining higher education in four ways:

First, challenges in entering and obtaining higher education are enhanced by unclear or missing higher education policy for refugees. This places the responsibility on individual institutions (Villegas & Aberman, 2019, p. 73) and creates a confusing variety of individual approaches. Further, in some cases, refugee policies were "focused primarily on workforce development and career training, rather than on the academic track of post-secondary education" (Luu & Blanco, 2019, p. 9). Brown, Saint, & Russel (2017) have argued that "[s]ome host governments may resist the idea of educating refugee learners when their own population also needs higher education opportunities" (p. 9), which hints at a broader question of competition over resources and support.

Second, repressive asylum policies and the multi-sector entanglement of, for example, higher education, welfare, legal, and asylum policies create challenges for refugees because "these areas need to be taken into account simultaneously, but what is more challenging is that they are often not well in tune with one another" (Schammann & Younso, 2017; Sontag, 2019, p. 72). Klaus (2020) noted that this creates a situation in which refugee students are forced to create a self-description as individually highly motivated and achieving – and thus as different from 'other' refugees.

Based on her study of how migrants' visa categories influence their children's education in the USA, Lee's (2018) study exemplarily has shown that visa categories can even have a further impact on the academic careers of second-generation migrants. Thus, Lee argued that "entry visas and selection by immigration policy act as forms of stratification" (p. 1579). Formal and legal challenges largely depend on the specifics of host countries and individual status (AbduRazak et al., 2019, p. 176; Atesok et al., 2019, p. 132). For Germany, Schammann and Younso (2017) described status-dependent issues such as inhibited mobility, issues with obtaining obligatory social insurances that students

have to hold before applying for higher education, or inhibited access to basic German courses for asylum seekers that are not (yet) granted refugee protection. Even though they could technically apply for higher education, those circumstances practically prevent asylum seekers from being able to do so. In the case of Australia, White (2017, p. 10) criticised that asylum seekers and refugees are purposefully disadvantaged and actively kept in a state of uncertainty about their legal status. This includes preventing them from developing the necessary skills, for example, by "deliberately limiting their exposure to English language (i.e., denying opportunities to attain proficiency)" (Lenette et al., 2019, p. 88). White (2017) stated that this could be seen "as a mechanism for making Australia less attractive to prospective refugees" (p. 7).

Third, refugees face challenges to meet formal access criteria when they decide to apply for higher education (Grüttner et al., 2018; Klaus, 2020, p. 29). The main issues in this context are meeting the language requirements (Unangst & Streitwieser, 2018) and the acknowledgement of previous education and formal access certificates in general, but specifically in cases where documents are missing or education has been interrupted (Berg, 2018). As Schröder, Grüttner, & Berg (2019, p. 79) have shown for the case of study preparation courses in Germany, interpretations of formal selection criteria and their outcomes are respectively transformed to fit higher education's meritocratic self-description. This self-description is challenged by remaining inequalities in higher education, or as White (2017) puts it: "The egalitarian myth doesn't apply to Aboriginal Australians, the Chinese on goldfields, or women and a long shadow of institutionalised racism was cast" (p. 3).

Finally, the unawareness or ignorance of HEIs toward refugees can result in unfitting institutional contexts. This includes the "[a]voidance of the notion of refugees" (Maringe et al., 2017, p. 6) and the "[a]bsence of a culture of care and support [in an] academic environment [that] is built around notions of the survival of the fittest" (ibid.). Institutional rules and regulations of university transition are based on assumptions about students, their cultural capital, and language proficiency (Park, 2019, p. 8), as well as their aspirations, linear life courses, and knowledge about academic practices and education systems (Baker & Irwin, 2019; Stevenson & Baker, 2018, 96f.). An example is HEIs' internationalisation policies, which were not created with refugee students in mind (Webb et al., 2019). The result is an institutional environment that does not consider and therefore does not or cannot adequately address the background, experiences, and needs of refugee students. The lack of considering refugees in educational policies and appropriate training

of HEI members might even result in the creation of additional challenges, such as admission offices unnecessarily considering legal status because of their own legal insecurity (Schammann & Younso, 2017) or misunderstood legal statuses (Villegas & Aberman, 2019, p. 75). Repeatedly, authors have argued that refugees experience difficulties in obtaining important information about available services (Jack et al., 2019, p. 62), but also about the higher education system in general (Atesok et al., 2019, 124f.; Berg, 2018), partly because the way information is communicated did not fit the needs of refugee students (Baker et al., 2017). Based on their study of a support programme in Canada, Bajwa, et al. (2017) found:

"that many survivors of torture and/or war face challenges in accessing appropriate professional supports and information to navigate educational pathways, and to make informed decisions about what type of post-secondary programs or career training to pursue. Given such a lack of resources, refugees often rely on word-of-mouth information, which may not always be trustworthy. Their dilemma is further complicated by the fact that refugees have diverse and unique informational needs, as their immigration statuses, prior credentials, and experiences, and specific financial situations all affect the type of information they require to pursue educational goals" (p. 62).

Baker and Irwin (2019) have criticised that the knowledge and experience of refugee students are not recognised as a strength, but they are expected to fit institutional expectations of the academy. This adds on to the challenges of navigating within a new educational setting, including new teaching and learning styles (Sheikh et al., 2019; Bouchara, 2019, p. 64; Tamrat & Habtemariam, 2019). For the case of North Korean students in South Korea, Park (2019) described how "they were not equipped with the knowledge and skills that South Korean students take for granted" (p. 8).

#### 2.3.5 Institutional contexts

This section gives an overview of challenges institutions face when trying to support refugee students and of instruments of support that are used in programmes for refugees.

Challenges for Institutions. Even though research with members of HEIs, including students and staff, has found a generally robust motivation to support refugees, HEIs themselves face structural challenges when trying to provide such support. They often lack trained staff and have difficulties finding enough specialists (Maringe et al., 2017), such as

competent language teachers, instructors with intercultural training (Crea & Sparnon, 2017), or qualified providers of psychological support (Steinhilber, 2019), in order to address the complex needs of this diverse target group (Schröder et al., 2019, p. 72). Additionally, some papers described faculty members' insecurities about how to address refugees and simply to deal with practical questions (Schammann & Younso, 2017, p. 12). Those insecurities include the validity of documents (Toker, 2019) and adequate ways to address refugees. As Lenette (2016) commented about the case of Australia: "There are a number of initiatives aiming to facilitate refugees' access to university; however, there are no clear frameworks to assess the extent of, let alone address, the specific needs of refugee students" (p. 1).

This lack of frameworks and information can lead to misjudgements of the prospective target group or the provision of suitable support. As Unger-Ullmann (2017) has stated about an Austrian university, the aim of accepting a number of young prospective refugee students could not be met, because in most of the universities' language classes, participants were older than 20, and 58% were between 25 and 40 years old (p. 3). Other studies found high dropout rates (Kreimer & Boenigk, 2019) or little interest in programmes that did not include official degrees (Crea & Sparnon, 2017, p. 15; Schammann & Younso, 2017). Further, identifying refugee students can be an issue. That is the case in Germany, where data protection laws prevent HEIs from registering the legal status of their students after enrolment (Unangst, 2019).

The lack of information and guidelines is closely linked to the political framework and availability of policy solutions. Considering the situation in the USA, Luu and Blanco have stated that "[t]he perspective on refugees espoused by the Trump Administration is symptomatic of a larger discourse that vilifies and dehumanises refugees" (Luu & Blanco, 2019, p. 4). Political discourses and policy frameworks are of great importance to HEIs that aim to support refugee students because they determine the availability of official guidelines, the existence or absence of target group-specific policies (Abamosa et al., 2019, 4), and policy solutions or suggestions, for topics such as how to deal with the acknowledgement of documents and – last but not least – public funding. Especially public and non-profit HEIs have difficulty in fully funding their programmes, which makes public funding then such a crucial factor (Nayton, Meek, & Foletta, 2019).

However, HEIs have put together various offers for refugees. The next section will give an overview of different approaches and activities to support refugee students.

Instruments of Support. Depending on the national context, there are often various and sometimes complex pathways for refugees into higher education (for the case of Germany, see Schröder et al., 2019). Some refugees might be able to apply for it directly, but many also need "further preparation or additional support" (Villegas & Aberman, 2019, p. 77). There are various international and national initiatives that aim to prepare and support refugee students (Stevenson & Baker, 2018, 103f.; Streitwieser et al., 2019, p. 489), including the activities of preparatory colleges (Schröder et al., 2019) or NGOs (Nayton et al., 2019). This section gives an overview of different instruments of support. It should be mentioned that many of the initiatives are newly developing and have been described as constantly changing based on growing experience and evaluations (Iwers-Stelljes et al., 2016; Webb et al., 2019).

Most programmes and initiatives described in the literature provide offers that aim to support prospective refugee students in developing skills that are considered necessary in higher education, such as the primary language of the receiving country (Fleay et al., 2019; Lenette et al., 2019; Nayton et al., 2019; Schammann & Younso, 2017). A notable case is Park's (2019) description of language classes for North Korean refugees in South Korea. Even though they share their native language, refugees often need to heavily increase their English skills due to the importance of this second language in the South Korean education system and labour market. Further offers include academic propaedeutics, such as math courses and the training of software skills (Tzoraki, 2019, p. 8). In some cases, offers are solely available to refugees. In others, they are included in existing offers for international students, which is often positively discussed as a way of supporting, but not isolating, refugees (Grüttner et al., 2018; Unger-Ullmann, 2017).

In many cases, individual institutions decide on the eligibility of the applicant due to the documents they have provided. In order to simplify the process of validating foreign documents, several procedures have been tried or suggested. In the USA and Canada, for example, there are efforts by institutions to provide evaluations of credentials, such as that by the organisation World Education Services (Streitwieser et al., 2019). In Europe, on the other hand, there is the ongoing development of a "European Qualifications Passport" (Toker, 2019), which would provide a European-wide suggestion on the eligibility of an applicant's documents. Some countries, such as Norway (Toker, 2019), have also created national policy-frameworks.

Also very common are offers for social integration. In some cases, they are described to be "customized to the specific needs and requirements of refugees"

(Streitwieser & Brück, 2018, p. 45). In other cases, previously existing offers were opened for refugee students. Mentoring and exchange with domestic and other international students are understood to be beneficial for all participants: In order to prepare their members, HEIs can also focus on "training the trainers" (Tzoraki 2019: 8) and providing "training and awareness in linguistic and cultural immersion" (Marcu 2018: 14). Some practitioners aim to design support programmes according to the anticipated social needs of refugee students, exemplarily by initiating trauma-sensitive offers (Nayton et al., 2019) or aiming at improved self-confidence (Bajwa et al., 2018) and "the development of life skills "(Steinhilber, 2019, p. 98). In some cases, refugees were among those initiating the programme (Bellino & Hure, 2018, p. 48; Fleay et al., 2019, p. 168).

As for many prospective students, information is both crucial for refugees and, sometimes, especially hard to come by. Therefore, providing valid and targetgroup-specific information and counselling is an important aspect of support programmes (Nayton et al., 2019; Tuliao et al., 2017, p. 20). Another major concern is providing financial support. This can be based on "cost-sharing programs" (Bellino & Hure, 2018, p. 48), inclusion in public student funding, as it is described for Germany (Schammann & Younso, 2017, p. 13), and full scholarships (Fleay et al., 2019, p. 172; Hartley et al., 2019, p. 12; Webb et al., 2019), as well as "programs that promote financial self-sufficiency [such as] Individual Development Accounts" (Luu & Blanco, 2019, p. 9). Another issue that can often not be addressed by HEIs is housing. Nonetheless, some programmes offer support in that area or even campus housing (Abdo & Craven, 2018, p. 143). Some HEIs give refugees guest access to their classes. This is meant to provide insight into academic practices and language. However, Schamann & Younso (2017, p.14) have criticised this approach as not fitting refugees' expectations and Klaus (2020, p. 136) described it as a quick solution with no serious endeavour to fully academically include refugee students. Further, structural support often includes access to infrastructure, such as Wi-Fi or libraries, which is often especially crucial in the context of refugee camps (Brown et al., 2017, p. 8; Dahya & Dryden-Peterson, 2017, p. 298).

Six of the reviewed papers specifically deal with online courses for refugee students (Brunton, Brown, Costello, Farrell, & Mahon, 2017; Crea & Sparnon, 2017; Halkic & Arnold, 2019; Muñoz, Colucci, & Smidt, 2018; Reinhardt et al., 2018; Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia et al., 2018). Generally, online courses were seen as a comparatively cheap potential solution for flexible learners and as independent from the local availability of tertiary education (Crea & Sparnon, 2017; Muñoz et al., 2018). However, the studies show

low completion rates (Halkic & Arnold, 2019) and point out that general challenges for higher education, such as language barriers, finances, housing, time management, etc., also impact the ability to participate in online education (Brunton et al., 2017, 17f.; Halkic & Arnold, 2019, p. 17). Finally, the "diversity of the target groups" (Halkic & Arnold, 2019, p. 17) can cause difficulties in creating online education offers that fit their diverse backgrounds and needs (Reinhardt et al., 2018, 217f.; Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia et al., 2018, p. 171). Therefore, online courses were perceived to be a helpful tool to "form realistic expectations about higher education study" (Brunton et al., 2017, p. 17) and to potentially "improve prospective flexible learners' preparation for higher education study through the provision of active developmental supports, early in the study life cycle" (Halkic & Arnold, 2019, p. 17).

Academic research projects were also mentioned among the reactions of some HEI to increasing refugee applications, with an emphasis on participatory research as being an important step towards the academic and partly also activist independence of refugees (Fleay et al., 2019). Further, conducting research on the experience and perspective of refugees was understood to provide valuable insights to current events (Hartley et al., 2019, p. 6; Tzoraki, 2019, p. 9).

Finally, HEIs were partly described as engaging their external network in order to support refugees, mainly by creating awareness for "the importance of access to higher education and the lived experience of seeking asylum" (Fleay et al., 2019, p. 175) and creating "dialogue and collaboration among the different agents, institutions and organizations that make up the sector" (Marcu, 2018, p. 15).

#### 2.4 Discussion

Research and literature on tertiary education for refugees have grown massively, especially since 2016. Ramsey and Baker's (2019) literature review has shown that after four papers were published on the topic between 1999 and 2009, 26 papers were published between 2010 and 2015 (p. 60). With a focus on empirical studies, Berg et al. (2018) included three publications from 1990-2009 and 15 studies that were published between 2010 and 2015. In this review, I have discussed 103 papers, including 79 empirical studies, that were published between January 2016 and December 2019. This reflects a growing recognition of the importance of higher education for refugees and a strong increase in scholarship on the topic.

This integrative literature review has provided a broad overview of this quickly emerging and growing field. The primary focus of this growing body of literature has been the situation of refugee students, mainly the challenges they face, as well as the description and evaluation of existing support programmes. Additional topics included Canadian media-representations of international and refugee students (Anderson, 2019), historical analysis of the situation in previous decades (Sheridan, 2016), and the description of methodological approaches for research with refugee students. Most studies provided policy implications, showing the close connection this research has to the ongoing development of support programmes.

In comparison to literature published before 2016 (Berg et al., 2018; Mangan & Winter, 2017; Ramsay & Baker, 2019), the main focus on challenges for refugee students and a majority of qualitative case studies or conceptual papers emphasising the importance of higher education opportunities for refugees seem to have remained the same. Nonetheless, a new additional focus on formal study preparation (Berg, Schröder, Grüttner, 2019c; Schröder et al., 2019), slightly increased quantitative and mixed methods approaches, and a number of studies on new countries and regions all indicate the increasing importance of this research field for a number of disciplines and research areas. Similar to Ramsay and Baker's (2019) review of literature until early 2018, many of the papers discussed in this review can be placed in the broader field of education studies. In this area, the papers added to a wide range of topics such as the recognition of foreign degrees (Dunwoodie et al., 2020), programme evaluation, academic culture (Baker & Irwin, 2019), language proficiency (Nayton et al., 2019; Park, 2019), and the general areas of internationalisation (Streitwieser 2019; Berg, 2018), as well as equity, inclusion and widening participation. These studies often focused on the perspective of refugee students but also included higher education practitioners (Streitwieser, Schmidt, Gläsener, & Brück, 2018b; Berg, 2018), domestic and international fellow students (Ergin, 2016; Grüttner, 2019), teachers (Schröder et al., 2019), policymakers (Jungblut, Vukasovic, & Steinhardt, 2018; Toker, 2019), NGO-members (Nayton et al., 2019), and the investigation of policies (Lisa Unangst, 2019).

Beyond education studies, the case of refugees in higher education also provides opportunities to study further questions, such as biographical identity-construction (Klaus, 2020) and psychological or social-science perspectives on wellbeing (Al-Rousan et al., 2018; Bajwa et al., 2019; Grüttner, 2019); in addition, researchers have the opportunity to investigate education as a facilitator of peace and security (Rasheed & Munoz, 2016) and

to apply theories of integration (Bacher et al., 2019). Thus, the topic of refugees in higher education offers a range of interdisciplinary connections beyond the specific case of refugee students and valuable contributions to a number of fields. However, empirical studies often investigate very small samples or case studies. It can be assumed that due to the narrow time frame of publication, many studies were conducted at the same time. In combination with the small number of previously published literature on the topic, this results in a somewhat repetitive body of literature, with a number of studies focusing on challenges for refugee students.

At this point, it would seem counterproductive to suggest one specific theoretical or methodological framework for further research. Instead, I recommend enhancing the growing methodological and theoretical diversity in order to create insights into a variety of aspects, cases, and perspectives. This would include moving beyond (single) case studies and increasing comparative, multi-perspective, and multi-level studies. On the one hand, such research could investigate the premises and conditions of successful preparation, access and participation in higher education for refugee students and identify expedient support strategies for various contexts and in accordance with the needs and lived experiences of refugee students. On the other hand, it could enhance the understanding of the diverse living situation of refugees and the institutional contexts that shape them, and broaden education research. In the following, I sum up a number of potential open questions and topics as a research agenda to further differentiate and substantiate this newly growing field.

Beyond the deficit discourse. As Ramsay and Baker (2019) argue in their literature review, research on refugee students should "go beyond a lens of issues and problems" (p. 57). Similar points are made throughout the discussion section of many of the reviewed papers. Still, a relatively small number of works investigate the capital and knowledge refugees can bring that should be valued and thematised (Harvey & Mallman, 2019; Shapiro, 2018). Studies in this area could include the benefits HEI expect from supporting refugee students but should also critically investigate norms, limits, and adaptability of academic culture (Baker & Irwin, 2019), as well as ways to create agency for refugees (Grüttner et al., 2018).

**Teaching and learning strategies.** Several studies mention unfamiliar teaching and learning styles as a challenge for refugee students. However, the reviewed studies do not further investigate the learning strategies of refugee students. As Parkhouse, Lu & Massaro

(2019) have pointed out, well prepared teachers can be crucial for the success of their students from marginalised communities. Higher education staff, including counsellors and teachers, often shows little diversity and is insufficiently interculturally qualified (Schammann & Younso, 2017). Further research towards a more detailed understanding of refugees as academic learners (Ives & Castillo-Montoya, 2020) and teachings styles in intercultural higher education could provide valuable strategical and practical implications of intercultural education, along the lines of Warriner, Fredricks, & Duran's (2019) conceptual approach to teaching academic English in schools. In this context, it seems important to differentiate between teaching and learning styles and knowledge about educational systems, professional knowledge in an academic field, and knowledge of academic language, culture, and norms.

Organisational responses and contexts. Regardless of the large numbers of papers that introduce, investigate, or evaluate case studies, very few works apply organisational theory in order to understand institutional reactions and frameworks that shape the higher education system and, in more detail, the programmes for refugees (one exception for the case of an Australian university would be Webb et al., 2019). Closer investigations of institutional rationales, decision making, and potential organisational changes could bring clarity to the exact contexts of higher education for refugees; and the applicability of implications. This could also include a more detailed investigation of concepts, aspects, and strategies of integration and participation and to what extent they are able to meet the needs of refugee students. In this context, differences between the perspectives of refugee students and the personnel that shapes higher education policy and practice would be interesting to investigate. Further, research could comparatively look into whether and how offers are supposed to adapt to the manifold circumstances and needs of this diverse group. Unangst and Crea (2020) have introduced an approach to bridge the contrast between subjective identities and generalising support programmes: Intersectional programmes could consider a variety of intersectional identity markers in order to offer a range of support offers.

As previously discussed, online programmes show low completion rates. They also depend on the availability of infrastructure and time, but could, on the other hand, provide location-independent learning opportunities. Recently, the Covid-pandemic has increased the relevance of and investments in digital learning in higher education. Considering the extensive investments that are made to expand online education, it seems crucial to ensure its success and efficiency. In order to contribute to the development of online courses that

meet the needs of a diverse student population, further research should investigate the challenges and chances of online learning and its consequences for academic and social participation, especially for underrepresented groups such as refugee students.

Additionally, as not all endeavours to support refugee students originate from HEIs, it seems important to investigate all relevant public and private institutions, their actions and objectives. This includes an investigation of the impact of policies on different political and institutional levels, as Bjorklund (2018) has done in his review of research on undocumented students in higher education. Generally, a broader perspective of all populations and institutions affected by new arrivals and affecting refugees' educational opportunities seems advisable. There could be interesting overlaps with studies of civic engagement.

(Trans-)National contexts. As mentioned above, the regional foci of international research on higher education for refugees has shifted. Presumably in reaction to the war in Syria, an increasing number of studies address the situation in Germany, Turkey and several European countries. Considering that Germany has been one of the ten countries that hosted the most displaced people and has started large public funding schemes in order to allow broad offers for refugee students, the high academic interest in the situation on Germany seems unsurprising. However, as the country hosting by far the largest refugee population, Turkey has received comparatively little attention. Given the fact that 85% of refugees are hosted in developing countries and their living situations differ greatly, it seems imperative to take this variety into account by extending the regional foci of international research (UNHCR, 2020). Furthermore, as Unangst and Crea (2020) have pointed out, it seems important to look beyond national contexts and perceive refugee education as a transnational endeayour.

The impact of the Covid-pandemic. As the world adapts to the 'new normal', it becomes increasingly clear that the Covid-pandemic has not only thoroughly affected all aspects of everyday life, including higher education, but also globally exacerbated the situation of atrisk populations. Further research will need to consider and measure the impact of the Covid-pandemic. This includes the assessment of consequences for refugee education. In different contexts, quite different outcomes can be expected, from a backlash to questions of mere survival, to a shift towards online education. The outcomes for (student) mobility, migration, social security, the organisation of higher education, and many other factors that influence refugee (higher) education will yet have to be determined.

**Conclusion.** It can be stated that the growing body of literature importantly adds to our understanding of a hitherto understudied topic and provides new academic insights as well as crucial information for policy development and practice. The increased attention during the last years has diversified theoretical, methodological, and conceptual approaches. At the same time, the newly emerging field holds many questions that have yet to be addressed.

# 3 A New Aspect of Internationalisation? Specific Challenges and Support Structures for Refugees on Their Way to German Higher Education

Jana Berg

Berg, J. (2018). A New Aspect of Internationalisation? Specific Challenges and Support Structures for Refugees on Their Way to German Higher Education. In A. Curaj, L. Deca & R. Pricopie (Hrsg.), *European Higher Education Area: The Impact of Past and Future Policies* (S. 219-235). Cham: Springer. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77407-7\_15">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77407-7\_15</a>

#### 3.1 Introduction

In 2015 and 2016, the number of asylum applications spiked in some European countries, including Germany. Many refugees and asylum seekers have high educational aspirations (Brücker et al., 2016), and their level of education determines their chances of integration and success in the host country (Fortin, Lemieux & Torres, 2016). Therefore, the question of how to integrate refugees and asylum seekers into higher education institutions (HEIs) became increasingly relevant. Supported by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) and the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD), universities, universities of applied sciences and preparatory colleges started the "Integra"-programs to assist refugees on their way to and through higher education (Fourier, Kracht, Latsch, Heublein & Schneider, 2017).

Based on a system theoretical intersectional perspective, this article works out what first contacts for refugees, members of the international offices and a vice-president at 5 German HEIs of internationalisation identify as specific challenges for refugees and asylum seekers<sup>5</sup> on their way to German higher education, and then focuses on how German HEIs support them. Concluding, it recommends backing HEIs up financially in order to encourage and help the process of institutionalising supporting structures; and also to target more networking and exchange of information between the HEIs. The article argues for an understanding of refugee students as internationals, as an addition to the HEIs and societies' diversity and as potentially highly skilled students.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While it will generally be referred to refugees in this text, technically, some of the prospective students are also asylum seekers, which means they do not have received a refugee status yet (see Columbia n.y.).

# 3.2 Access to Higher Education for International Students, Asylum Seekers and Refugees in Germany

Regardless of their residential status, refugees can apply to any German higher education institution; as long as they fulfil the general criteria for international applicants, they will be treated as international students (Study In, n.y.a). Mostly, that means to hold a university entrance qualification and speak the required language, which in the vast majority of German Bachelor programs is German, on a C1 level. Study preparation and access to higher education in Germany are central issues for international students: 32% of international students come to Germany with a high school diploma, while 21% had previously studied abroad, but had not completed their studies (Apolinarski & Poskowsky, 2013, p. 4). International diplomas need to go through a process of recognition before being acknowledged as university entrance qualifications in Germany. The German Act of Recognition, however, is not applicable to school certificates obtained in non-EU countries (Anerkennung in Deutschland, n.y.). Therefore, the matriculation offices or international offices of higher education institutions take the decision on their eligibility. Preparatory courses can be a crucial aspect of access to higher education. Prospective international and refugee students with secondary diplomas that are not recognised as university entrance qualification in Germany have to take an assessment test ("Feststellungsprüfung"). They can enrol in either private or public<sup>6</sup> preparatory colleges ("Studienkollegs") to study for this test (Studienkollegs.de, n. y.). The two-semester courses cover terminology and basic knowledge in the desired academic field. In 2012, 18% of all international students had to visit a preparatory college (Apolinarski & Poskowsky, 2013, p. 5).

While technically, refugees are treated like all international (prospective) students during their application and enrolment, during the phase of study preparations they receive special support in order to deal with their specific situation. For example, the entrance criteria for the preparatory colleges already include advanced knowledge of the German language. Therefore, special classes prepare refugees for the entrance test in order to enrol in the preparatory courses that lead to the assessment test (Studienkolleg Hannover, n.y.). Additionally, HEIs started offering courses, for example language and math classes, to support prospective refugee students on their way to higher education (Beigang & von Blumenthal, 2016). In 2016, 6806 refugees and asylum seekers took part in courses offered by 135 HEIs and 37 preparatory colleges within the "Integra"-program (Fourier et al. 2017, p. 12). Due to the time needed to reach the necessary language skills for study preparations,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Cost and availability of preparatory colleges depend on the German state and the individual college.

it can be assumed that the number of refugees in preparatory courses is still going to increase. Generally, preparatory colleges and preparatory courses can be seen as important institutions for the internationalisation of German higher education and the support of prospective refugee students.

#### 3.3 Challenges and Support for Refugees and Asylum Seekers at German HEIs

In order to work out specific challenges for refugees on their way to higher education and to compare the support and integration programs at different HEIs, I conducted eight expert-interviews (Kruse, 2015, p. 166 et seq.; Bogner et al., 2002) at five HEIs in four German states ("Bundesländer"). My interview partners where first contacts for refugees, members of international offices, one head of an international office, and one vice-president for internationalisation. The sample consists of members of five HEIs, two universities of applied sciences and three universities, in four different German states and regions. The HEIs have been sampled based on a regional cluster to cover different areas in Germany and on their support for refugees (existing support and special programs). An additional criterion was to include a university of excellence<sup>7</sup>. I analysed the interviews and the mission statements for internationalisation as well as the information for refugees offered by the universities' website with content analysis. In the following, an overview of the specific challenges for refugees the interview partners described will be given, followed by short descriptions of the sampled HEIs and their support for refugees.

# Specific Challenges on the Way to Higher Education for Refugees and Asylum Seekers: An Intersectional Approach

Prospective international students face a variety of challenges in Germany. It can be assumed that, to some extent, refugees face similar difficulties as all international students, amplified by and in addition to hindrances arising from their specific situation. In addition to entrance qualification (Brücker et al., 2016, p. 5) and language, literature on the situation of international students in Germany identifies several issues, for example study culture, finances (Schammann & Younso, 2016, pp. 12–13), social isolation, information and support (Ebert & Heublein, 2017; Levantino, 2016, p. 90), gaps in the educational biography (Ebert & Heublein, 2017, p. 32) and residential status as possible central

93

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The excellence initiative is a program by German's federal and state's governments to fund and support outstanding programs and institutions at selected universities. In intervals of 7 years, universities have to apply with proposed excellence clusters. Each time, 11 universities will be selected to be of excellence and receive the funding (see BMBF n.y.).

challenges for access to and success in higher education in Germany (Apolinarski & Poskowsky, 2013;Morris-Lange, 2017). Trauma (Joyce, et al., 2010) and residence obligations for asylum seekers are examples of additional hindrances for (prospective) students with the experience of forced migration.

The situation of refugees can be understood as an intersection of various factors of marginalisation. This means that those factors don't simply coexist or add up but interdepend and influence each other. They cannot be understood independently but have to be considered within their interdependence (see Müller, 2011, p. 305). Instead of focussing on set factors like race, class and gender, as it is often done in intersectional approaches (see Müller, 2011; Weinbach, 2008), this article focuses on the factors influencing refugees' integration into HEIs that members of HEIs describe from their perspective<sup>8</sup>, following Weinbach's (2008) system theoretical approach Intersectionality. The factors highlighted here are those influencing the inclusion into the HEI as an organisation and cannot be understood as a holistic representation of challenges refugees face within the host society. Some of those factors also apply to national or international students with no experience of forced migration; their specific combination is due to the individual situation—in this case, the specific situation of refugees. It can be assumed that some issues are amplified and others added by the specific situation of refugees. Also, their impact differs. While language and entrance qualification influence the access to higher education directly, others can be crucial hindrances for learning conditions and the general possibility of remaining in higher education. In the following, I will give an overview of several closely connected and interdependent challenges for prospective refugee and asylum-seeking students that were described by HEIs members throughout the interviews.

#### Language:

"It stands and falls with German language training and finances." (Interview international office member, University E, translated by JB)

in the interviews this paper is based on.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This paper is based on the perspective of members of German HEIs. For an advanced understanding of the situation and needs of refugees, their perspective must be considered. Studies as the WeGe-project (www.wege.dzhw.eu) are working on this task. It can be assumed and some studies show that refugees will have different perspectives on some of those aspects, or even add completely others (see Stevenson and Willott 2007: 675). Harris and Marlowe indicate that staff members do not always "recognise important factors contributing to" (ibid., 2011: 190) refugee students' performance. Examples are aspects of age (Schammann and Younso 2016, p. 28) and gender (Hobsig 2004), which have only been briefly mentioned

Speaking German is a crucial skill and a requirement for applying for German higher education as well as for preparatory colleges. Preparatory colleges usually require German on at least a B1 level; HEIs often require a C1 level for inscription and also B1 for preparatory classes. More than one third of all international students describe their German as bad (Morris-Lange, 2017, p. 21; Apolinarski & Poskowsky, 2013, p. 48). While a total of 54% of international students' state to have acquired first language skills before coming to Germany. Refugees seem to start with less previous experience. In a study of the Institute for Employment Research (IAB) with 4500 refugees in Germany, 90% stated to not have had any knowledge of German when entering the country (Brücker et al., 2016, p. 7); there is no statistical information on the selective group of those who plan on studying, but according to the interviews, the level of refugees' German language skills is regularly very low in the beginning. The missing language skills of prospective refugee students in comparison with other foreign students are explained by some interview partners with the unpredicted nature of their stay in Germany. Since they mostly did not plan to study in Germany, they did not prepare it with language classes.

Another issue is the diverse quality of language classes offered for refugees. Not all of them are accepted by the universities so it has to be certain classes which, on the other hand, are not always accepted by the job centres or the immigration office. This points out another issue: Refugees have to generally consider the rules, requirements and restrictions of several institutions connected to their financial situation and their residential status.

A Multitude of Bureaucratic Requirements: The life of asylum seekers is highly regulated in Germany. Benefits, accommodation and integration support like language classes or integration courses are connected with official requirements they have to meet. They differ locally by state and on the municipal level, and partly depend directly on the person responsible. Schammann shows exemplarily how the *Asylbewerberleistungsgesetz* (*AsylbLG*), the law that regulates social benefits for refugees in Germany, depends on the interpretation of local officials (Schammann, 2015), and Täubig argues that the highly regulated and repressive everyday living conditions of asylum seekers and refugees are designed to inhibit quick integration rather than to support it (Täubig, 2009). The complication of access to higher education can be one example for that. Especially during study preparations, different and even contradicting regulations and unclear responsibilities can lead to difficulties for prospective refugee students. For example, meeting the requirements for social benefit can contradict or prevent the visit of preparatory classes. A member of the international office at university E describes a case when several members

of a family had to drop out study preparations in order to take part in a job-creation program:

I experienced it once with a whole family that somebody really worked against it. So he, I fought a long time for him to be allowed to take the German class, and fought long for the wife to also be allowed to take the German class. They all had to stop, because the job-centre or the consultant did completely not support it. It simply could not be. They absolutely had to take part in a job-creation program." (Interview international office member, University E, translated by JB)

**Finances:** Depending on the level of income in the country of origin, the family background and potential scholarships, finances can be a serious difficulty for international students, despite the comparatively low study costs in Germany (Morris-Lange, 2017: 23). For asylum seekers and refugees, finances can be a crucial hindrance. Especially during the preparatory classes, they depend on benefits under the 'Asylum-seekers Benefit Act' or 'Unemployment Benefit II' (*ALG II*) (Study In, n. y.b). Depending on the length of their stay and their residential status, refugees can be supported by student loans granted under Germany's Federal Education Assistance Act (*BAföG*) while studying, which in one interview is described as an advantage of refugees in comparison to other international students. The application requires a confirmation of admission to a HEI and can be a high bureaucratic obstacle even for national students (Morris-Lange, 2017, p. 12; also see Schammann & Younso, 2016, pp. 12–13). Even though a lot of the programs universities offer for refugees are for free or financially supported, especially the time of study preparations is precarious up to impossible; while official responsibilities for financial support are unclear.

"The *BAföG*-office says, it is the job-centres' responsibility to pay during the hold-up time, and the job-centre says, nah, we don't, because it is supposed to be supported by *BaföG*." (Interview international office member, University E, translated by JB).

Entrance Qualification and Missing Documents: While 32% of refugees hold a secondary school degree with a university entrance qualification which, according to the IAB, is in most cases likely to be acknowledged as such (Brücker et al., 2016, p. 5), as for all prospective international students, the non-recognition of foreign degrees can be a serious obstacle. In 2012, 18% of all international students had to visit a preparatory

college, because their qualification was not recognised as university entrance qualification (Apolinarski & Poskowsky, 2013, p. 5). For refugees, there are some additional hindrances to be considered, an example for some cases is incomplete paperwork due to the circumstances of migration. A special case is the students from Eritrea, where a lot of people go to school, but only get a certificate after finishing their military service (ibd., p. 6). Also, especially in areas of armed conflict, a lot of refugees dropped out of school without finishing it. In case a certificate or diploma is missing, the residential status becomes important. Based on a decision of the German ministers of Education and the Arts, refugees can be given several options to still apply for higher education in case their documents are missing due to the circumstances of forced migration. The possibilities range from suitability tests to declaration on oath, and vary not only in between German states but also between single universities (Study In, n.y.c).

Gap in Educational Biography: Another challenge for refugees is the gap in their educational biography. It can be assumed that it took them some time to arrive in Germany, and then it takes time to meet the criteria for applying and enrolling at HEIs. At the time they are able to start preparatory colleges or apply for higher education, they might have been outside educational institutions for years. That adds up to cultural differences of learning and language barriers. Because of the time needed for study-preparation, the interview partners argue that the numbers of applicants with the experience of forced migration will increase heavily soon, since the people that arrived in 2015 and 2016 will soon meet the formal criteria and language proficiency to enrol.

**Study Culture:** Studies show that typical elements of higher education differ internationally. According to the members of the HEI, mode of discussion, self-discipline etc. can be issues for international students and refugees who have been socialised in different learning environments. Getting accustomed to a new study culture can take time and hard work, especially after some time completely outside of educational institutions (Morris-Lange, 2017, p. 22). When asked about specific challenges for refugees that want to access higher education, five of the eight interview partners described teaching and learning styles and different organisation structures of HEIs as crucial issues.

"That group work is rather unknown. That "chalk and talk" teaching is preferred." (Interview first contact, University D, translated by JB)

As a solution, they proposed social integration and intense counselling.

**Social Isolation:** Many international students state that they would like to have contact with national students but find it difficult (Apolinarski & Poskowsky, 2013, p. 48). Since their support networks are mostly abroad, they need that contact for personal reasons but, most likely, also to help them get along in German higher education institutions (Morris-Lange, 2017, p. 25). One interview partner also mentioned this network when it comes to getting internship-positions. Throughout the interview, contact with peers is argued to be an important factor for social integration and therefore academic integration in Germany.

"Actually, the biggest win is that they finally meet Germans at the same age. Which is great and to me an example of really successful integration, because at some point this, this factor, is somebody a refugee or not, it does not matter at some point, because it is simply, yes, contact to peers." (Interview first contact, UAS B, translated by JB)

Based on this, the interview partners argue to teach international students with and without the experience of forced migration together as soon as possible and quickly integrate refugees in regular classes.

**Information:** The availability and utilisation of consultation and support vary in connection to the local network and available information. As the first contacts describe it, for many refugees, personal interactions seem to be more important than information on the websites (see Baker et al., 2017).

"They generally look for information. So the self-information is not very strong. Many want information from face to face interaction, instead of looking it up at the internet first, as I would do it." (Interview first contact University D, translated by JB)

Generally, international students make use of information centres more often than national students (Ebert and Heublein 2017). For refugees, counselling is especially important and also difficult because of the already mentioned involvement of many actors and regulations: "The plurality of actors involved and complexity of legislation furthermore make it difficult for refugees to quickly get the information they require, and to understand it correctly" (Levantino, 2016, p. 90). Especially during the interview with first contacts, the need of valid information was constantly emphasised and it was criticised that information gained via a personal network can

be misleading, but also that incorrect information was given to the refugees from other institutions.

"Many refugees that come to me daily have been given wrong information.
[...] For example, from friends, acquaintances, the job-centre." (Interview first contact UAS A, translated by JB)

Residential Status: More than two thirds of international students come from countries outside the European Union and need a residence permit in order to stay in Germany which needs to be renewed frequently. Academic success and finances have an impact on the renewal process. Even for successful students, this process can mean a lot of stress and put additional pressure on them and their studies (Morris-Lange, 2017, p. 24). Nonetheless, the specific situation of refugees generally seems to be more insecure. Processing times in the Asylum procedure can be months, but can also last over a year (Brands & Morris-Lange, 2016), and it is unclear if study success influences the procedure at all. Long waiting periods accompanied by the fear of deportation can cause high "psychological cost of uncertainty awaiting the outcome of the recognition process" (Levantino, 2016, p. 90).

Residence Obligation and Infrastructure: The (in)ability to choose their place of living and their freedom of movement inside the country can be an important factor for refugees. Especially during the first months, they are under residence obligations and not able to choose their place of living. Even after that, preparatory classes are only available at certain locations, so if refugees are able to participate depends on where and how well connected they live. In relation to the cooperation with other relevant institutions, as the job-centres, one interview partner mentions that it was much easier to work with the one in the university's city than with job-centres in the region. Two interviewees mentioned the financing of public transportation tickets as a crucial hindrance for some prospective students.

"But it is very difficult that the refugees pay for the ticket to the free language class themselves. Not all of them can do that." (Interview first contact UAS A, translated by JB)

**Trauma and Psychological Stress:** Having to flee a conflict zone, potentially leaving family and friends behind, living in a new country under restricted conditions and never knowing how long one is able to stay—all interview partners mention the insecure living conditions and past and present trauma as a huge challenge for refugees; they are at least

a constant distraction up to a major influence on productivity and aspirations. Most HEIs do not offer specific psychological counselling for traumatised people. While on the one hand, refugees can use the HEIs' general psychological counselling, the vice-president for internationalisation at UAS A refers to the responsibility of the whole society which points at the fact that the integration of refugees into higher education does not only depend on the support they receive from preparatory colleges and HEIs.

"When we have many traumatised people in the country, then it is actually a task of the country to take care of it. And I do think it has to be taken care of, but I don't know if it is the university's task." (Interview vice-president for internationalisation, UAS A, translated by JB)

**Absence:** Three interview partners describe absence from preparatory classes as a central issue. They explain it with other responsibilities within the multitude of bureaucratic requirements, family issues, a lack of motivation caused by trauma, the need to work due to financial issues and religious reasons for absence during Ramadan. This shows how challenges on several levels manifest as an influence on study success.

"If a family member is doing badly, they sometimes stay at home. Because at this moment one has to take care of the family, not of the German class." (Interview first contact, University D, translated by JB)

#### 3.4 Support Structures at German HEI

In order to help refugees to deal with the previously described challenges, many German HEIs institutionalised different support structures and offers. The sample shows some differences in the specific offers; within the path dependency of pre-existing organisational structures, some of the specific offers of the sampled HEIs include strong collaboration with local businesses, specific offers for traumatised students or extensive online-classes. What all sampled HEIs have in common are language classes, academic preparation like math-courses, offers to support the social integration and the offer of access to infrastructure like libraries and Wi-Fi for refugees. Hereafter, the HEIs will be shortly described, and an overview of their specific support for refugees will be given.

University of Applied Sciences (UAS) A is focused on the combination of theory and praxis with praxis-oriented teaching and on internationally oriented research. Internationalisation is a crucial part in the UAS mission statement and broadly promoted in order to support students' career opportunities and extend research possibilities in a

globalised world and market. Therefore, the position of a vice-president for internationalisation has newly been implemented and online-courses, international study-programs, exchange programs, partnerships and international research cooperation are maintained and extended. The UAS A is well appointed with funds and staff: While the Universities of Applied Sciences A and B have about the same number of students, there are 532 enrolled students per person working at the international office, 182 less than at UAS B.

Within the international office, a position for the counselling of refugees has been established in November 2016. Because there is no nearby preparatory college available, the UAS offers a three stages study preparations program, including counselling, language classes and academic preparation. The program is supported by local companies, which offer funding. Further offerings are social events, (already existing) international study programs in English and online classes. The information on the website is addressed to prospective refugee students. While there is broad support and even funding offered, the online information for refugees is only available in German. This HEI is the only one in the sample that offers applying refugees to benefit them by raising their entrance qualification grades during the application process.

University of Applied Sciences B is practice-oriented and works closely together with relevant companies. In the University of Applied Science's Profile, student mobility is described as a crucial part in supporting the career opportunities for local students. The international office mostly focuses on student mobility, mainly via exchange programs and international study programs. There are 714 enrolled students per person working at the international office. A position of a vice-president for internationalisation and a mission statement for internationalisation have not been established yet, but within the international office, there is a department for the support of the internationalisation process and of social inclusion for international students.

Within this department, the engagement for refugees is coordinated. This was initially done within the regular working hours and partly as voluntary work. Starting with September 2017, a 20% position for the consultation of refugees was established. Even though there was no institutionalised position to do it, due to a lot of voluntary activities, the UAS B started a supporting program in 2015. The three-stage program includes counselling, language and academic courses and support for social integration. The UAS B has its own preparatory college. In addition to this and in cooperation with the local university, audits, trips and other social events, access to the library and Wi-Fi and

information on studying and applying are offered. Detailed information and related links are provided on the website in German and English. They are addressed to prospective refugee students and to already enrolled students who want to support refugees. Special about this HEI is a program that allows enrolled students to do an intercultural training and collect credit in exchange for their support of refugees. In an interview, the first contact for refugees explained that this way the voluntary engagement should be acknowledged and maintained after the topic is not present in the media anymore.

University (U) C is a university of excellence with a profile of high-quality research and a strong orientation towards internationalisation and diversity. The mission statement for internationalisation includes the mobility of students and academic staff, as well as research-cooperation and the internationalisation of teaching, including international study-programs. It explicitly emphasises service for all international incomings beyond academic questions, and a comprehensive approach. Internationalisation is meant to attract the best researchers and students and not only understood as the international office's task, but as a mission of the entire organisation. Per person working at the international office, the university has 571 enrolled students.

The support for refugees is located at the university's centre for diversity, where a 50% position has been established as a first contact and counsellor for refugees. This allocation is different to the other HEIs, where support for refugees is mostly located within the international office. That can be explained with a focus on the special needs of refugees and also with a generally stronger involvement of the centre for diversity with international students. Information for refugees on the website are available in German and mostly also in English; they address prospective students as well as academics with the experience of forced migration. Most information is about the university counselling and support offers and the criteria to apply and enrol. Support programs for refugees at university C include language classes, audits, infrastructure (access to premises, the library and Wi-Fi), a buddyprogram and students initiatives like a refugee law clinic. The first contact for refugees explains in the interview that most of the service for refugee and asylum-seeking prospective students is included in services that already existed and are now extended. Newly implanted offers are the counselling service and language classes. They started in 2015. A special offer that is embedded in the already existing institutional structures is psychological counselling for people with trauma.

University D is one of the leading Technical Universities in Germany. Within its extensive internationalisation mission statement, the focus is on student mobility and exchange, additional points are networking, research cooperation, researcher's mobility and the support of a north-south dialogue. Cooperation and aims to win new international students are targeted at certain countries. The head of the international office explains this regional focus with historically grown structures. Within the sample, the international office has about half the staff compared to University E and also less international office employees but more than double as many students as University C. There are 1627 enrolled students for every person working at the international office.

Within the international office, a 50% position has been established to counsel refugees and administrate special offers for them. The university's homepage offers information for prospective students, mostly on entrance criteria, preparatory courses and colleges, relevant institutions and offers at the university and finances. For researchers with a refugee background, contact information is given in order to support connection and access to the university. All information is given in English. In addition to academic and language preparation and the regular offers of the international office and student counselling, a buddy program and students volunteer projects offer social inclusion and a refugee law clinic.

University E is the biggest university in the sample; it is almost two and a half times as large as University C. While it does have a strong focus on internationalisation in its mission statement, no position of a vice-president for internationalisation has been established yet. Internationalisation includes research cooperation, student and staff mobility and international study programs and is strongly seen in connection with a globalised market. Per person working at the international office, there are 982 enrolled students.

Within the international office, a 50% position for the counselling and the coordination of support-offerings for refugees was established in April 2017. Before that, it was done in addition to the regular work by another member of the international office. The person the university lists as a first contact for refugees is a volunteering emeritus professor, who also offers counselling for refugees. The university's homepage offers detailed information on formal criteria for application and enrolment, missing documents, language classes and preparatory courses for prospective refugee students and academics with the experience of forced migration, in German and English; central information is also available in Arabic, Sorani and Kurmanji. Compared to most other HEIs, the extensive

information available on the website for refugee and asylum-seeking academics is remarkable. The university supports refugees with German classes, audits, counselling and library-access and offers cooperation and networking for academics with a refugee background.

#### 3.5 Conclusion

All sampled HEIs did not have special offers for refugees before 2015, which shows how closely the HEIs are connected to the topics of society. It can be understood as part of their "Reflexivität" (self-reflexivity) (Weinbach, 2008, p. 183), which means that HEIs as organisations reflect on their environment and react to changes as they are currently trying to find ways to include refugees in their system of higher education. Generally, this reflectivity results in special offers to prepare refugees. Many HEI members describe helping to integrate and educate refugees as one of the HEI's contributions to society, while also they expect support and integration programs from society, the government and other actors. How far they can support refugees depends on funding, individual engagement and also on previously existing structures. For example, the only university in the sample that offers special counselling for traumatised people did already work on that topic before. For some questions, the HEI's international office and counselling staff are just not qualified, so other structures are necessary.

"Of course, sometimes people come, who are in the middle of legal actions because [...] they got a negative notification. Then we say, okay, there is a refugee law clinic or a lawyer must be asked, but we can't do this, also counsel on legal questions of asylum." (Interview first contact University C, translated by JB)

After 2015, even HEIs with small international offices set up broad support structures. A lot of them started out as volunteer work and then were institutionalised; at UAS B even the student support initiatives became a part of the "Studium Generale" and can be rewarded with credit points. When the interviews took place in summer 2017, all sampled HEI either already had established or were establishing part-time positions for people in charge of counselling refugees and administrate support structures and courses. This is made possible by the "Integra"- program of the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD), funded by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research. In most interviews, money was emphasised as a crucial factor in order to be able to guarantee the support. While generally, the first contacts for refugees maintained connections to other people in

similar positions, the need for a network to exchange ideas and experiences was mentioned several times.

Within their mission statements on internationalisation, most HEIs focus on student mobility, more or less in accordance with the academic staff's mobility and academic exchange. Different actors at the HEIs work on different aspects of the process of internationalisation: academic exchange and international research projects are usually in the area of responsibility of individual academics or departments, student mobility and service for internationals is a huge part of the international offices work, while presidents and vice-presidents for internationalisation focus on strategic cooperation and transfer of organisational structures. The support-offerings for refugees are usually also facilitated by many institutions throughout the HEIS, such as language centres, student counselling, centres for diversity and student initiatives. Their coordination is mostly located within the international office, but partly also in diversity centres.

Whether and to what extent refugees are understood as part of the HEI's internationalisation or otherwise, for example its diversification, as part of a third mission etc. will need further investigation, but in the interview, they generally seemed to be understood as prospective students with special needs. Most interview partners mention the social and academic inclusion of refugees and eventually their transformation to the status of (regular) international students as highly important. Several challenges to refugees' inclusion in the HEI are emphasised by the HEI actors, and for some of them, solutions are proposed. The integration of refugees into higher education is seen as a chance for refugees to improve their living conditions and help a quicker integration. Generally, all interviewees assume that the number of refugees applying for higher education will keep rising.

The similar challenges that are described from the experience of different actors at five HEIs in four different German states suggest that structural support for refugees on their way to higher education is necessary; so are efforts to help social integration. The aim should be to minimize disadvantages. While the different challenges can be understood as interdepend intersections, their exact occurrence and impact depend largely on the individual situation. They cannot all be addressed by just one institution, but refugees rather depend on the support by several actors and institutions, individually addressing the numerous challenges they face. This also means that refugees can be included in pre-existing support structures, and newly implemented offerings can, on long term, be of help for other groups (partly) facing similar challenges.

The support structures include several parts of the HEI, but also actors and institutions outside of higher education. Since language skills and entrance qualification are the most direct influence on compatibility with the HEI, all sampled HEI offer courses in this context. Within their path dependency of already existing structures, they organize additional offers to meet other challenges. In order to include refugees, as many of the named factors as possible should be addressed by HEIs and surrounding organisations. Especially the extension of pre-existing structures, the provision of extensive and detailed information, the interconnection of support structures within and outside of HEI and the possibility of individual solutions seem crucial in order to support (not only) refugees on their way to German HEIs. Additionally, HEIs should reflect on some of their organisational structures, like their language requirements, the non-acknowledgement of some integration-courses refugees have to visit and other bureaucratic challenges they create for refugees. For example, some access criteria might need to be revised in order to comply with the situation of refugees in Germany. This would mean to take the organisational 'Reflexivität' one step further and adjust organisational structures in order to enable the integration of a new group of students into the system of higher education.

The internationalisation of higher education, as described in the corresponding mission statements, is usually focused on program- and network-based partnerships and mobility and aims at winning high-income, highly trained students from specific areas. It mostly is a process that is pushed by and takes place within international competition. In this context, it seems obstructive to focus on refugees solely as people with special needs. Regarding the aim of the HEI members to see refugees become regular international students, it would make sense to frame them as a potential enrichment of a diverse and international HEI, but also as potential highly educated international students. This could also mean to re-think the connection between internationalisation and diversification of HEIs, and maybe shift the competitive focus of internationalisation-strategies. Structures that are implemented to support refugees can then be seen as a positive influence on the entire organisation since the support structures enrich a diverse internationalisation and might also be of use for other students on a long-term (see Schammann & Younso, 2016, p. 46). Therefore, the investment in support for refugees can be seen as a general effort towards a social and diverse system of higher education.

As a bottom line, the following points should be taken into consideration for higher education policy:

- The HEIs support of refugees depends on funding. Since finances are important
  to refugees as well as universities, the institutionalisation of support structures
  like counselling and special offers for refugees as well as the funding of refugees
  costs of living should be supported as much as possible.
- Most HEIs started their programs with volunteer work based on a try and error strategy. A strong network and guidelines concerning regulations and demands of other institutions can be a lot of help for them.
- While the HEI do an important job for integrating refugees, they cannot do it on their own. Integration and information for refugees should be treated as general tasks of the whole society. HEIs and actors outside of higher education should be encouraged to network and cooperate as much as possible.
- The information on the possibilities of studies for refugees should be pointed out to other relevant actors active in counselling refugees.
- Diversity and internationalisation should be framed as positive factors within a globalised world, and refugees should be seen as prospective highly capable students instead of exclusively focusing on their special needs.

# 4 Formalising organisational responsibility for refugees in German higher education: The case of first contact positions

Jana Berg, Anja Gottburgsen, Bernd Kleimann

Berg, J., Gottburgsen, A., & Kleimann, B. (2021). Formalising organisational responsibility for refugees in German higher education: the case of first contact positions. *Studies in Higher Education* (online first). https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2021.1872524

#### **Abstract**

This article addresses the formalisation of support structures for refugee students at German higher education organisations. After the refugee influx in 2015 and 2016, early support for refugees was characterised by often voluntary, informal, spontaneous activities by pioneers. Subsequently, the situation changed as higher education organisations adjusted to the new challenge and restructured their way of dealing with study-interested refugees. Based on 18 interviews with heads of international offices and with the holders of so-called first contact positions for refugees at eight German higher education organisations, we investigate — drawing on organisation sociology — these organisational responses to (prospective) refugee students. In a second step, we focus on the first contact positions as the smallest organisational units in this field of action and describe their tasks, their placement in the hierarchy, and the procedures for staffing. Our analysis shows that in response to the growing number of refugee applicants and the availability of external funding, support structures for refugees were formalised by creating and/or expanding existing organisational structures, including the establishment of first contacts as specific boundary positions and of new internal and external communication channels.

#### **Keywords**

Access to higher education; refugee students; organisational responses; first contact positions; formalisation

# 4.1 Introduction

Access to higher education for refugees is an important goal on the global and European political level (European Commission, EACEA & Eurydice, 2019; UNHCR, 2018). To overcome the various barriers hindering this access – with just 3% of young refugees

entering higher education compared to 36% of young people globally (UNESCO, 2018; UNHCR 2018) – refugees need specific guidance and support. Yet, Europe (EU and EFTA member states) is divided with regard to the partly contradicting policies and strategies for integrating refugees into higher education (European Commission et al., 2019). Only slightly more than half of the European countries (22 vs. 19 systems) refer to refugees in their top-level policy documents (e.g., legislation, national strategies, action plans, or white papers). Very few European countries outline any significant top-level higher education strategy. Additionally, the vast majority of refugees have settled in very few countries, and in most states higher education organisations (HEOs) are largely being left to manage the situation on their own. Hence, higher education organisations such as universities and universities of applied sciences play a central role in integrating refugees into higher education. Their support measures are manifold and include grants or scholarships, language training, welcome/introductory programmes, online programmes, personalised guidance, training for staff working with refugees and asylum seekers, support to institutions and/or fee exemptions (cf. European Commission et al., 2019, p. 16). However, only some countries like France, Italy and especially Germany combine multiple measures to integrate refugees into higher education (European Commission et al. 2019). That the German higher education system is deemed to be providing the most complete package of support measures for refugees embedded in the most comprehensive policy approach in Europe (European Commission et al., 2019; UNESCO, 2018), makes it an interesting object of investigation.

Before 2016 most German HEO did not provide specific support for refugee students, even though refugees had previously been studying in Germany. Only after the peak of asylum applications in 2015 and 2016 it became apparent that one third of the refugees show high levels of previous education (Brücker et al., 2016) and have educational aspirations on the academic level.

It should be noted that German HEOs do not collect information on their students' legal status. Thus, no statistical information is available on the actual number of refugees in higher education, including our sampled HEOs. In response to an inquiry by the German Rectors' Conference (HRK), German HEOs reported an influx from 9.066 counselling for prospective refugee students during the winter semester 2015/16 to 23.798 counselling during the winter semester 2016/17 (HRK, 2020). Therefore, many universities, universities of applied sciences, and preparatory colleges ('Studienkollegs') implemented specific programmes to support prospective refugee students (Schammann and Younso,

2016). Integra courses include language and academic preparation classes. After the initiation of the funding scheme managed by The German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) 6.806 refugees participated in Integra courses in 2016. In 2017, the DAAD reports 10.404 refugees in Integra courses after 50% of refugee applications for Integra courses had to be declined. In 2018, 70% of refugee applicants could be accepted and 9.609 refugees participated in Integra courses (Fourier, Estevez Prado & Grüttner, 2020).

Against this background, our paper asks how German HEOs have responded to the soaring number of study-interested refugees. Our main research question is: Which structural changes were made by HEOs in this field of action in order to cope with the new situation? Drawing on concepts taken from Luhmann's organisation sociology, we specifically ask, which organisational positions, goal programmes, communication channels, and personnel decisions were generated by universities and universities of applied sciences in this regard? Additionally, we investigate what caused the observable structural changes at HEO and how far-reaching and sustainable those changes were. By answering these questions, the article strives to provide a theoretical lens for studying organisational reactions to (prospective) refugee students and to show how HEOs cope with demanding and unforeseen societal challenges.

After a brief overview of the state of research on higher education for refugees (section 2), we introduce some core concepts of Luhmann's organisation sociology as building blocks of our analytical framework (section 3). Then we describe our data and methods (section 4) and present the findings of the expert-interviews with heads of international offices and with the holders of first contact positions (section 5 and 6). The closing summary discusses our results in the context of organisational change in academia and raises questions for further research (section 7).

#### 4.2 Research on higher education for refugees

The greater part of the research on education for refugees has focused on primary and secondary education (Dryden-Peterson, 2010). However, in recent years and parallel to the growing public interest, the topic of refugees in higher education has received increased attention. International inquiries mostly focus either on challenges for refugees in entering and succeeding in higher education (such as a lack of social, cultural, and linguistic capital, the acknowledgement of credentials, or a mismatch between societal expectations and the needs of refugee students (Gateley, 2015; Sheikh et al., 2019; Stevenson and Baker, 2018), or on the evaluation of individual support initiatives that focus on academic and social

integration (Bajwa et al., 2017; Park, 2019). Additional topics are online courses for refugees (Halkic & Arnold, 2019; Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia et al., 2018), the situation in refugee camps (AbduRazak et al., 2019; Bellino & Hure, 2018) or methodological aspects of research with refugee students (Baker et al., 2019a).

A growing number of studies address the situation in Germany, investigating study preparations and varying pathways into higher education (Schröder et al., 2019; Kreimer & Boenigk, 2019; Streitwieser & Brück, 2018) or describing the situation and needs of refugee students (Schneider, 2018). Unangst (2019) discusses a number of policy implications regarding offers at German HEOs, including technical language training, emergency funds, and the establishment of best practice examples. However, beyond interest in these support offers, the responses of HEO to the novel situation remain underexplored.

Studies on reactions of German HEOs to the influx of refugees are – aside from a few (descriptive or evaluative) case studies – quite rare. Some papers provide quantitative (Beigang et al., 2018) and qualitative (Iwers-Stelljes et al., 2016) overviews of responses to increasing numbers of refugee students. Schammann and Younso (2016) describe early reactions at German HEO and develop implications for further support program implementations. Berg (2018) investigates the ascribed needs of refugee students and the respective support measures from the perspective of German HEO staff. Her analysis shows the path-dependent development of support which is based on previously existing offers for other groups of students. Internationally, Webb et al. (2019), using a neoinstitutionalist framework in their case-study of a scholarship-program at an Australian university, examine formal admission and assessment procedures as well as equity policies regarding refugees and asylum seekers. They show how equity-policies are based on ascribed and not necessarily actual needs. They further emphasise the importance of individual background, networks and normative presuppositions of individual staffmembers for the realisation of equity policies.

Comparable to the case investigated by Webb et al., our sampled HEOs have started to implement offers for refugees in recent years. While this is well known, the reasons behind these offers as well as the accompanying structural changes within HEO have – to our knowledge – not been investigated from the perspective of organisational theory, yet. Addressing this research gap, the article focuses on the organisational responses of German HEOs to the demands of refugees, drawing on Luhmann's organisational sociology in order to describe and analyse the formalisation of support structures in this field of action.

## 4.3 Analytical framework

According to Luhmann, formal organisations are a specific variety of social systems (Luhmann, 1995; 2018; Seidl & Mormann, 2015). As such, they draw their boundaries to the environment and reproduce themselves through (the communication of) decisions. Decisions are contingent choices attributed to specific positions within the organisation, e.g. hiring a new employee which is decided upon by the management. But they are nothing short of arbitrary acts as they are systematically enabled or restricted by organisational structures. Luhmann distinguishes between three of these structures: decision programmes (i.e., goal and conditional programmes), communication channels, and personnel (Luhmann, 2018[2011], p. 181). These structures (which belong to individual positions, departments, or to the organisation as a whole; Kühl, 2013) do not determine future decisions, but make decisions more or less likely. They are formal structures insofar as the organisation can (and actually has) decided upon them whereas the organisational culture (consisting of non-decidable attitudes, mindsets, or value propositions) is an informal structure (Kühl, 2013; Luhmann, 2018[2011]). In the following, we use these structures as an analytical framework for investigating how universities and universities of applied sciences react to refugees and asylum seekers.

Decision programmes are supposed to orient the organisation's decision making through setting goals on the one hand (goal programmes) and through defining clear-cut responses to well defined inputs on the other (conditional programmes). Goal programmes inform the organisation and is members about what they are supposed to achieve. In universities, the top goal programmes are teaching and research (Kleimann, 2019), whereas universities of applied sciences are expected, in addition to teaching, to execute applied research. This article specifically investigates the goal programmes of first contact positions for refugees from the perspective of first contacts themselves and of heads of international offices.

Another type of decision programme are conditional programmes. As if-then-rules, they define how a specific input (e.g., a student's application for admission) has to be processed within the organisation. In contrast to goal programmes, the sequence of actions here is determined, and decisions which are not explicitly permitted are forbidden. Thus, conditional programmes (e.g., regulations for enrolment or internal resource allocation) (Kleimann & Klawitter, 2017) regulate in some detail the way in which specific tasks are to be processed. In our case, the state's third-party-funding for refugee-oriented

programmes or the general admission rules for applicants can be viewed as conditional programmes.

Another formal structure of organisations is communication channels (Kühl, 2013; Luhmann, 2018[2011]) – e.g. the organisational hierarchy. They determine who is allowed to communicate with whom (participation rights) or required to do so (reporting duties). In order to enable decision-making and secure obedience, they channel the flow of information and allocate competences to certain organisational units and positions. In this article, we concentrate mainly on the communication channels of first contacts for refugees.

The last variety of formal organisational structures is personnel (Luhmann, 2006, p.279 et seq.). Persons constitute a sort of organisational structure insofar as their individual characteristics have an influence on how they make decisions. The professional background, for example, affects the way problems are dealt with, so that psychologists tackle organisational conflicts unlike jurists. The same applies to other personal features like educational and socio-economic background, age, or gender, as they render some decisions more likely than others (Kühl, 2013). This impact of personnel is especially strong in areas where goal programmes prevail – e.g. in HEOs because their main goal programmes (teaching and research) are "unclear technologies" (Cohen, March & Olsen, 1972) and cannot be executed just by following strict rules. Taking this into account and relating to the incumbents of first contact positions, we have gathered information on their previous jobs, professional qualification, and personal attitudes.

This set of organisational structures – goal programmes, conditional programmes, communication channels, and personnel – serves our analysis as an analytical framework for investigating how and to what extent German HEOs have modified their internal structures in order to prepare for the demands and needs of refugee and asylum seeker students.

#### 4.4 Data and methods

Our investigation is based on the analysis of 18 expert-interviews (conducted between August 2017 and July 2018) with members of eight German HEOs. Six of the interviews come from a preceding exploratory study (Berg, 2018). The final sample includes four universities (U) and four universities of applied sciences (FH) which were chosen along criteria like existing offers for refugees, diverse mission statements, and regional distribution. Regarding the mission statements, two different sets of universities and universities of applied sciences were sampled: the first set emphasises social responsibility

and widening participation, the other on internationalisation. The sampled HEOs are located in seven German states, including South, West, North, East and Central German regions, and in cities of different sizes. Hence, our sample covers a wide variety of sociostructural contexts.

At each HEO, the head of international office and the person that was named on their website as first contact<sup>9</sup> for refugees were interviewed. In one case, two people were listed as first contacts, so both of them were interviewed. At one university of applied sciences, an interview with a former first contact (who counselled refugees before an official position was established) was available and additionally included in the analysis. The interview guideline encompassed questions about existing offers for refugees, the initiation and institutionalisation of these offers as well as their potential development in the future. Professional networks, resources, and the interviewees' understanding of refugees were also addressed. In this way, we tried to reveal the main structural changes regarding positions, goal programs, communication channels and personnel in the field of support for refugees in order to address our following research questions:

- Which structural changes were made, i.e. which organisational positions, goal programmes, communication channels, and personnel decisions were generated by the sampled HEOs?
- What were the reasons for these changes?
- How far-reaching and sustainable were they?

Luhmann's (2006) analytical framework was used in two ways: first, it provided the background for designing the semi-structured interview guide, and second it informed the coding of the transcripts with the use of MAXQDA. Centred around Luhmann's organisational structures named above, the analytical framework was extended inductively while coding. After the first round of coding, we recategorized and interpreted the codes based on sensitising concepts in accordance with our main research focus — the organisational response of German HEO to refugees. In order to increase the inter-coder reliability of our analysis, coding and re-categorisation were done by different researchers. Several interpretation sessions were held and all results were discussed in a final session. In this way we developed a common understanding and interpretation of our material and results.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Some HEOs call the position ,counsellor' or ,contact for (prospective) refugee students'. We uniformly use the term ,first contact position'.

## 4.5 Findings

## 4.5.1 The emergence of HEOs' organisational responses to the influx of refugees

In order to unveil causes of structural changes in HEOs during the refugee influx, this section deals with both external changes in the HEOs' environment and internal shifts that resulted in new challenges and prompted HEOs to respond.

#### External factors

From the perspective of HEOs in Germany, the need to set up new or adjust existing support for refugee students emerged in the wake of the unexpected influx of refugees from Syria and other countries in 2015. The migration dynamics were accompanied by new semantics depicting highly skilled refugees as future professionals for the German labour market (Streitwieser & Brück, 2018).

Our interviews show that in general three main external changes triggered the HEOs' development of support for refugees: first the discourse on the need to support refugees in pursuing their academic aspirations, second direct contact with prospective refugee students seeking assistance at HEOs, and third the availability of public financial resources that allowed HEOs to either create or expand their support.

"In 2015, the need was sort of clear. Or just, yes, present and at least this student engagement for refugees was initiated by a student himself here, which is totally admirable. [...] One realised that this had to be institutionalised [...]. Then the university and the university of applied sciences decided together: 'Ah! Okay. Here one can raise funding from the DAAD and then we will establish a professional position, because it is getting too much. One cannot let this happen besides regular student counselling, because there are suddenly many more people who just have these needs. "(FH 1 Exp 2 first contact; all quotes were translated by the authors)

On the political level, the German Federal Ministry for Education and Research (BMBF) initiated the programmes 'Integra' and 'Welcome' in 2016 to support organisational and student engagement for prospective refugee and asylum-seeking students (Fourier et al. 2020). Many German states ('Bundesländer') started similar programmes. With the help of these resources, HEOs established new offers for refugees, modified existing ones, and adapted internal structures and processes to the changing environment.

## From informal to formal support for refugees: internal factors

In 2015 and 2016, members of matriculation offices and especially international offices (the latter usually being in charge of communicating with prospective international students) realised an influx of refugees seeking information on how to study in Germany. This was due to the specific "boundary position" (Luhmann, 1976) of these members within the organisation. Boundary positions represent the organisation externally and serve to interact with specific sections of the organisations' environment, channelling and passing on external communication into the organisation and vice versa. They become even more important, if environmental expectations shift quickly and, thus, urge the organisation to respond. Therefore, boundary positions are stabilizing the organisation by absorbing uncertainty (Luhmann, 2018[2011], p. 178).

For the members of international offices, the influx of refugee applicants changed the section of the organisation's environment they had to communicate with. Before the influx, refugees would just have been treated like any other international student. But now the huge number of refugees seeking special counselling and partly exceeding the capacities of student counselling staff, combined with the growing expectation of support for refugees and linked to semantics of social responsibility and specific needs, spurred the organisation to recognise the new situation and to respond accordingly.

Hence, pioneers belonging to different status groups and organisational units within HEOs started to support refugees – in most cases informally, some also officially. Our interview partners have described that students were among the first actors in HEOs to notice and organize offers for refugees who were interested in taking up or continuing their academic studies. At the same time, academic and administrative staff and presidia started to act as well. In some cases, pioneers integrated new tasks into their field of duties. For example, members of international offices began to counsel refugees as part of their task of counselling foreign students. In other cases, pioneers wound up building new organisational solutions themselves. This was done e.g. by the organisations' (middle) management, which started to collect or readdress available funding, but also by students who launched initiatives to support refugees. While in four of the sampled HEOs boundary positions located in international offices expanded their responsibility, in two others students or the presidium gave the impulse to support refugees. Over all, these initiatives confirm the importance of personnel in reshaping organisational structures (Luhmann, 2018[2011], pp. 231f; Webb et al., 2019).

"And first there were various decentral initiatives, as I would like to call them. Meaning that faculties or individual professors launched research projects. Or also individual staff member activities, spontaneous support projects. Also, students engaged in refugee work. And then it became quasi-official via the international offices, [...] and then funded by the state [Bundesland]. And the international offices could of course not decide alone, but are of course dependent on the approval of the university administration, which of course has to support it as well. "(U3E2)

Following those initial actions and making use of newly available resources, HEOs deliberately created formal structures in order to support refugees. On the level of conditional programmes, they introduced residence status as a new criterion to manage access to specific offers. Additionally, in order to meet the (assumed) needs, temporary programmes were initiated in order to help refugees to meet admission criteria or to provide access to infrastructures such as WiFi or libraries (Beigang et al., 2018; Berg, 2018). As most HEOs had no available experience of how to organise support for refugees, new formal structures, such as the first contact positions, had to be developed and implemented (Luhmann, 2018[2011]). Three types of these structures can be distinguished: First, those that are newly and exclusively created for refugees. Partly, external funding was specifically understood to have been granted for those exclusive offers. Second, structures that are newly created for refugees, but also available for other groups such as international students with no experience of forced migration, and thirdly the inclusion of refugees into existing structures by opening or altering the latter, as the following quote exemplarily shows:

"So, there just was an increasing number of refugees coming to our opening hours. Or to me. And they wanted to know how studying works. And there was always the difficulty that they had no German proficiency, or no German proficiency sufficient for studying. Therefore we, our [programme for international students], which we already had at the time, yes, we opened it. And adjusted it with a few specifics for refugees. "(FH4E2)

The fact that these structures were often developed through extending previously existent structures shows the HEO's path-dependency in dealing with uncertain environments. While some interviewees emphasised the importance of establishing exclusive offers for

refugees, others were striving to quickly include them into programmes for all or for international students in order to overcome boundaries and foster social integration.

In general, the structural changes HEOs have implemented can be described as a process of *formalisation*. Formalisation means that previously non-regulated issues are explicitly decided upon and assigned to specific organisational positions or units (Groddeck & Wilz, 2015; Kühl, 2013; Luhmann, 1976). This entails that (new) tasks, responsibilities and communication channels are defined (sometimes along with the allocation of budgets) within the organisation. It is through this process of formalisation that HEOs were able to cope quickly and officially with the challenge of integrating refugee students.

## 4.5.2 Organised responsibility: The first contact position

Besides offering a variety of support programmes for refugees, the implementation of a new boundary position for this target group was a common measure among German HEOs. Each HEO in our sample had established such a 'first contact' position and, thus, formalised the responsibility for taking care of this group of students. In the following section, we focus on some of the relevant formal characteristics of this position.

#### The importance of personnel

As mentioned before, personnel have a bearing on the way organisational decisions are made. For example, the professional background of staff affects how problems are dealt with. Therefore, we asked how and whom HEOs did recruit for the new position of first contact. Some of the sampled HEOs chose an internal recruitment process and restricted the pool of candidates to persons from pre-existing staff (e.g., employees whose contracts were about to expire or former student assistants). Other HEOs recruited persons from outside the higher education system. In these cases, prior occupational experiences with refugees gathered in refugee advice centres reception centres or ('Erstaufnahmeeinrichtungen') were of paramount importance – especially with regard to supporting refugees in legal, societal, and psychosocial issues. Furthermore, our analysis shows that the different professional backgrounds and work experiences of these incumbents of first contact positions resulted in different approaches to create and maintain communication channels within and outside the organisation, which we will get back to in a later section (6.3).

However, the time-limit of the first contact positions reduces their chances to accomplish sustainable goals. All first contact positions in our sampled HEOs had fixed-term contracts with working hours varying from part-time to full-time. On the one hand this is due to the fact that the positions are externally funded by the programme 'Integra' which only provides time-limited resources. On the other hand, this is in line with the fact that most positions in German HEOs both in the academic and (increasingly) in the non-academic areas are fixed-term positions. E.g., 83 percent of academic staff have fixed-term contracts (DeStatis 2018).

## Tasks of first contacts

First contacts are generally responsible for several fields of activities:

"Well, I am responsible here for counselling and support for refugees, and yes, as that term implies, I advise the refugees when they come to us and explain their situation. Tell them which possibilities exist at the university. Advise, however, even if, for example, enrolling in a university is out of the question, who to turn to when it comes to training or something else. And yes, I'm also in charge of organising, so I'm also in contact with teachers and language institutes and organise the whole thing, as well as the financing of the projects." (FH4E1)

They counsel study-interested refugees by providing crucial information on enrolment and studying in Germany, by identifying previous skills and certificates, by assisting with the application process and partly by liaising with immigration offices and other offices like jobcentres, *BAföG*-offices ('*Amt für Ausbildungsförderung*', in charge of public financial support for eligible students), or welfare organisations. Another task is the coordination of the various offers for refugees (like language courses or preparatory courses) which are provided by different university units. A third area of responsibility consists in managing budgets (particularly external funds) and fulfilling the required reporting obligations. Additionally, in all sampled HEO, the 'first contacts' serve as formal boundary positions for internal and external communications about all matters concerning refugee students.

"What is special in that case is that in fact all persons with a refugee background first come to me, ideally. Even if they go elsewhere (...) I already have such good contact with my colleagues (...) that refugees will still be directed to me anyway. That is, this is the absolutely particular task, because I

am, I believe, in the university the only person who is explicitly responsible for refugees. (...) I am also concerned with residence and refugee rights and such problematics, [...] I believe, I am actually the central contact person. (U1E1)

This entails networking activities as one of the interviewees stated: "(...) networking is important for an adequate flow of information" (FH1E1). The networking activities refer to both internal and external networks and lead to paving new communication channels within the HEO as well as between the HEO and its environment.

#### Communication channels

The investigation of the communication channels of first contacts shows how they are embedded in the organisational hierarchy and how they contribute to and participate in internal and external networks.

In our sample, the first contact position is usually affiliated with the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) which is the national agency for the internationalisation of the German higher education system.

"Well, it's just that at the central level, the International Office in particular is the point of contact, even though the target group of refugees is a bit of a target group that is in between German students and international students. [...] But here at the central level, the responsibility lies clearly with the International Office". (U3E2)

However, this allocation of the first contact position to the International Office is only one possibility. As the quote shows, it is not predefined which of the well-known target groups of HEOs refugees are assigned to and, consequently, which organisational unit first contact positions are located in. Some examples in our sample show that the position of first contact is located in the Equal Opportunities Office or in the Diversity Management Office or in the Central Student Advisory Service and not in the International Office.

"Yes, well from our perspective, the project [for refugees] is there for that, just, (.) I mean, that's why it is affiliated with us in the Equal Opportunities Rectorate, [...] because equal opportunities [...] are created for access that that also international and, in our case, recently escaped prospective students also have a chance, have an equal opportunity to get into the study programmes." (U1E1)

The quote is remarkable as it suggests that HEOs differ in their rationales concerning the newly established target group "refugees". It illustrates that it is not clear whether the needs of study-interested refugees are a question of internationalisation (International Offices), a matter of equal opportunities (Equity/Diversity Management Department), or a task of the Central Student Advisory Service.

The second aspect of the first contact positions' communication channels we have examined are their professional ego-centred networks. With regard to these networks, we discern internal and external communication channels. Internally, the new position of first contact usually is connected to a variety of organisational units such as language centres, central student services, admission and examination offices or psychological counselling centres. This indicates that the goal programme of the first contact position can only be accomplished through cross-sectional networking.

The external communication channels are manifold, too, and involve various organisations like immigration offices, municipalities, job centres,  $BAf\ddot{o}G$ -offices, welfare organisations, or refugee advice centres. Some of those communicative relations (like those to the job centres) are new or rather unusual for HEOs and their organisational sub-units. Especially for the representatives of international offices, communicative relations to  $BAf\ddot{o}G$ -offices are uncommon since regular international students are not allowed to receive this kind of financial support. This shows that unusual and function-specific communication channels for first contact positions have been established in order to enable them to do their job.

Asked to compare the relevance of internal and external communication channels, the interviewees in our sample gave different answers. Depending on the individual professional background they show either preference for internal or for external communication. Those with a professional background in HEOs focus rather on internal communication channels involving other university units and members. First contacts with a professional background in refugee advice centres, reception centres ('Erstaufnahmeeinrichtungen'), or in welfare organisations relate more frequently the use of external communication channels. Hence, the previous professional experience of the first contacts determines the way they effectuate the communicative tasks of their position.

The variety of the first contacts' internal and external communication channels is a common characteristic of the HEOs we have investigated. The dense net of internal and external relations underpins once more the claim that the first contact positions are a boundary positions (Luhmann, 1976) which represent the goal programme 'responsibility

for supporting refugees' towards both the organisational members (within the organisation) and to the organisational environment, simultaneously channelling and passing on important information from the environment to the organisation and vice versa.

In summary, regarding the support for refugee students, first contact positions are supposed to accomplish a triple task: First, they undertake the organisation's communication with prospective refugee students as a new target group. Second, they coordinate and channel the communication of the various organisational units regarding this new target group. And third, they are boundary positions interconnected to the task-related societal environment of HEOs – visible through their various external communication channels.

## 4.6 Discussion and conclusion: From responses to responsibility

The subjects of our investigation were specific organisational units in German higher education organisations. It has shown how the organisational responsibility for supporting refugees in German HEO has emerged and was fostered through the formalisation of organisational structures, i.e. specific positions (first contact), personnel decisions (choice of incumbents for the first contact position), goal programs (as task of the first contact position), and (emerging) communication channels. In most studies on refugees in German higher education, this process of the HEOs' structural response is not explicitly addressed. Against this background, we briefly resume what caused which structural changes and then discuss the sustainability of those changes.

Several different factors have had an influence on the response of German HEOs to the refugee influx. Externally, the growing societal discourse on the need to support prospective refugee students (which was echoed and put forward by pioneers within the HEOs) was one factor (Streitwieser & Brück, 2018). Second, the immediate contact of universities with refugees who wanted to continue or start their studies in Germany has triggered structural changes. And third, the availability of public funding was important, too (Unangst, 2019). Internally, formal and informal acts of pioneers and decentral activities became formalised and led to new, specifically refugee-oriented structures. Initiatives for those changes came from various organisational levels: students, academic as well as administrative staff, and even some HEOs' presidents. While early responses and measures mostly were informal and voluntary, they subsequently became formalised. This enabled the organisation to deal with the (anticipated or experienced) high number of study-interested refugees without being dependent on individual commitment and

motivation (Kühl, 2013). In response to the external and internal factors, HEOs included refugees in their narrative of organisational responsibility and – partly – of internationalisation. This narrative paved the path and accompanied a number of structural changes. Based on early experiences with the refugees' demand and on the anticipation of their needs, existing organisational structures were (temporarily) altered and new formal structures were (temporarily) implemented, serving the purpose to support the refugees' access to HE.

All sampled HEO established first contact positions for counselling refugees, organising support and establishing as well as maintaining internal and external communication channels. These positions are formal boundary positions, channelling information between organisational units and the organisational environment with regard to refugee students. They replaced informal initiatives with organised responsibility.

From the point of view of organisation sociology, our observations show that HEO (like all organisations) tend to create new positions in order to remain flexible and innovative (Luhmann, 2018[2011], p. 255). However, our research also indicates that the new structures are not likely to have far-reaching temporal, factual, or social effects within the HEOs. Rather, they belong to the outside-oriented formal structure (Meyer and Rowan 1977) of organisations, to their organisational façade (Kühl, 2013) which organisations set up to gain legitimacy from their environment. The implemented goal programmes are only temporary projects limited to the time frame of available funding. Additionally, changes are restricted to the provision of support offers for refugees which are supposed to enable them to meet the criteria of applying for HE or for specific courses. But other organisational structures potentially affecting refugee students – in this case the conditional programmes regulating access and participation – in most cases remained unchanged: this applies to admission criteria, curricula, teaching styles, learning content, performance expectations etc. As to the social dimension, the goal programme of providing support for refugee students has addressed only a rather small and very specific subset of the 2.89 million students in Germany (DeStatis, 2020): So all in all, taking care of study-interested refugees does not seem to trigger far-reaching structural shifts in HEOs.

Another fact that prevents long-term effects is the limited access to financial resources. The indispensability of external funding for the sustainability and longevity of new structures for refugee students became obvious especially during the interviews conducted in 2018; they revealed the interviewees' great insecurity about the future of the established structures and programmes, as the continuation and extent of further funding

was unclear at that time. This indicates that the support for refugees was and still is organised as a *project*. This is problematic with regard to the sustainability of support, but serves two organisational interests of HEOs. First, projects are by definition finite and reversible, meaning that they can easily be adapted in terms of duration, expenditure and extent to changing circumstances. Second, the form of project-based work corresponds to the project form in which HEO carry out research (Besio, 2009; Torka, 2009). This correspondence of project-based support to the dominant form of research fosters the legitimacy of temporary structural shifts in HEOs.

The bottom line of our findings is ambivalent with regard to the readiness of German HEOs for structural changes: On the one hand, the observable modifications prove that actions of pioneers, flanked by discursive pressure, are able to initiate (at least) a temporary, formalised shift of goal programmes and other organisational structures, especially when encountering windows of opportunity in form of external funding. However, on the other hand the time limitation, locality and specificity of the formalised, but only temporarily implemented support measures for refugee students have left the structures of the HEOs' internationalisation and diversity offices widely untouched. This can be comprehended as an example of how partial change of organisational systems supports their overall stability – as Weick had stressed in his account of universities as loosely coupled systems (Weick, 1976). This could also be taken as an instance of slightly adjusting organisational programmes and semantics in order to answer new challenges, in this case by step-by-step integrating refugees into the group of international students and associating them with internationalisation (which 15 years back was beyond imagination in the discourse about the internationalisation of HE; Hahn, 2004).

It could be an interesting task for future research to look into the sustainability of the developments we have described in order to provide further insights into the degree of organisational change and organizational responsiveness in academia. Especially the temporal limitation of offers for refugee students should be analysed in view of the fact that many refugees need more time to obtain the necessary language proficiency and to deal with other challenges on their way into higher education. So, chances are that many support programmes may expire before they could actually come to fruition, thus jeopardising the sustainability of the measures taken.

5 Expectations, experiences and anticipated outcomes of supporting refugee students in Germany - A systems theoretical analysis of organizational semantics

Jana Berg

Berg, J. (2021). Expectations, experiences and anticipated outcomes of supporting refugee students in Germany – a systems theoretical analysis of organizational semantics. In N. Harrison & G. Atherton (Hrsg.), *Marginalised Communities in Higher Education - Disadvantage*, *Mobility and Indigeneity* (S. 97-118). London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429293399-9

**Abstract** 

Since 2015, many German higher education organizations (HEOs) have started programs to assist refugee students. Most of those initiatives focus on study preparation. Formally, refugees are treated as non-EU international applicants by German HEOs. The support structures are, however, based on a newly invented differentiation that introduced residence status as a relevant criterion for inclusion in support structures. Interviews with eight heads of international offices and 10 first contacts for refugees at eight HEOs show a variety of motivations for supporting refugees, including increased internationalization or diversification as well as following a third mission of social responsibility. Based on a systems theoretical discourse analysis, this paper analyzes how HEO members perceive refugees and which organizational rationales to support refugees they refer to. In this context, the paper asks whether or to what extent refugees are understood to be a part of the internationalization of higher education and how experiences with refugees could change organizational discourses.

**Keywords** 

Refugee students, systems theory, semantics, discourse analysis, internationalization

Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429293399-9">https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429293399-9</a>

6 International or refugee students? Shifting organisational discourses on refugee students at German higher education organisations

Jana Berg

Berg, J. (2022). International or refugee students? Shifting organisational discourses on refugee students at German higher education organisations. *International Studies in Sociology of Education* (online first). https://doi.org/10.1080/09620214.2022.2048264

**Abstract** 

Following the refugee influx of 2015 and 2016, many German higher education organisations (HEOs) responded with support programmes for refugee students. In this context, refugees became formally and discursively differentiated from other international students. During later stages of the programmes, this differentiation became blurred, and discourse surrounding refugee students partly shifted back to framing them as international students, which is also represented in further support programme development. Based on a systems theoretical framework, this paper investigates the shifting organisational discourse on refugee students within the context of functional needs and structural changes at German HEOs. The analysis shows that structural development is strongly related to the way functional needs and ways to address them are constituted by discursive representations. It is based on 25 expert interviews with heads of international offices and first contacts for refugees at eight German HEOs.

Keywords

Refugee students; higher education for refugees; discourse analysis; international students; discourse and structure; equity; inclusion

#### **6.1 Introduction**

Following the war in Syria, the German Federal Ministry for Migration and Refugees (BAMF) counted 441.899 new asylum applications in 2015, and 722.370 new applications in 2016 (BAMF 2020). Within the context of this peak in new asylum applications coupled with an international push for higher education for refugees (Yildiz 2019; UNHCR 2019), the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) started funding schemes for refugee student support programmes at German higher education organisations (HEOs) and preparatory colleges

Along with the increased public interest, a growing number of academic studies have been looking into higher education for refugees during recent years. While they often focus on the experiences and needs of refugee students (Akbalsi et al. 2019; Sontag 2019; Schneider 2018) and partly also on the introduction of support measures (Marcu 2018; Tzoraki 2019), only very few authors have used organisational theory to investigate offers for refugee students (Webb et al. 2019; Beigang 2021). However, organisational theory offers the opportunity to extend our understanding of the organisational contexts shaping the experiences of refugee students, and also to investigate the development of support programmes as an example of organisational responses to urgent developments and needs to act. Such organisational responsiveness cannot be planned and often has to be mapped out on a very short notice due to sudden changes and challenges- such as rapidly rising numbers of prospective refugee students applications or the Covid-pandemic. Immediate responses need to create new solutions in shifted environments and thus allow insights to the way organisations process challenges and create new as well as adapt old structures. Further, it shows the orientations they use with little time at hand. My research shows immediate reactions and further developments of structural changes and adaptations in the context of shifting narratives and highlights how HEIs struggle to meet challenges while reinforcing their original functions.

Based on interviews with heads of international offices and first contacts for refugee students, I aim to investigate the rapid and well-funded development of support programmes for refugee students as an example of HEO responsiveness to the needs of a newly emerging, or rather, in this case, newly defined target group. The analysis shows how discourses justify and shape organisational structures and shows the interplay between organisational discourse and structural development during and after organisational responses to urgent social developments. While previous research has highlighted the importance of social expectations to support refugee students (Streitwieser & Brück 2018)

as well as the activities of individual HEO members for the realisation of support offers (Webb et al. 2019), I aim to analyse how exactly the perception of refugee students has shaped and been shaped by the specific realisation of support structures at German HEOs by answering the following research questions:

- How are the organisational discourse on refugee students and the creation of support structures interrelated?
- How did organisational discourse on refugee students change throughout the duration of the student support projects?

By addressing these questions, I aim to develop an understanding of how organisational discourse, meaning the way refugee students are communicatively constituted as a group with specific characteristics within HEOs, changes based on changing functional objectives and how those discourses are manifested by the way support for refugee students is realised. Thus, the paper contributes to higher education research by investigating how discourse shapes organisational responsiveness to acute developments. It shows that structural development is not self-evident, but related to the way functional needs and ways to address them are constituted by discursive representations. For further research, this emphasises the importance of analysing representations. For higher education practitioners, this can be seen as an indicator to reflect on the origins and effects of discursive representations as well as exteral factors and frequently re-connect with the target group in order to clarify misunderstandings and re-adjust misrepresentations.

The results add on to a field that often focusses on the experiences and needs of refugee students and provides insights to organisational logics they are confronted with. In the context of refugee studies, this work examplarily shows how discourses are manifested in institutional structures. In addition to emphasizing the importance of acurate representation, the paper aims to examplarily use organisational theory to deepen our understanding of how institutional contexts that are central for refugees' experiences and chances in their host countries are established. This conceptual connection of representation, organisational discourse and structure development could be used to analyse living conditions of refugees beyond the scope of higher education. Finally, I suggest open research questions that could extend our understanding of organisational responses to refugees in higher education at the end of the paper.

The term 'refugee students' broadly refers to the interviewees' understanding of the term. Some support programmes are only open for students that applied for asylum in Germany. However, legal status is usually not checked before administering

programmefeatures such as counselling. Thus, in many cases, the term is likely not primarily related to a legal status, rather to the self-identification of students and/or the interviewees' identification of refugee students.

#### 6.2 Literature

Streitwieser distinguishes three types of participants in international education based on their motivation to migrate to a new country: First, 'mobility for enlightenment represents a voluntary educational enrichment for participants' (2019, p. 5). Second, mobility for opportunity refers to those who 'are generally focused on finding opportunities that are not afforded to their social, racial, ethnic, or national constituency or group' (2019, p. 6). And finally, 'the third group, Mobility for Survival, are those who are engaging in mobility for no other reason than that they have been forced out of their home countries or regions to find a new safe haven elsewhere' (ibid.). Arguably, the first group is mainly what we refer to when we speak of 'international students' and is often the focus of research surrounding international higher education. During recent years, however, research on higher education for refugees has increased along with public interest in the topic. Most studies designate refugee students as their own unique group and focus on examining students' everyday living conditions, their unique challenges and their chances of entering and completing higher education courses (Dahya and Dryden-Peterson 2017; Streitwieser et al. 2018; AbduRazak et al. 2019; Ramsay and Baker 2019). They may also focus on evaluating and investigating refugee student support programmes (Bajwa et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2017; Unangst 2019; Beigang et al. 2018; Schammann and Younso 2016, 2017). I intend to introduce a new perspective to the research on higher education for refugee students by investigating the interplay between organisational discourse and the initiation, formalisation and further development of programmatic offers for refugee students at German HEOs. I believe that understanding how refugees are perceived and positioned within organisational structures can extend our understanding of the presuppositions the newly created support structures are based on. These structures determine the structural conditions refugees face while entering and obtaining a higher education, and can be crucial for the (mis)representation of refugee students' needs and interests (Dunwoodie et al., 2020).

# 6.3 Discursive representations of international students with and without the experience of forced migration

'International students are a diverse group, but they have often been spoken about in academic literature and in academic conversations as an entity, rather than as individuals with a range of personal histories and experiences, and a range of personal motivations and desires which have constructed the desire to become an international student.' (Koehne 2005, p. 104)

Research on discursive representations of international students has shown a variety of attributions and discursive constructions. In for-profit higher education systems, international students are often described as customers or consumers, buying and consuming higher education as a biographic and labour-market oriented investment (Lomer 2018; Koehne 2005). However, studies on discursive representations of international students have shown a number of alternative constructions, such as students as future assets for national labour markets or hard-working and productive contributors to the success, prestige and international positioning of HEOs (Brooks 2018). Overall, there appear to be competing discourses of vulnerability and support needs on the one hand, and high achievement and employability on the other hand (Karram 2013; Lomer 2018). Strikingly, in an analysis of 16 English policy documents, Brooks found that international students were seldom represented as learners. 'Moreover, in the vast majority of texts, references to liberal goals such as 'analytical and critical thinking' are wholly absent' (Brooks2018, p. 752).

Such discourses are momentous in that they not only shape the rationale and configuration of education policies but also offer limited available subject positions and identity aspects (Koehne 2005; Klaus 2020). Whether or not refugees are conceptually framed as a part of the internationalisation of higher education often seems to be more related to authors' (implicit) presuppositions than to the actual investigation of practices and understandings within the field of higher education. Although general interest in the topic is growing, little research has been conducted to examine how refugee students are being constructed by members of their host countries or the receiving HEOs. Among the few exceptions are Anderson's (2019) study of media representations of international and refugee students in Canada and Ergin's (2016) study of the perspectives of Turkish students regarding their co-students who experienced forced migration. Generally, discourses on refugee students seem to focus on deficit and need, or, when more positively framed, on the great support they receive, while international students seem to be framed as an asset

to the host society, e.g., through contributing to labour markets and promoting intercultural experiences with domestic students. It also appears that discourses on international students are more nuanced and include topics such as 'the student services discourse of support and care' (Karram 2013, p. 12). These discourses may also question the actual value of international students as migrants (Lomer 2018; Anderson 2019).

### 6.4 Theoretical framework

In order to combine the analysis of organisational structural development and organisational discourse, I analysed interviews with first contacts for refugees and heads of international offices based on a systems theoretical framework (Luhmann 1970). In the field of higher education studies, Luhmann's system theory offers concepts by which to analyse (self-) representations and the position of higher education and HEOs within society (Stichweh 2014; Schimank 2012; Nägler 2019; Hamann et al. 2017). While it is widely acknowledges in the German context, it has only recently started to gain international attention (Luhmann 2018 [2011]). Instead of focussing on socio-political implications (Webb et al. 2019, p. 208) or organisational change (Mahoney and Thelen 2010), function-structuralist systems theory crentres on communicative adaptability. It provides the framework to investigate communicative acts and their structural consequences, but also structural factors that limit the reception of communication along the lines of expectations and existing organisational settings and routines. This focus allows a structural description and analysis of organisational decision making and structural development which is based on actual communication and structural connections rather than on presumed processes. Due to itsapproaches to both organisational theory (Luhmann 2018 [2011]) and discourse analysis (Luhmann 1980), systems theory provides the ideal framework to analyse the interplay of organisational discourse and structure development and thus seems the appropriate choice regarding my research questions. This is currently missing in much of the scholarship on refugees in higher education. Previous studies have used neo-institutionalist frameworks to look into support measures for refugee students (Webb et al. 2019; Beigang 2021). By applying a systems theoretical framework, I aim to expand the understanding of the organisational contexts that determine and shape the situation of refugees in higher education and introduce a new application of systems theory in higher education studies.

Systems theory understands society as a system consisting of a set of sub-systems. In this paper, I look at HEOs as organisational systems. They include a number of subsystems, such as internationalisation offices or matriculation offices. Systems are primarily constituted by communication and communicative expectations (Luhmann 2018 [2011], p. 68). It should be noted that systems theory uses the term communication rather broadly, referring to all actions or operations. Each system creates a self-description that refers to its specific purpose and forms a number of communicative expectations. By this definition, a family, a political party and HEOs are systems with different goals and expectations. HEOs as well as their sub-units each have defined roles and include a set of communicative expectations for valid or relevant actions and information that are understood to be part of the organisation or organisational unit – or, in other words, the system or sub-system. Instead of being reduced to one specific role, people may be members of numerous of systems. For example, a mother can be politically active while also teaching in higher education. Each of the systems she is included in requires different methods of communication from her and, in turn, she will expect different communications from the system-members in each of these separate systems.

Systems theoretical discourse analysis calls for a correlation between social knowledge and social structures (Luhmann 1980, p. 15). In this paper, support structures for refugee students at HEOs include all positions, communications, expenses and support measures that relate to refugee students. According to Luhmann, semantics define the boundaries of meaning ('Sinn') to avoid arbitrariness. The entirety of all social expectations and boundaries that define possible meanings are summed up as a society's semantics. In his study of the influence of discourses on universities' representations and public profiles, Nägler (2019) pointed out that universities' semantics can refer and relate to various regional and global contexts. Thus, meaning is both system and contextdependent. Discourses are systems that produce highly specific semantics (Stichweh 2000). For example, the discourse of refugee students within HEOs consists of all communications that can be identified as relating to refugee students. The discourse produces underlying semantics that define what is thinkable, knowable and doable, or in short, what is communicable with regards to refugee students. This discourse-producing system is closely intertwined with the organisational system and its sub-units, or more precisely, with all the structures and processes that are related to refugee students (Berg n.d.). In this context, I presume all representations of refugee students in the context of HEOs to be part of the organisational discourse on refugee students. The boundaries of this discourse are shaped by the boundaries of the organisation. Discourse includes all possible communications regarding refugee students in the context of higher education. My interview analysis focuses on actors that were involved in the planning and realisation of programmes for refugee students and on those that can provide insights to the perspective of key actors in the field.

#### 6.5 Data and methods

This paper is based on selected data from 25 interviews with practitioners at eight German HEOs. They are part of a research project on organisational responses to the refugee influx in German higher education that I have been working on since spring 2017.

Between summer 2017 and summer 2018, I conducted expert interviews (Bogner et al. 2002) with ten first contacts for refugees 10 and eight heads of international offices at four public universities and four public universities of applied sciences (T1). The sampling criteria were: a) existing offers for refugee students, b) regional distribution in Germany, c) the main focus of strategy papers and mission statements and d) the availability of at least two interviews (first contact and head of international office) per HEO. In order to cover different areas and socioeconomic contexts, the sampled HEOs are located in seven different states, in cities of different sizes and spread throughout Germany. Further, it should be noted that two universities and two universities of applied sciences were primarily focused on research in their mission statements, while the other four HEOs emphasized equity and inclusion, as researchers have argued that perspectives and strategies can vary between teaching and research-oriented HEOs (Bolsmann and Miller 2008). All HEOs in the sample had received public funding from either federal or statelevel funding schemes in order to establish their offers for refugee students.

The interviewees were sampled as experts based on their central positions in planning, realising, and thus shaping, support for refugee students. First, first contacts work directly with refugee students and are often in charge of developing and/or coordinating support programmes. Second, heads of international offices are involved in the strategic planning and execution of organisational internationalisation goals.

136

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In the context of support programs for refugees, all sampled HEOs established positions in charge of counselling and often also coordinating support programs for refugees. In summary, I refer to those positions as first contacts.

The interview guidelines covered a number of topics, including support for refugee students, challenges for refugees in entering and obtaining higher education in Germany and the initiation and establishment of (at the time) newly created offers to support them. I also asked about interviewees' perceptions of refugee students in the context of the internationalisation of German higher education.

In late 2019 and early 2020 (T2), I conducted follow-up interviews with one first contact at seven of the sampled HEOs. During these interviews, I focussed on the further development and potential continuation of the programmes for refugee students. The first contact had changed at two of the HEOs. I therefore conducted follow-up interviews with new interview partners at these two HEOs. These interviews are also included in the analysis; however, though both new interview partners allowed for recording, transcription and analysis of the interviews, they did not give their permission to be quoted word-forword.

In order to analyse the interdependence of organisational discourses on refugee students and the creation and development of support structures, I pre-coded all interviews and focussed on segments referring to the initiation and development of support offers and the practitioners' perspectives on refugee students. As a next step, I wrote case descriptions that allowed for a comparative analysis of programm development as well as underlying discourses as they were described by each interviewee. I specifically focussed on how they argued for the relevance of offers for refugees in general and also the need for specific offers in relation to the skills and needs of refugee students. Finally, I compared my results with the phrasing of the calls for applications for federal funding from the original funding phase (2017-2019) and the recent follow-up phase.

## 6.6 Results

# 6.6.1 From international students to refugee students

Before 2015, refugee students were not formally differentiated from other international students with no experience of forced migration. Regardless of their legal status, they could apply and enrol to study in Germany as long as they fulfilled regular access criteria, including meeting language proficiency requirements, completing a university entrance certificate and meeting subject and HEO-specific criteria.

Based on an emerging discourse of the desirability of support for refugee students, newly available federal and state-level funding schemes, an increase in counselling requests from refugee students and the initial decentral activities of staff members, many German HEOs began to initiate support for refugee students.

In this context, refugee students needed to be differentiated from other international students in order to become formally addressable by HEOs. Therby, supporting them became a communicative expectation, or in other words, an expectable and thus valid communication which allowed the formalisation of respective support structures. It was accompanied by a newly-emerging organisational discourse on refugee students that is constituted by defining them as a target-group and ascribing them with specific characteristis (Berg n.d.), which will be discussed in more detail throughout this section. This discourse appeared to have two main functions: To identify the need for support and to legitimize support for a relatively small group. Primarily, the presumed needs had to first be identified in order to develop appropriate support structures. This main discursive function shaped the discourse's strong deficit-orientation: Assumptions about refugee students' needs and vulnerabilities became central to mapping out specific support structures and thus to how they were perceived and described by HEO-members.

'And it really is about, what does one need to study? What is teamwork? What is project work? [...] That independent work is different here than from what they probably know from university. In case they already studied at their homeland-universities. [...] And we also have additional workshops that aim at independent learning.' (Head International Office, University of Applied Sciences 4, T1, (all interview quotes translated from German by the author)

The above quote emphasises a presumed unfamiliarity with German academic practices, knowledge and skills that recurred throughout the intervews and seems to have centrally shaped support programmes for refugee students in Germany. Strikingly, this presumption was even made regarding those refugee students that already had German study experiences. Such attributions can be seen as eliminating students' capacity to adapt and reinforcing cultural or national stereotypes. As Koehne has argued: 'Essentialising the language and skill levels of students as a group, such as South East Asian, is shown to be unsubstantiated. Stereotyping assumptions lead to the danger of dealing with students as racial groups.' (2005, p. 104).

This focus on refugees' needs was also part of another function of the emerging discourse, which was to justify the support for refugee students. On the one hand, this was done by emphasizing their great need in contrast to an ideal study situation (Berg, 2020).

On the other hand, refugees were framed as a new group of motivated students that benefittedg HEOs by diversifying and internationalising the student body (Berg n.d.). This contributed to a nuanced discourse portraying refugee students as both beneficiaries of and contributors to an enhanced academic experience. Similar implications have also been described in relation to international students, who are, for example, frequently discussed as a potential asset to the German labour market (Schäfer and Henn 2020). However, even though refugee students were referred to in part within the context of HEOs' internationalisation, it was clearly stated by a number of interviewees that they differed from other groups of international students. While the focus of support for refugee students was clearly on their inclusion in higher education, arguments for differentiation from other international students referred to refugees' everyday living situations and the circumstances of their migration. The emphasis on such differences eventually implied that in order to meet the specific needs of this group, specialised personnel and programmes were needed.

'Yes, so we compared this. And this is a much bigger challenge for us. [I: In comparison to whom?] So, we, in comparison to Chinese students, who are just here. We also have a group of Russian students. It is not at all comparable to them. There, the study discipline is outstanding. And with the Chinese, there is the problem that, I think, exists globally —the isolation. But there we do not have that many subject-specific problems. And also, for German language exams, they study and they come and they somehow make it.' (Head International Office, University of Applied Sciences 2, T1)

'I think the two main differences are that firstly they have just been ripped away. There was no decision to come to Germany, but they had certain reasons why they had to leave their country and flee and suddenly found themselves in a new country. [...] That means it was in fact no decision. They are completely at the mercy of their new situation, which they can only limitedly influence.[...]. Of course, many of them do not have their credentials here, have the entire background- no documents and still have to manage to be recognised here.' (Head International Office, University 1, T1)

As illustrated in the above quotes, refugees are argumentatively differentiated from other international students. Their level of skill and preparation for German higher education is questioned, even explicitly, in comparison to other groups of international students. At the same time, their skills, discipline and potential achievements are portrayed as indeterminable, which seems to reflect practitioners' insecurities about dealing with a new

group of students. Yet, it also underscores how categorising international students into subgroups can still produce generalisations. Moreover, refugee students are represented as passive and 'completely at the mercy of their new situation' (Head international office, University 1, T1). Instead of competing or diverse representations, the representation of refugee students is mainly characterised by prevalence of deficit as a leading topic of discourse. This seems to be reinforced by the objective to identify refugee students' needs and develop support structures. In his analysis of Canadian media representations of international and refugee students, Anderson (2019) found similar differences between the more nuanced representation of international students, which ranges from attributions of high academic achievements and monetary benefit to a focus on their support needs, and the reductive representation of refugee students, which focussed on needs and welfare.

Even though all T1-interviewees recognized the need to support refugee students and generally agreed that their situation differed from those of other international students, some argued that it would be in the best interest of refugee students to quickly become 'regular' international students in order to avoid isolation, discrimination and stigmatisation. Further, as the following quote illustrates, the interviewees identified a number of support needs that were not specific to refugee students, hinting at the need for more general support structures and partly questioning the newly established differentiation:

'On the other hand, we have the discussion at our university that this does not only concern refugees, but it has an aspect for all internationals [...]. Because they all have cultural issues, language issues, contextual communication issues. This is present everywhere. But you can break it down even further. It is not different with German students, too. We increasingly notice that they have great deficit when they enter university after school. And thus, this question is a huge topic for us right now. Whether we should do it and then at what level do we indeed only do it for a certain target group. Or should we really do it for all?' (Head International Office, University 1, T1)

### **6.6.2** From refugee students to international students

In late 2019 and early 2020, I conducted follow-up interviews with first contacts at seven of the sampled HEOs. The situation had changed significantly in comparison to previous interviews. Due to the time-limit of federal or state-level funding schemes that HEO programming for refugee students was based on, support was realised in the context of

fixed-term projects in all sampled cases. For federal funding, the call for applications for a new Integra funding period had changed compared to the first one that read: 'The measures' focus is the support of subject-specific and linguistic preparation at study preparation colleges and higher education institutions' (DAAD 2016, translated from German by the author). By comparison, the latest call for applications describes fundable activities as follows:

'The demand for study preparation courses is still given, but the increasing transition to studies creates new needs for support. Thus, in addition to study-preparation, one focus of the measures lies on study-related language, subject, and methodology courses at higher education institutions. In order to meet the potential of optimal student support available for additional international students, the offers should be opened for regular international students based on a defined key. Based on the structural development and expansion of various measures, international students including refugees should be prepared for their career entry.' (DAAD 2019, translated from German by the author)

While the previous call for applications had exclusively addressed support for refugee students, notably, the new one includes 'regular' international students. While this differentiation somewhat underlines the exceptional position of refugee students, it is used in the context of reducing practical differentiations: Refugee students should be included in the same support programmes as all international students. This sentiment seems to increase throughout different study phases. The target group of study preparations is not specifically mentioned, but it can be assumed that it continues to mainly address refugees. Further, measures to support enrolled refugee students throughout their studies are to be opened to include other international students. And finally, refugees should be included in measures that are meant to support labour market access for all international students.

In their applications for the new funding phase, all interviewees described additional measures for enrolled international and refugee students. However, they still emphasized the specific need to support study preparation programming for refugee students.

'So especially considering study preparation offers, it would be nice if they could continue, I think. However, I would not like to create too many parallel structures for refugee students. Because this does not necessarily help the integration at the university location or the university community. Therefore, I actually think it is good

to increasingly make refugees aware of existing offers. Just to keep them in touch with other students of [University 3].' (First Contact, University 3, T2)

How refugee students were addressed seemed to change throughout their educational biography: refugee applicants and prospective students should become international students and then regular applicants to the (German) labour market over time.

The above considerations are reflected in the further development of support programmes as they were described in follow-up interviews in December 2019 and January 2020. Of the seven HEOs that could be reached for follow-up interviews, six had applied for further funding. Those HEOs all emphasised an integration of offers for refugee students with those for all international students and planned to introduce additional support for enrolled students along with application training and other measures to promote labour market access. This appears to be a precaution, as no interviewee was aware of refugee students that had passed their preparatory support programmes and were now coming close to graduating. Considering the brief time frame since the establishment of the support structures, this is unsurprising.

Another aspect that shows the differentiation in dependence on the educational phase is the lack of data collection on enrolled refugee students. When public and academic interest in higher education for refugees increased, it was difficult to obtain knowledge on refugee students because German HEOs did not collect and certainly did not publish information on their students' legal status (Streitwieser and Brück 2018). With the exception of maintaining some existing contacts, this has generally not changed at the HEOs in the sample. This was partly due to formal barriers, but it also did not appear to be a priority for some interviewees. If all international students are targeted by programming, there seems no need to explicitly identify refugee students.

'This is something that is done here at the university anyway. I mean aside from my position and a few specific offers, we generally try to design those offers for all international students. [...] Meaning, always for the entire target group. And it has been like this from the beginning. Thus, it has not been pushed forward to identify them more. and thus we cannot keep track of how many refugees we have at the university.' (First Contact, University 2, T2)

Relativizing differences between international students and refugee students resembled ideas and practices that they already had described in the T1 interviews. Though designed to address specific needs, the grouping of refugee students into a separate category could

unintentionally lead to their exclusion from social interaction and crucial aspects of student life. This reflects previous findings from interviews with refugee students about conflicts with their fellow international students (Grüttner et al. 2018, p. 126) and indicates unintended consequences of formal differentiations and support.

Consequently, throughout the follow-up interviews, first contacts that had applied for further funding welcomed the integration of programmes for refugee and international students and felt that this integration was in line with their perception of refugee students as international students with additional challenges and their motivation to quickly integrate them with the general student body.

'So, in our new applications, it is always considered and in the German classes it has always been the case that refugees and non-refugees came together. Well, it was free for refugees and not for the others, but they always did it together. And we also never send anyone away from the math course, just because he had the wrong residence permit. Because the problems are the same. Just the finances were regulated differently back then, the financial resources. But now it is the case that the DAAD has also noticed this and international students are now allowed in most projects.' (First Contact, University 2, T2)

One interview partner also mentioned the difficulty of engaging refugee students in programmes that were explicitly advertised as support for refugees:

'Because they think to themselves, I do not want that, no idea, to be stigmatised or whatever. Or then it is said, yes, they receive so much support and we others do not. Therefore, we try to solve it this way, that it actually is open to everyone.' (First Contact, University 2, T2)

It seems that the new call for applications strengthened previous perceptions of refugee students as international students and enforced strategies and programmes to develop in this direction. While only recently established as their own separate target group, HEO-members now appeared eager to make the differentiation of refugee students obsolete after their enrolment.

## 6.7 Discussion

The changing discourses on refugee students can be seen as an example of the interrelation of functional needs, organisational discourses and structure development. The discourse initially seemed to follow two main objectives: first, to identify refugees' needs in order to

create relevant support structures and second, to justify this support. The interviews from 2017 and 2018 show that with the introduction of service offers for refugees, refugee students became formally and discursively differentiated from other international students. with the functional need to justify support measures for this small group, which led to a strong focus on their (presumed) deficits and needs. At the same time, this very differentiation was perceived to put refugee students at risk of exclusion and potential stigmatisation. Thus, further on, this differentiation was relativized, and the discourse shifted towards describing and addressing refugee students as international students. This is reflected in a shift of support programmes from separate study preparation courses to inclusive support programmes for all enrolled international students (Beigang 2021).

Structural adaptations and discourses are closely enmeshed and dependent on one other. In addition to growing experiences with the newly established target group and the aim to quickly integrate refugee students, national funding conditions strongly influenced the development of organisational discourses and support structures. 'Because we act according to DAAD requirements,[our support for refugee students] also changed of course' (U4 E1 T2). However, those funding requirements are not an isolated external effect but are partly based on feedback from the field. As one interviewee points out:

'I think it is an interplay with the DAAD. They also hear from the universities what is missing and what is requested. And it is of course clear that those that are enrolled now also need offers that probably do not exist. [...] And the DAAD notices this, and they include it in the applications, so this is an interplay.' (First Contact, University 2, T2)

In conclusion, just as with the development of structures, discourses on refugee students are not only based on experiences with and perceptions of refugee students. They are also narrowed down to aspects that are relevant for and addressable by HEOs, reflecting and used to justify the current agenda of programme development efforts, as well as being interrelated with funding requirements. As systems of meaning-production, or rather, as systems that limit possibilities and thus define the boundaries of meaning regarding a specific topic (Luhmann 1980, p. 40), these discourses fulfil a specific function: They create knowledge about refugee students that is compatible with HEOs as organisational systems. They can thus result in, and also be reshaped by, corresponding structural developments.

Finally, it should be noted that the numerous factors that influence discourses on refugee students are based on perceived needs and do not necessarily reflect the actual needs of refugee students (Webb et al. 2019). Offers for refugee students were shaped by funding requirements, the extent of (perceived) organisational accountability and assumptions about refugee student needs. Especially during the initiation period of structural support offers, these ascribed needs were generally not based on real experiences with refugee students but merely on assumptions. This emphasises the importance of representation: the more familiar practitioners are with the diverse situations and needs of the students they are dealing with, the more they are able to establish fitting support structures. As Unangst and Crea (2020) have pointed out, successful programmes should allow an adaptable variety of offers in order to meet students' diverse needs.

# 6.8 Implications for further research

It seems imperative to triangulate research on policy, practice and the perspectives and situation of refugee students in order to analyse whether and how well the needs and potentials of refugee students are being met by services that are provided based on presumed needs. Further, the HEOs in this sample reported very different developments of the numbers of prospective refugee students willing to participate in their support programmes. In this rather small sample, no relation to the HEOs or the cities size could be determined except for a possible tendency for more demand in larger cities. One of the interview partners mentioned communication strategies as vital for contact with refugee students. Further analysis of the development of prospective refugee students' demand for support could provide fruitful insight into the reasons for such varying developments. Also, HEOs' communicative expectations are strongly shaped by national contexts. Germany is a wealthy nation that traditionally boasts tuition-free public higher education. It would be interesting to compare higher education for refugees internationally, especially when considering historical and cultural differences regarding public and private education, national wealth and different approaches to asylum policy. The Global South and neighbouring countries, who host the majority of forcefully displaced people worldwide, have been especially underrepresented in studies on higher education for refugees.

Another important aspect with regard to refugee students as domestic and/or international students is that international students are identified based on their foreign higher education entrance certificate. It will be an important follow-up question to identify and address the needs of refugee students who apply as domestic students with German

high school diplomas. And finally, in this context, the self-identification of refugee students poses an important follow-up question. Previous research has shown their need to construct, maintain and coordinate different and partly contradictory identities as refugees and students or online learners (Klaus 2020; Brunton et al. 2019; Farrell et al. 2020). In addition to the identity work, it would be important to look into the potential practical results of self-identification. For example whether the labelling of programmeoffers as being for refugee or for international students impacts how they are used by refugee students. Such research could further be used to critically compare the needs and features ascribed to refugee students by organisational discourse with self-identified needs and self-descriptions of refugee students. Systems theory could provide a helpful framework to identify organisational difficulties and chances in processing and using such self-descriptions in order to improve support structures to better fit their target group.

# 7 Support for prospective refugee students in Germany: Quo vadis?

Jana Berg

Berg, J. (2021). Support For Prospective Refugee Students in Germany: Quo Vadis? In B. Hall & R. Tandon (Hrsg.), *Socially Responsible Higher Education - International Perspectives on Knowledge Democracy* (S. 228-242). Leiden/ Boston: Brill Sense. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004459076\_019">https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004459076\_019</a>

#### **Abstract**

Social engagement can be seen as a crucial part of the third mission of higher education organisations. One aspect of adopting social responsibility is supporting access to higher education for marginalised and underrepresented groups. This chapter describes the introduction and development of support structures for refugee students in Germany. It identifies the principal challenges for and influences on such structures and makes recommendations on how to support their continued existence.

# **Keywords**

Refugee Students – Third Mission – Access to Higher Education

# 7.1 Introduction

Social responsibility has many facets within higher education: it can be realised in research topics, in promoting and facilitating innovation, in methods and content of teaching, but it also in ensuring access to knowledge and formal learning environments, meaning higher education organisations (HEOs11). In recent years, access to higher education for refugees has become a priority for politicians and HEOs alike. Since the peak of asylum applications in 2015 and 2016, many German HEOs have implemented strategies to support refugees in entering higher education (Schammann & Younso, 2016; Schröder et al., 2019; UNESCO, 2018), in the majority of cases by addressing a group that had not been specifically supported or targeted in this context before 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> My analysis was based on a systems theoretical framework. In order to investigate decision making and the initiation, formalisation and further development of support structures for refugees, I looked into universities and universities of applied sciences as organisations rather than institutions.

Based on a research project into support for refugee students in Germany, this chapter seeks to contribute to the discussion on social responsibility in higher education by discussing support for refugee students in the context of the HEOs' third mission and examining the organisational challenges faced in initiating, formalising and maintaining programmes for refugee students. Finally, it suggests how HEOs could be helped to maintain their support for refugee students.

#### 7.2 Third Mission

Traditionally, the primary objectives of HEOs were understood to be teaching and research. An additional, third, mission has become increasingly important in recent decades: 'the dialogue between science and society' (Predazzi, 2012, p. 17). HEOs are expected to leave the safety of their ivory towers and engage with society in order 'to take a more visible role in stimulating and guiding the utilization of knowledge for social, cultural and economic development' (E3M, 2012, p. 5). This includes a broad range of activities in the areas of 'technology transfer and innovation, continuing education and social engagement' (E3M, 2012, p. 8). The latter may include research and output on relevant and critical topics, teaching strategies such as service learning (Berthold et al., 2010, p. 31), and community engagement. It may also include widening participation and critically questioning the status quo, as well as normative and hegemonic knowledge. HEOs are likely to approach their third mission in close connection to their first two missions, research and teaching (Henke et al., 2016, p. 14). Their engagement with refugee students can be seen as an example of this approach: the majority of support structures address study preparation, with current developments extending to support throughout their studies. This creates a 'mission overlap' (E3M, 2012, p. 8) between teaching and social responsibility, related to the internationalisation and diversification of the student body.

However, although a general expectation prevails that HEOs will fulfil their third mission, their first mission – research – carries the greatest incentives. With few exceptions, their ratings, reputation and funding are linked to their research performance and output and, to a lesser extent, to excellent teaching (Schneidewind, 2016). Social dimensions are underrepresented in devising university rankings (Nyssen, 2018). Based on a systems-theoretical understanding of HEOs as organisations, this chapter looks at the introduction and development of support for refugee students. It identifies changing focuses and practical concerns as well as the factors influencing the realisation and modification of

support structures for refugee students. Finally, it asks how HEOs may be supported in realising their third mission.

### 7.3 Data and methods

This chapter is based on 25 expert-interviews at eight German HEOs, including four universities and four universities of applied sciences, located in 7 different German states across the country. One university and one university of applied sciences are located in the same German city and cooperated in introducting a support programme for refugee students. The remaining HEOs are located in different areas. The HEOs were selected based on their regional distribution and emphasis on either internationalisation or diversification in their mission statements. In order to be included in the sample, they needed to offer support for refugee students.

Between summer 2017 and summer 2018, I conducted interviews with the head of the international offices and the counsellor for refugees, hereinafter referred to as the first contact, at each HEO. At two HEOs, two first contacts were interviewed. Additionally, I conducted follow-up interviews with the first contacts of seven of the sampled HEOs in late 2019 and early 2020. The timing of the interviews allows an insight into the early development (2017), adjustments and further development (2018) and late stages (2019/20) of the programmes. During the last interviews, the majority of HEOs were awaiting the outcomes of their funding applications for, often adapted, follow-up projects.

Building on a previous analysis of challenges for refugee students (Berg, 2018), the introduction and formalisation of the support offered at German HEOs (Berg et al., 2021) and organisational semantics on supporting refugees (Berg, 2021a), this chapter investigates the organisational challenges and factors influencing the realisation and maintenance of support structures, as well as the possibilities for supporting HEOs in order to ensure ongoing support for refugee students. Based on these research interests, a deductive coding scheme was developed and the follow-up interviews were partly transcribed with a focus on the changes in existing and plans, the plans for new programmes, the challenges in realising them, the aspects influencing the development and realisation of programmes, and structural factors, such as personnel, networks and resources. All interviews were coded according to those topics. For each HEO, a case description was written and, finally, those descriptions were compared in order to identify and generalize the central topics.

## 7.4 Higher education for refugees

In its fourth sustainable development goal, the United Nations (UN) aims to 'ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all' by 2030 (United Nations, 2019). However, in 2019 only 3% of refugees had access to higher education. By 2030, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) aims to increase this number to 15% (UNHCR, 2019). UNHCR's measures to support higher education for refugees include providing guidelines for countries and HEOs and information on scholarships for refugee students, such as the Connected Learning in Crisis Consortium, and the Albert Einstein German Academic Refugee Initiative (DAFI), which offers scholarships for undergraduate refugee students. During recent years, the European Union has also increased its support for refugee students, for example by funding research as well as funding projects to support HEOs in integrating refugees through the Erasmus+ programme. In Germany, the peak of new asylum applications sparked a discussion on the importance of supporting refugees' education, and also on the potential of refugees for the German labour market (Streitwieser & Brück, 2018). At the same time, many of the newly arrived refugees intended to start or pursue higher education and approximately one third were expected to hold the formal entrance qualifications (Brücker et al., 2016). In this context, the Federal Ministry for Education and Research (BMBF) and the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) started funding schemes to support study preparation for refugees at German HEOs. Similar programmes were made available at a regional level in some states ('Bundesländer'), leading to the formalisation of support programmes at HEOs throughout the country within a similar time-frame.

In German higher education, the authority for many decisions, such as admission criteria and procedures for individual study programmes or the eligibility of foreign documents lies primarily with individual HEOs. Thus, whether and how policy implications and guidelines are implemented depends directly on individual institutional policies.

However, it can generally be stated that, irrespective of their residence status, refugee students are formally treated in the same way as international students from countries outside the European Union. In most cases, that means that they can apply in the usual way as soon as they fulfil the admission criteria, which usually include language certificates and an entrance qualification. Students with credentials that do not meet the criteria for direct entrance have to take an assessment test ('Feststellungsprüfung').

Preparatory colleges ('Studienkollegs') offer courses for international students to help them prepare for this test (Grüttner et al., 2018). Before the refugee influx in 2015-2016, refugees were barely recognised or supported in the context of German higher education. Instead, they competed with all international students for a limited number of study places.

Generally, refugees face similar challenges to other international students, such as social isolation, financial challenges and lack of language proficiency. Due to the circumstances of forced migration, the rules and restrictions of the asylum procedure and their often precarious situations, they also face a number of additional challenges, such as trauma or psychological distress, gaps in their educational biography, missing documents or contradictory formal requirements from different organisations (Berg, 2018; Détourbe & Goastellec, 2018; Grüttner et al., 2018; Unangst & Streitwieser, 2018). Further, the processes and requirements of HEOs are built on organisational assumptions about typical students, which can create difficulties for those who do not fit these norms (Baker & Irwin, 2019).

# 7.5 First steps, experiences and structural changes: The development of support offers for refugee students

The interviews with HEO members offer an insight into what can be seen as four stages of programme initiation and development at German HEOs. These are preceded by the identification of a topic and a need to act which, in this case, was closely connected to the public discourse on educating refugees as well as to practical demands, such as a rapidly increasing number of counselling requests from prospective refugee students. This identification of a topic means that HEO members become aware of an issue and not only of the need to act, but the need to do so in the context of their HEO's mission and scope of action. Previous research has shown high levels of ambition to support refugees among HEO members at all hierarchical levels and has emphasized the importance of this engagement in establishing support structures (Webb et al., 2019). When asked about their for supporting refugee students, HEO members often referred to internationalisation, diversification and a third mission or social responsibility and, from these points, referred to formal self-descriptions of their respective HEOs, such as internationalisation strategies or mission statements. Moreover, refugee students were seen as enriching the diversity and internationality of the student body and as potentially highly motivated new students (Berg, 2021a).

"As I said, those two aspects, this is just a, a not necessarily new group, but an increasingly important group. Precisely in this entire area of diversity of internationalisation. And in the area of social responsibility." (U1E2, all quotes translated from German by JB)

This shows that the need to support refugee students is understood and communicated within the context of organisational goals and strategy papers which already exist. Although refugees are not specifically addressed by existing strategies, these are sufficiently vague to allow refugee students to be newly established as a target-group within their context. This is not merely understood as an act of kindness, but rationalised within the organisations aims and expected benefits. For example, some participants explicitly highlighted the potential, created by their current experiences with refugee students, to improve the support offered to all international students by raising awareness of their situation and needs (Berg, 2021a).

# 7.6 Four stages of programme initiation and development

Firstly, as previously mentioned, pioneers initiated decentral voluntary engagement. Academic and administrative staff from a range of hierarchical levels, as well as students, became active (Berg et al., 2021). Their engagement included initial networking, counselling refugees after hours, mentorship initiatives and social activities such as sports groups. Law students started refugee law clinics to provide legal counselling for refugees. The importance of these initial decentralised actions was emphasised throughout the interviews and demonstrates that people are crucial in providing these initial impulses and initiating direct action for HEOs' social engagement. The principal challenges faced during that time were on the individual level, working extra hours or managing insecurities in how to address the specific issues of this target-group.

"In Summer 2015, many more people that had fled came to the university to get information. And nobody knew where to send them. Everybody felt that this was a completely new topic and, somehow, nobody felt it was their responsibility. Then the state announced that each university should name a contact for refugees [...] In summer 2015, that was sort of pushed on to my colleague [...], who welcomed the task. But it quickly became clear that it was too much, because he could not manage the number of people in addition to his regular job." (U2T1E1)

Yeah, in the beginning it was resources. Because we had to see how to counsel all those people that turned up in our office. And yes, that was the main issue." (FH4T1E2)

Secondly, this first stage of engagement was followed by the formalisation of offers for refugee students (Berg, Gottburgsen & Kleimann, 2021; Berg, 2018; Iwers-Stelljes et al., 2016; Schammann & Younso, 2016, 2017): Early support offers focussed primarily on study preparation for refugees in order to facilitate their social and academic integration in German HEOs. The offers of support were typically based on needs ascribed to refugee students and were dependent on local factors, such as existing support or networks. They often included language classes and academic preparation courses. At all the HEOs in the sample, one or more first-contact positions were established, whose tasks included counselling, the coordination of all support for refugee students and the establishment and maintenance of relevant contact networks (Berg et al., 2021). Initial insecurities were often due to a lack of experience with this specific topic and thus raised questions about how to realise target-group-specific support with little or no official recommendations or guidance. Further challenges were often of a practical nature, such as finding a sufficient number of competent German-language-teachers (UNESCO, 2018) or access to infrastructural resources, such as rooms. Another issue was the lack of information about the efficacy of such study preparation programmes. There is overall no information available on how many refugees successfully apply to German HEOs: apart from in the organisation of specific support structures, German HEOs do not collect data on their students' residence status (Streitwieser & Brück, 2018). Moreover, HEO-members in direct contact with refugees often emphasised that refugees face challenges that cannot directly be addressed by the HEOs themselves, such as poor accommodation or constraints on their movement. The interviewees also expressed concern about excluding refugees from other student groups by establishing exclusive offers of support.

"Because they could not afford to buy tickets. [...] We found no solution. [...] So, they get welfare money, sure. But the money would not be enough for such things." (FH3T1E1)

"The tendency was, we wanted to make it possible for them to get out of this label, as I were. So that at some point they could build a life as regular international students instead." (FH1T1E1)

Thirdly, interviews conducted in 2018 showed the adaption and stabilisation of offers for refugees (Berg, 2021a): depending on their experiences and feedback, many HEOs adapted their offers of support. Changes included, for example, revising the times at which support was available, in reaction to the absence of participants due to overlapping asylum-related appointments, family obligations or religious traditions, such as Ramadan. Generally, the established offers were understood to function well. They principally included language and academic courses, counselling and mentoring as well as HEO-specific individual support, such as business networks to support internships. Voluntary projects supplemented the formalised support structures, but often for a limited period of time. Generally, student engagement appeared to decrease. Some HEOs tried to maintain engagement by creating paid positions or the opportunity to collect study credits for intercultural engagement.

"And so we did not develop a general strategy, but watched a little. And, during the last two years, it became more and more clear: what are the actual needs? Where are the needs and related to this, we developed structures." (FH1T1E1) "And we arranged it so that students who wanted to become involved could also attend an accompanying seminar, in order to be a little more trained for this whole situation. And they have the opportunity to collect credit points with it. And this has been very well received; we just had a semester with over 100 students and refugees." (FH1T1E1)

In individual cases, support offers were reduced due to low demand. The principal insecurities were around whether the necessary funding could be secured to maintain support offers for refugees after 2019. Moreover, personnel changes at some HEOs increased insecurities about the future of the programmes and diverted attention to reorganisation, instead of further developing support for refugees.

"And we ask ourselves internally whether we will have enough participants, even for the language classes. Before, the situation was always: Oh God! We cannot find a slot for all of them! We have to turn so many away. Where are they going to find something? And this was the situation until just half a year ago. And now, suddenly, it's, oh! Will we even manage to fill those two classes?" (FH1T1E2)

"We had a project with sport sciences, which was over after half a year because the person was gone again. It is always person-dependent." (U2T2E1)

Finally, the follow-up interviews in late 2019 and early 2020 were conducted after or during the last stages of these programmes, in the sense that funding periods were about to end or, in one case, had just ended. Those HEOs that had applied for further funding had mostly included changes to their programmes in their applications for follow-up projects. The interviews therefore show a phase of structural changes and the diversification of further developments of offers for refugee students: Different HEOs experienced very different levels of demand. While at some locations the numbers of requests and applications were either 'slightly increasing' (U3T2E1) or remained 'relatively stable' (U2T2E1), at some others they 'very distinctly' (U4T2E1) decreased. This reduced demand was one cause for reduced offer of support. All interview partners describe how support programmes for refugees had path-dependently been further adapted. Examples include the increasing use of social media at a university that already had a strong focus on information and contact with the target-group, and an increased tendency to include support for refugee students with that offered to all international students. A number of factors provided the orientation and inspiration to adjust the programmes. Exchanges and networks prove to be important opportunities for reflection, including experiences with and feedback from refugee students, from internal network partners, such as teachers or study counsellors, as well as from external network partners, such as exchanges with and reports of the experiences of other HEOs. Funding requirements are another crucial factor: federal and state-level calls for funding applications are said to have shifted their focus from study preparation to study accompaniment and preparations for entering the German labour market. Furthermore, support offers for refugee students were to be opened up to, or integrated with, offers for all international students, which was mostly welcomed by the first contacts because it reflected their previous thoughts.

Two general developments emerged: the majority of HEOs in the sample had applied for funding for further programmes. Plans for the continuation of refugee support were always dependent on the outcomes of those applications. In most cases, the focus of these follow-up projects was supposed to shift: study preparation should continue but, additionally, support should be developed and added in finding internships; training for the labour market and job applications; and subject-specific language classes. Mostly, the support offers for refugee students and other international students were to be integrated.

The main insecurities were the imminent termination of project funding and uncertainty about open funding applications. In addition, personnel changes brought difficulties in transferring experience and knowledge. Frequently, a new first contact would start after the previous one had already left, causing them to duplicate previous work collecting information and establishing routines. Moreover, impressions of the success of programmes for refugee students were principally based on direct contact with the target-group with a continued absence of any evidence-based overview, due to a lack of data collection. The majority of first contacts did not see this evidence as crucial for their work, but the question of how to measure the success of programmes remained, particularly if those programs were not intended solely as HEO-specific study preparation, but also as general support for refugees' social integration.

"And a new thing is labour market orientation. That was really important to the DAAD in the new call for applications, that additional measures are taken to help refugees prepare for the German labour market." (U4T2E1)

"Mainly based on exchange. So, there are conferences where such topics [possible programme adaptations] are centrally discussed. But there are also smaller rounds. Here in [state] there are regular meetings with other contacts for refugees from other universities and universities of applied sciences and we frequently talk about such topics. But, also, in contact with student counselling for example. They can also give feedback on such things, that certain tasks create difficulties, and then we naturally include this in such applications." (U2T2E1)

"We have our own notion of what one needs to study, and, of course, there is feedback from refugees, what is missing, what they need, what could be done. So, it is a combination of what we believe is good and what we can somehow offer, of our capacities and what needs are announced by the refugees. And, of course, from professors." (U4T2E1)

The second general development to emerge is typified by one HEO, which had not applied for further funding, primarily due to a marked decrease in requests and course-participants. At the time of the follow-up interview, no first contact position was officially in place. The previous first contact had principally been responsible for documenting the project. All support offers for international and domestic students remained open to refugee students, but no specific courses, counselling or project-management were now offered. This also

affected communication structures: external networks would not be followed-up and no internal position now existed to bring together all the relevant information and experience for this target group. This demonstrates the importance of a first contact position for maintaining target-group specific knowledge and networks.

## 7.7 Support for refugee students as part of the Third Mission

The analysis of the introduction, formalisation and further development of support for refugee students in German higher education indicated three crucial points for understanding social engagement as part of an HEO's third mission. Firstly, the term is vague. Although HEOs generally acknowledge their social responsibilities and refer to social engagement in their self-descriptions and mission statements, the practical meaning remains unclear. There needs to be an event or prompt to initiate specific projects or activities. In this case, public expectations, pioneer activity and available funding brought about the introduction of projects for refugees. There are no self-evident topics or actions in social responsibility, but expectations have to be communicated and prioritised. Secondly, personnel are crucial in identifying important areas and inspiring and initiating practical engagement. However, in order to be maintained, those impulses have to be formalised, which usually requires the acceptance or support of the HEO's management. Thirdly, HEOs need incentives and resources which emphasize the importance and support the realisation of social engagement. Then, the third mission could become the first mission, influencing and improving research and teaching (Schneidewind, 2016).

The study participants most commonly discussed support for refugee students in the context of internationalisation, diversification and the third mission or social responsibility. At some HEOs, the contact between international offices and diversity management increased significantly as a result of their common engagement with refugees. This could offer an opportunity to link these topics more closely and increase cooperation between the respective offices. If the internationalisation of higher education is understood as 'the intentional process of integrating an international, intercultural or global dimension into the purpose, functions and delivery of post-secondary education, in order to enhance the quality of education and research for all students and staff, and to make a meaningful contribution to society' (de Wit, Hunter, Howard, & Egron-Polak, 2015, p. 29; p. 281), refugees and asylum seekers offer the chance to widen the scope of this process. This could lead to increased diversity within HEOs and society, and gives the opportunity to establish support structures that could be used for a variety of marginalised or non-traditional groups

of (prospective) students. Since the presence of international students does not automatically mean internationalisation (Knight, 2011), it seems important to focus sustainable programmes on supporting both their social and academic integration. Furthermore, the experiences with refugee students offer possibilities to apply lessons learned from these programmes to other groups. This knowledge should, therefore, be seen as an organisational resource and be reprocessed accordingly.

# 7.8 Quo vadis? Implications for supporting HEOs' engagement with refugee students

Based on rising interest in study preparation, the engagement of pioneers and the funding made available by federal and local programmes, German HEOs initiated a variety of support structures for prospective students with the experience of forced migration. The majority of HEOs in the sample started such support programmes in 2015 or 2016, based on existing offers for international students plus additional, more or less improvised, measures. During the different stages of introducting and developing a support offer for refugee students, HEO members faced a variety of challenges from initial insecurities about how to support this specific target group with little available guidance, to adjustments of the programmes based on experience. They gained confidence in how to support refugee students, but the future of the programmes, and their funding, remain uncertain.

It can be expected that the landscape of refugee support will grow increasingly diverse, addressing combined questions of social integration, diversification, study preparation and internationalisation. This may present an opportunity to rethink internationalisation strategies, and to combine strategies of internationalisation and diversification in order to meet the third mission of social responsibility, thus resulting in cross-department engagement. The development of offers for refugees has shown the potential and importance of individual personnel in identifying and initially addressing important topics. In order to formalise and establish support for refugees, and other marginalised groups, HEOs and their staff members could be supported on several levels. The following measures could help to establish ongoing, target-group-specific support structures at HEOs:

**Personnel:** A position formally in charge of counselling, networking and the administration of offers for refugees was repeatedly emphasised as crucial to programmes for refugees. This position concentrates personal and organisational knowledge in one place. In order to be able to offer more diverse projects, more than one position was

understood to be ideal. In this context, additional funding should allow time for hand-overs and training new personnel in the event of personnel changes. Additionally, paid student positions may increase student engagement and potentially leads to more peer-contact for refugee students. In order to realise support offers for refugees, qualified personnel, such as German-language-teachers, are crucial. Relevant training and professional development should be offered.

External networks: Many issues cannot be addressed by HEOs, including the majority of issued relating to the living and learning conditions of refugees or the requirements of the asylum regime and welfare state (Détourbe & Goastellec, 2018), and also the question of whether refugees are informed of the possibility of higher education. Therefore, it seems elementary to keep crucial official and voluntary figures informed about the possibility of higher education, to find policy solutions to minimise legal insecurities (Schammann & Younso, 2016) and to offer practical solutions to the remaining challenges, such as the recognition of foreign degrees.

**Orientation and Information:** Although initial insecurities were overcome and support offers for refugee students were stabilised, it seems essential to document the experiences with refugee students and successful support programmes and share this information with all HEOs, inspiring adjustments of individual programmes and benefiting further programmes or other target-groups.

**Funding:** The majority of the elements listed above depend on funding. Project-specific funding should include personnel, relevant courses and activities such as public relations, as well as funding for time-limited additional measures. HEOs should be thoroughly informed about funding possibilities. While the project-specific time limit of funding schemes can allow regular adjustments, project deadlines also cause insecurities. HEOs' applications for further or new funding should be answered promptly and well before the ending of previous funding periods.

**Incentives:** In order to emphasise the importance of social engagement, it should become a factor in university rankings.

# References<sup>12</sup>

- \*Abamosa, J. Y., Hilt, L. T., & Westrheim, K. (2019). Social inclusion of refugees into higher education in Norway: A critical analysis of Norwegian higher education and integration policies. *Policy Futures in Education*, 7(186). doi:1478210319878327.
- \*Abdo, D., & Craven, K. (2018). Every Campus A Refuge. *Migration and Society*, *1*(1), 135–146.
- Abs, H. J., & Hahn-Laudenberg, K. (2017). Das politische Mindset von 14-Jährigen. Ergebnisse der International Civic and Citizenship Education Study 2016.
- \*AbduRazak, L. F., AL Mawdieh, R. S., Karam, A. A., Yousef Aljaafreh, A., & Al-Azzaw, M. E. (2019). Determining the challenges faced by Syrian refugees students at Jordanian camps according to their perspective: A case of universities role to supporting. *Modern Applied Science*, 13(8), 176–182.
- Adamczyk, A. (2016). Albanian immigrants in Greece: From unwanted to tolerated? *Journal of Liberty and International Affairs*, 2(1), 49–59
- Adomssent, M., Godemann, J., & Michelsen, G. (2007). Transferability of approaches to sustainable development at universities as a challenge. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education Policy*, 8(4), 385–402. https://doi.org/10.1108/14676370710823564
- \*Akbasli, S., & Mavi, D. (2019). Conditions of Syrian asylum seeker students in a Turkish university. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 9(1), 1–16.
- \*Al-Rousan, T., Fredricks, K., Chaudhury, S., Albezreh, S., Alhokair, A., & Nelson, B. D. (2018). Improving peace and well-being among Syrian refugee youth through a higher education initiative in Jordan. *Medicine, Conflict, and Survival*, *34*(3), 185–200. doi:10.1080/13623699.2018.1518748.
- \*Anderson, T. (2019). News media representations of international and refugee postsecondary students. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 45(4), 1–26. doi:10.1080/00221546.2019.1587977.
- Anerkennung in Deutschland. (n.y). *Anerkennung in Deutschland*. https://www.anerkennung-in-deutschland.de/html/de/anerkennung\_im\_schulbereich.php.
- Apolinarski, B., & Poskowsky, J. (2013). Ausländische Studierende in Deutschland 2012. Ergebnisse der 20. Sozialerhebung des Deutschen Studentenwerks durchgeführt vom Deutschen Zentrum für Hochschul- und Wissenschaftsforschung (DZHW). DZHW.
- \*Atesok, Z. O., Komsuoglu, A., & Ozer, Y. Y. (2019). An evaluation of refugees' access to higher education: Case of Turkey and Istanbul university. *Journal of International and Comparative Education*, 8(2), 119–136. doi:10.14425/jice.2019.8.2.119.

161

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> All references marked with an asterisk were discussed in 2 Refugees in Higher Education: An integrative literature review of recent themes, methodologies and omissions

- \*Avery, H., & Said, S. (2017). Higher education for refugees: The case of Syria. *Policy & Practice: A Development Education Review* (24), 104–125.
- \*Bacher, J., Fiorioli, E., Moosbrugger, R., Nnebedum, C., Prandner, D., & Shovakar, N. (2019). Integration of refugees at universities: Austria's more initiative. *Higher Education*, 41(6). doi:10.1007/s10734-019-00449-6.
- \*Bajwa, J., Abai, M., Couto, S., Kidd, S., Dibavar, A., & McKenzie, K. (2019). Psychological capital and life satisfaction of refugees in Canada: Evidence from a community-based educational support program. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 47(3), 504–516. doi:10.1002/jcop.22134.
- \*Bajwa, J. K., Abai, M., Kidd, S., Couto, S., Akbari-Dibavar, A., & McKenzie, K. (2018). Examining the Intersection of Race, Gender, Class, and Age on Post-Secondary Education and Career Trajectories of Refugees. *Refuge*, *34*(2), 113–123.
- \*Bajwa, J. K., Couto, S., Kidd, S., Markoulakis, R., Abai, M., & McKenzie, K. (2017). Refugees, Higher Education, and Informational Barriers. *Refuge*, *33*(2), 56–65. doi:10.7202/1043063ar.
- \*Baker, S., Ramsay, G., Irwin, E., & Miles, L. (2017). 'Hot', 'Cold' and 'Warm' supports: Towards theorising where refugee students go for assistance at university. *Teaching in Higher Education 37*(1), 1–16. doi:10.1080/13562517.2017.1332028.
- \*Baker, S., & Irwin, E. (2019). Disrupting the dominance of 'linear pathways': How institutional assumptions create 'stuck places' for refugee students' transitions into higher education. *Research Papers in Education*, *12*(1), 1–21. doi:10.1080/02671522.2019.1633561.
- \*Baker, S., Irwin, E., Taiwo, M., Singh, S., Gower, S., & Dantas, J. (2019a). Methodological diversity as an asset for transition-focused higher education research with students from refugee backgrounds. *Review of Education*, 7(1), 5–32. doi:10.1002/rev3.3133.
- \*Baker, S., Irwin, E., & Freeman, H. (2019b). Wasted, manipulated and compressed time: Adult refugee students' experiences of transitioning into Australian higher education. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 7(1), 1–14. doi:10.1080/0309877X.2019.1586849.
- BAMF. (2020). *Aktuelle Zahlen (01/2020)*. German Federal Office for Migration and Refugees (BAMF). https://www.bamf.de/SharedDocs/Anlagen/DE/Statistik/AsylinZahlen/aktuelle-zahlen-januar-2020.html;nn=284722
- BAMF. (2018). *Ausländer mit Aufenthaltstitel ab 2005*. German Federal Office for Migration and Refugees.
  - $http://www.bamf.de/DE/Willkommen/DeutschLernen/Integrationskurse/TeilnahmeKosten/Aufenthaltstitel\_nach/aufenthaltstitel\_nach-node.html\\$
- Begičević, N., Divjak, B., & Hunjak, T. (2010). Decision-making on prioritization of projects in higher education institutions using the analytic network process approach. *Central*

- European Journal of Operations Research, 18(3), 341–364. doi:10.1007/s10100-009-0113-3.
- Beigang, Steffen (2021). From refugee programmes to a benefit for all: The ex-tension of university study preparation programmes to other target groups in Germany. In J. Berg, M. Grüttner & B. Streitwieser (Eds.), *Refugees in Higher Education:*Questioning the notion of Integration. Springer Nature.
- Beigang, S., Blumenthal, J. von, & Lambert, L. (2018). *Studium für Geflüchtete: Aufgaben für Hochschulen und Politik* (Policy Brief 08b). Institut für Migrationsfroschung und Interkulturelle Studien.
- Beigang, S., & von Blumenthal, J. (2016). Institutionelle Anpassungsfähigkeit von Hochschulen. Erste Ergebnisse einer Befragung unter allen deutschen Hochschulen bezüglich der Integration von Geflüchteten in ein Studium. https://www.bim.huberlin.de/media/Pr%C3%A4sentation\_HochschulenUndGefl%C3%BCchtete\_BIM\_23 112016.pdf.
- \*Bellino, M. J., & Hure, M. (2018). Pursuing higher education in exile: A pilot partnership in Kakuma refugee camp. *Childhood Education*, 94(5), 46–51. doi:10.1080/00094056.2018.1516472.
- Berg, J. (2020). Which person is presumed to fit the institution? How refugee students' and practitioners' discursive representations of successful applicants and students highlight transition barriers to German higher education. In A. Curaj, L. Deca, & R. Pricopie (Eds.), *The Future of Higher Education Bologna Process Researchers' Conference* 2020 (online first). Springer.
- \*Berg, J. (2018). A new aspect of internationalisation? Specific challenges and support structures for refugees on their way to German higher education. In A. Curaj, L. Deca, & R. Pricopie (Eds.), *European Higher Education Area: The Impact of Past and Future Policies* (pp. 219–235). Springer International Publishing. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-77407-7\_15.
- Berg, J. (2021a). Expectations, experiences and anticipated outcomes of supporting refugee students in Germany a systems theoretical analysis of organizational semantics. In N. Harrison & G. Atherton (Hrsg.), *Marginalised Communities in Higher Education Disadvantage, Mobility and Indigeneity* (S. 97-118). London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429293399-9
- Berg, J. (2021b). Support For Prospective Refugee Students in Germany: Quo Vadis? In B. Hall & R. Tandon (Hrsg.), *Socially Responsible Higher Education International Perspectives on Knowledge Democracy* (S. 228-242). Leiden/ Boston: Brill Sense. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004459076\_019">https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004459076\_019</a>

- Berg, J. (2022). International or refugee students? Shifting organisational discourses on refugee students at German higher education organisations. *International Studies in Sociology of Education* (online first). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09620214.2022.2048264">https://doi.org/10.1080/09620214.2022.2048264</a>
- Berg, J., Gottburgsen, A., & Kleimann, B. (2021). Formalising organisational responsibility for refugees in German higher education: the case of first contact positions. *Studies in Higher Education* (online first). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2021.1872524">https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2021.1872524</a>
- \*Berg, J., Grüttner, M., & Schröder, S. (2018). Zwischen Befähigung und Stigmatisierung? Die Situation von Geflüchteten beim Hochschulzugang und im Studium. Ein internationaler Forschungsüberblick. Zeitschrift Für Flüchtlingsforschung, 2(1), 57–90.
- \*Berg, J., Grüttner, M., & Schröder, S. (2019a). Zwischen Partizipation und Retraumatisierung kritische Überlegungen zur reflektierten Forschung mit Geflüchteten. In K. Bird & W. Hüber (Eds.), Komplexe Dynamiken globaler und likaler Entwicklungen. Congress volume after the 39<sup>th</sup> Congress of the German Sociological Association (DGS).
- \*Berg, J., Grüttner, M., & Schröder, S. (2019b). Episodische Interviews im Kontext von Flucht und Bildung: Die Bedeutung von Sensibilisierungskonzepten für Vorbereitung, Durchführung und Auswertung im Rahmen des WeGe-Projektes. In B. Behrensen & M. Westphal (Eds.), *Fluchtmigrationsforschung im Aufbruch: Methodologische und methodische Reflexionen* (pp. 275–300). Springer VS.
- \*Berg, J., Schröder, S., & Grüttner, M. (2019c). Studienvorbereitung für Geflüchtete in Deutschland Herausforderungen eines besonderen Bildungsabschnitts. *Schulheft* "*Flucht Und Bildung*" (176).
- Berthold, C., Meyer-Guckel, V., & Rohe, W. (2010). *Mission Gesellschaft: Engagement und Selbstverständnis der Hochschulen. Ziele, Konzepte, internationale Praxis*. Stifterverband für die Deutsche Wissenschaft; Stiftung Mercator.
- Besio, C. (2009). Forschungsprojekte. Zum Organisationswandel in der Wissenschaft. transcript.
- Bjorklund, P. (2018). Undocumented students in higher education: A review of the literature, 2001 to 2016. *Review of Educational Research*, 88(5), 631–670. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654318783018
- Black, L. D. (2006). Corporate social responsibility as capability: The case of BHP Billiton. *The Journal of Corporate Citizenship* (23), 25–38.
- BMBF. (n.y.). *Die Exzellenzinitiative stärkt die universitäre Spitzenforschung*. https://www.bmbf.de/de/die-exzellenzinitiative-staerkt-die-universitaere-spitzenforschung-1638.html
- Bogner, A., Littig, B., & Menz, W. (2002). Das Experteninterview: Theorie, Methode, Anwendung. Springer VS.
- Bogner, A., Littig, B., & Menz, W. (2014). *Interviews mit Experten: Eine praxisorientierte Einführung. Qualitative Sozialforschung.* Springer VS.

- Bolsmann, C., & Miller, H. (2008). International student recruitment to universities in England: Discourse, rationales and globalisation. *Globalisation, Societies and Education* 6(1), 75–88.
- \*Bouchara, A. (2019). Bildungsbedürfnisse und Hindernisse von Geflüchteten in Deutschland: Eine empirische Studie zu sozialen Netzwerken von Geflüchteten an deutschen Hochschulen. *Interculture Journal: Online Zeitschrift Für Interkulturelle Studien 18*(31), 53–72.
- Brands, F., & Morris-Lange, S. (2016). German universities open doors to refugees: Access barriers Remain. *International Higher Education*, (84), 11–12.
- Brooker, A., & Lawrence, J. (2012). Educational and cultural challenges of bicultural adult immigrant and refugee students in Australia. *Australian Journal of Adult Learning*, 52(1), 66–88.
- Brooks, R. (2018). The construction of higher education students in English policy documents. *British Journal of Sociology of Education 39*(6), 745-761.
- \*Brown, B. G., Chaudhari, L. S., Curtis, E. K., & Schulz, L. (2018). Service-Learning with Tibetan refugees in India: A small university's experience. *Journal of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement* 22(1), 7–34.
- \*Brown, S., Saint, M., & Russel, C. (2017). Education in an extreme environment: A university in a refugee camp. In S. Korea (Ed.), *Ghtc 2017, IEEE Global Humanitarian Technology Conference: Doubletree by Hilton San Jose, California, USA, October 19-22, 2017 : 2017 conference proceedings.* IEEE.
- Brücker, H., Rother, N., & Schupp, J. (Eds.). (2016). *DIW Berlin: Vol. 116. IAB-BAMF-SOEP-Befragung von Geflüchteten: Überblick und erste Ergebnisse*. DIW Berlin Deutsches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung. http://hdl.handle.net/10419/149124
- \*Brunton, J., Brown, M., Costello, E., Farrell, O., & Mahon, C. (2017). Giving Flexible Learners a Head Start on Higher Education: Designing and Implementing a Preinduction Socialisation MOOC. In C. Delgado Kloos, P. Jermann, M. Pérez-Sanagustín, D. T. Seaton, & S. White (Eds.), *Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Digital Education:*Out to the World and Back to the Campus, 10–19. Springer International Publishing. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-59044-8\_2.
- Brunton, J., Farrell, O., Costello, E., Delaney, L., Foley, C., & Brown, M. (2019). Duelling identities in refugees learning through open, online higher education. *openpraxis* 11(4). doi:10.5944/openpraxis.11.4.1018.
- Callahan, J. L. (2010). Constructing a manuscript: Distinguishing integrative literature reviews and conceptual and theory articles. *Human Resource Development Review*, *9*(3), 300–304. doi:10.1177/1534484310371492.
- Cohen, M.D., March, J. and Olsen, J. (1972). A Garbage Can Model of Organizational Choice. *Administrative Science Quarterly.* 17(1), 1–25.
- Columbia. (n.y.). Forced migration learning module—definitions. http://www.columbia.edu/itc/hs/pubhealth/modules/forcedMigration/definitions.html.

- Council of Europe. (2020). *The CEFR Levels*. Council of Europe. https://www.coe.int/en/web/common-european-framework-reference-languages/level-descriptions
- \*Crea, T. M. (2016). Refugee higher education: Contextual challenges and implications for program design, delivery, and accompaniment. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 46, 12–22. doi:10.1016/j.ijedudev.2015.11.005.
- \*Crea, T. M., & Sparnon, N. (2017). Democratizing education at the margins: Faculty and practitioner perspectives on delivering online tertiary education for refugees. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, *14*(43). doi:10.1186/s41239-017-0081-y.
- DAAD. (2016). Integration von Flüchtlingen ins Fachstudium (Integra) ab 2017. DAAD.
- DAAD. (2018). Zukunftswege. Erfolge und Herausforderungen bei der Integration von Geflüchteten ins Studium. DAAD.
- DAAD. (2019a). Integration von Flüchtlingen ins Fachstudium (Integra): Programme der Projektförderung. DAAD.
  - https://www2.daad.de/hochschulen/ausschreibungen/projekte/de/11342-foerderprogramme-finden/?s=1&projektid=57532895
- DAAD. (2019b). Welcome Studierende engagieren sich für Flüchtlinge. Programme der Projektförderung. DAAD.
  - https://www2.daad.de/hochschulen/ausschreibungen/projekte/de/11342-foerderprogramme-finden/?s=1&projektid=57532898
- \*Dahya, N., & Dryden-Peterson, S. (2017). Tracing pathways to higher education for refugees: the role of virtual support networks and mobile phones for women in refugee camps. *Comparative Education*, *53*(2), 284–301. doi:10.1080/03050068.2016.1259877.
- Denney, A. S., & Tewksbury, R. (2013). How to write a literature review. *Journal of Criminal Justice Education*, 24(2), 218–234. doi:10.1080/10511253.2012.730617.
- DeStatis. (2018). *Hochschulen auf einen Blick Ausgabe 2018*. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Bildung-Forschung-Kultur/Hochschulen/\_inhalt.html#sprg233706.
- DeStatis. (2020). *Studierende nach Bundesländern*. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Bildung-Forschung-Kultur/Hochschulen/Tabellen/studierende-insgesamt-bundeslaender.html
- \*Détourbe, M. -A., & Goastellec, G. (2018). Revisiting the issues of access to higher education and social stratification through the case of refugees: A comparative study of spaces of opportunity for refugee students in Germany and England. *Social Sciences*. Advance online publication. doi:10.3390/socsci7100186.
- Dryden-Peterson, S. (2010). The politics of higher education for refugees in a global movement for basic education. *Refuge*, 27(2), 10–18.

- \*Dunwoodie, K., Kaukko, M., Wilkinson, J., Reimer, K., & Webb, S. (2020). Widening university access for students of asylum-seeking backgrounds: (Mis)recognition in an Australian context. *Higher Education Policy*, *33*, 243-264. doi:10.1057/s41307-019-00176-8.
- E3M. (2012). *Needs and constraints analysis of the three dimensions of third mission activities*. E3M - European Indicators and Ranking Methodology for University Third Mission.
- Earnest, J., Joyce, A., de Mori, G., & Silvagni, G. (2010). Are universities responding to the needs of students from refugee backgrounds? *Australian Journal of Education*, *54*(2), 155–174. https://doi.org/10.1177/000494411005400204
- Ebert, J., & Heublein, U. (2017). Ursachen des Studienabbruchs bei Studierenden mit Migrationshintergrund. Eine vergleichende Untersuchung der Ursachen und Motive des Studienabbrichs bei Studierenden mit und ohne Migrationshintergrund auf Basis der Befragung der Exmatrikulierten des Somme. DZHW. http://www.dzhw.eu/pdf/21/bericht\_mercator.pdf.
- \*Erdoğan, A., & Erdoğan, M. M. (2018). Access, qualifications and social dimension of Syrian refugee students in Turkish higher education. In A. Curaj, L. Deca, & R. Pricopie (Eds.), *European Higher Education Area: The Impact of Past and Future Policies*, (pp. 259–276). Springer International Publishing. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-77407-7\_17.
- \*Ergin, H. (2016). Turkish university students' perceptions towards their Syrian classmates. TED EĞİTİM VE BİLİM, 41(184). doi:10.15390/EB.2016.6214.
- Ergin, H., de Witt, H., & Leask, B. (2019). Forced internationalization of higher education: An emerging phenomenon. *International Higher Education*, (97), 7–9. doi:10.6017/ihe.2019.97.10938
- \*Ertong Attar, G., & Küçükşen, D. (2019). Somehow familiar but still a stranger: Syrian students in Turkish higher education. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 20(4), 1041–1053. doi:10.1007/s12134-018-00647-8.
- European Commission, EACEA, & Eurydice. (2019). *Integrating asylum seekers and refugees into higher education in Europe: National policies and measures.* Eurydice report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Farrell, O., Brunton, J., Costello, E., Delaney, L., Brown, M., & Foley, C. (2020). 'This is two different worlds, you have the asylum world and you have the study world': An exploration of refugee participation in online Irish higher education. *Research in Learning Technology*, 28(0). doi:10.25304/rlt.v28.2368.
- \*Fleay, C., Abbas, Mumtaz, G., Vakili, M., Nasrullah, Hartley, L., Offord, B., Macfarlane, C., & Sayer, R. (2019). Enabling access to higher education for people seeking asylum: A collective approach. *Widening Participation and Lifelong Learning*, 21(2), 168–189. doi:10.5456/WPLL.21.2.168.
- Flick, U. (2010). Qualitative Sozialforschung: Eine Einführung. Rowohlt Taschenbuch Verlag.
- \*Fook, J. (2017). Whither compassion? *Affilia*, *32*(3), 404–406. doi:10.1177/0886109917713292.

- Fortin, N., Lemieux, T., & Torres, J. (2016). Foreign human capital and the earnings gap between immigrants and Canadian-born workers. *Labour Economics*, 41, 104–119.
- Fourier, K., Kracht, J., Latsch, K., Heublein U., & Schneider, C. (2017). *Integration von Flüchtlingen an deutschen Hochschulen. Erkenntnisse aus den Hochschulprogrammen für Flüchtlinge*. DAAD/DZHW.
- Fourier, K., Kracht Araújo, J., Latsch, K., Siemens, A., Schmitz, M., & Grüttner, M. (2018). Integration von Flüchtlingen an deutschen Hochschulen - Erkenntnisse aus den Hochschulprogrammen für Flüchtlinge: Studienvorbereitung und Übergang ins Studium (Information No. 2). DAAD.
- Fourier, K., Estevez Prado, R., & Grüttner, M. (2020). *Integration von Flüchtlingen an deutschen Hochschulen Erkenntnisse aus den Hochschulprogrammen für Flüchtlinge. Information 3. Einstieg ins Fachstudium und Studienbegleitung.* DAAD.
- Froschauer, U., & Lueger, M. (2003). Das qualitative Interview. Zur Praxis interpretativer Analyse sozialer Systeme. Facultas.
- Gateley, D.E. (2015). A policy of vulnerability or agency? Refugee young people's opportunities in accessing further and higher education in the UK. *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, 45(1), 26–46.
- Gensicke, D. (2008). Luhmann. Reclam.
- Gilge, S. (2009). Die Universität als lernende Organisation? Eine systemtheoretische Perspektive auf die Leitbildentwicklung [Dissertation]. Technische Universität, Dresden.
- Goertz, G., & Mahoney, J. (2012). Concepts and measurement: Ontology and epistemology. *Social Science Information*, *51*(2), 205–216. doi:10.1177/0539018412437108.
- Groddeck, V.v., & Wilz, S.M. (2015). Formalität und Informalität in Organisationen. Springer VS.
- \*Grüttner, M. (2019). Belonging as a resource of resilience: Psychological wellbeing of international and refugee students in study preparation at German higher education institutions. *Student Success* 10(3). doi:10.5204/ssj.v10.i3.1275.
- \*Grüttner, M., Schröder, S., Berg, J., & Otto, C. (2018). Refugees on their way to German higher education: A capabilities and engagements perspective on aspirations, challenges and support. *Global Education Review*, 5(4).
- Gukenbiehl, H. L. (2006). Institution und Organisation. In H. Korte & B. Schäfers (Eds.), *Einführung in Hauptbegriffe der Soziologie* (pp.153-159). VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Hahn, K. (2004). Die Internationalisierung der deutschen Hochschulen. Kontext, Kernprozesse, Konzepte und Strategien. VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

- \*Halkic, B., & Arnold, P. (2019). Refugees and online education: Student perspectives on need and support in the context of (online) higher education. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 44(3), 1–20. doi:10.1080/17439884.2019.1640739.
- Hamann, J., Maeße, J., Gengnagel, V., & Hirschfeld, A. (2017). *Macht in Wissenschaft und Gesellschaft*. Springer Fachmedien. doi:10.1007/978-3-658-14900-0.
- Hansen, I. G., Jackson, V.W.-Y., & Ryder, A. (2018). Religion and oppression: Cross-national and experimental investigations. *Religion, Brain and Behavior*, 8(4), 369–393.
- Harris, A., Chi, M. C. N., & Spark, C. (2013). The barriers that only you can see: African Australian women thriving in tertiary education despite the odds. *Multidisciplinary Journal of Gender Studies*, 2(2), 188–202.
- Harris, A., Spark, C., & Watts, M. N. C. (2015). Gains and losses: African Australian women and higher education. *Journal of Sociology*, 51(2), 370–384. doi:10.1177/1440783314536792.
- Harris, V., & Marlowe, J. (2011). Hard yards and high hopes: The educational challenges of African refugee university students in Australia. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 23, 186–196.
- Harrison, N. (2015). Practice, problems and power in 'internationalisation at home': Critical reflections on recent research evidence. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 20(4), 412–430. doi:10.1080/13562517.2015.1022147.
- \*Hartley, L., Baker, S., Fleay, C., & Burke, R. (2019). My study is the purpose of continuing my life': The experience of accessing university for people seeking asylum in Australia. *Australian Universities' Review, 61*(2), 4–13.
- \*Harvey, A., & Mallman, M. (2019). Beyond cultural capital: Understanding the strengths of new migrants within higher education. *Policy Futures in Education*, *17*(5), 657–673. doi:10.1177/1478210318822180.
- Helfferich, C. (2010). Die Qualität qualitativer Daten: Manual für die Durchführung qualitativer Interviews. VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Henke, J., Pasternack, P., Schmid, S., & Schneider, S. (2016). *Third Mission Sachsen-Anhalt:* Fallbeispiele OVGU Magdeburg und Hochschule Merseburg [HoF-Arbeitsbericht 100]. Martin-Luther-University, Halle-Wittenberg.
- Hirano, E. (2011). Refugees Negotiating Academic Literacies in First-Year College: Challenges, Strategies, and Resources [Dissertation]. Georgia State University.
- Hirano, E. (2014). Refugees in first-year college: Academic writing challenges and resources. *Journal of Second Language Writing*, 23, 37–52. doi:10.1016/j.jslw.2014.01.001
- \*Hirsch, A., & Maylea, C. (2016). Education denied: People seeking asylum and refugees trapped in limbo. *New Community 14*(3), 19–24.
- Hobsig, E. (2004). Frauen auf der Flucht: Asyl und Integration in Österreich aus frauenspezifischer Perspektive. *L'Homme Z.F.G*, *15*(2), 233–248.

- Hoffmann-Riem, C. (1980). Die Sozialforschung einer interpretativen Soziologie: Der Datengewinn. Kölner Zeitschrift Für Soziologie Und Sozialpsychologie, 32, 339–372.
- HRK. (2020). Studieninteressierte und Studierende mit Fluchthintergrund an deutschen Hochschulen. Befragung der HRK-Mitgliedshochschulen (Wintersemester 2019/20). HRK Hochschulrektorenkonferenz.
- Ives, J., & Castillo-Montoya, M. (2020). First-Generation college students as academic learners: A systematic review. *Review of Educational Research*, 90(2), 139–178. doi:10.3102/0034654319899707.
- \*Iwers-Stelljes, T., Bosse, E., & Heudorfer, A. (2016). Universitäre Umgangsweisen mit den Herausforderungen von Flucht und Migration. Eine Fallanalyse. *Gruppe. Interaktion. Organisation. Zeitschrift Für Angewandte Organisationspsychologie (GIO)*, 47(3), 215–223. doi:10.1007/s11612-016-0332-8.
- \*Jack, O., Chase, E., & Warwick, I. (2019). Higher education as a space for promoting the psychosocial well-being of refugee students. *Health Education Journal*, 78(1), 51–66. doi:10.1177/0017896918792588.
- Joyce, A., Earnest, J., de Mori, G., & Silvagni, G. (2010). The experiences of students from refugee backgrounds at universities in Australia: Reflections on the social, emotional and practical challenges. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 23(1), 82–97. doi:10.1093/jrs/feq001.
- \*Jungblut, J., Vukasovic, M., & Steinhardt, I. (2018). Higher education policy dynamics in turbulent times–access to higher education for refugees in Europe. *Studies in Higher Education*, 45(1), 1–12.
- Kaiser, R. (2014). *Qualitative Experteninterviews: Konzeptionelle Grundlagen und praktische Durchführungen*. Springer Fachmedien.
- Käpplinger, B. (2018). Addressing refugees and non-refugees in adult education programs: A longitudinal analysis on shifting public concerns. *European Journal for Research on the Education and Learning of Adults*, 9(2), 161–177. https://www.pedocs.de/volltexte/2019/16140/pdf/RELA\_2018\_2\_Kaepplinger\_Addressing\_refugees.pdf
- \*Karipek, Y. Z. (2017). Asylum-Seekers experience and acculturation: A study of Syrian university students in Turkey. *Turkish Journal of Middle Eastern Studies*, 105–133. doi:10.26513/tocd.316150.
- Karram, G. L. (2013). International students as lucrative markets or vulnerable populations: A critical discourse analysis of national and institutional events in four nations. *Canadian and International Education / Education Canadienne*, 42(1).
- Kaukko, M., Dunwoodie, K., & Riggs, E. (2017). Rethinking the ethical and methodological dimensions of research with refugee children. ZEP: Zeitschrift Für Internationale Bildungsforschung Und Entwicklungspädagogik, 40(1), 16–21.

- $https://www.pedocs.de/volltexte/2019/16924/pdf/ZEP\_1\_2017\_Kaukko\_et\_al\_Rethinking\_the\_Ethical.pdf$
- Kehm, B. M. (2012). Hochschulen als besondere und unvollständige Organisationen? Neue Theorien zur 'Organisation Hochschule'. In U. Wilkesmann & C. J. Schmid (Eds.), *Hochschule als Organisation*. VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Keller, R. (2007). Diskurse und Dispositive analysieren. Die Wissenssoziologische Diskursanalyse als Beitrag zu einer wissensanalytischen Profilierung der Diskursforschung. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/ Forum Qualitative Social Research, 8(2), 1-32. http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs0702198
- Keller, R. (2011). Wissenssoziologische Diskursanalyse: Grundlegung eines Forschungsprogrammes. Interdisziplinäre Diskursforschung. Springer Fachmedien.
- \*Klaus, S. (2020). Biographische Konstruktionen zur Ambivalenz von Hochschulzugang und Fluchthintergrund. Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden. doi:10.1007/978-3-658-27562-4.
- Kleimann, B. (2019). (German) Universities as multiple hybrid organizations. *Higher Education*, 77(6), 1085–1102.
- Kleimann, B., & Klawitter, M. (2017). An analytical framework for evaluation-based decision-making procedures in universities. In Huisman, J. and Tight, M. (Eds.), *Theory and Method in Higher Education* (pp. 39-57). Emerald Publishing.
- Knight, J. (1994). *Internationalization: Elements and checkpoints (Research Monograph No. 14)*. Ottawa. Canadian Bureau for International Education.
- Knight, J. (2011). Five myths about internationalization. *International Higher Education* (62), 14–15.
- Koehne, N. (2005). (Re)construction: Ways international students talk about their identity. *Australian Journal of Education 49*(1), 104-119.
- \*Kong, E., Harmsworth, S., Rajaeian, M. M., Parkes, G., Bishop, S., AlMansouri, B., & Lawrence, J. (2016). University transition challenges for first year domestic CALD students from refugee backgrounds: A case study from an Australian regional university. *Australian Journal of Adult Learning*, 56(2), 170–197.
- \*Kong, E.-H., Lim, K.-C., & Yu, S. (2019). Understanding educational barriers and needs of North Korean defector nursing students: A qualitative descriptive study. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing: Official Journal of the Transcultural Nursing Society*, 30(2), 187–194. doi:10.1177/1043659618804615.
- \*Kontowski, D., & Leitsberger, M. (2018). Hospitable universities and integration of refugees: First responses from Austria and Poland. *European Educational Research Journal*, 17(2), 248–270. doi:10.1177/1474904117719593.
- \*Kreimer, A., & Boenigk, S. (2019). Widening refugee participation and access to higher education through collective impact initiatives Insights from Germany. *Widening Participation and Lifelong Learning*, 21(2), 141–167. doi:10.5456/WPLL.21.2.141.
- Kruse, J. (2015). Qualitative Interviewforschung: Ein integrativer Ansatz. Beltz Juventa.

- Kühl, S. (2011). *Organisationen: Eine sehr kurze Einführung*. VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften. doi:10.1007/978-3-531-93185-2.
- Larsen, M. A. (2016). *Internationalization of Higher Education: An Analysis through Spatial, Network, and Mobilities Theorie*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- \*Lee, M. W., Han, M. -s., & Hyun, E. R. (2016). Multilingual practices and ideologies of refugees in the neoliberal era: The case of North Korean refugee students in South Korea. *Language Awareness*, 25(4), 290–304. doi:10.1080/09658416.2016.1216997.
- \*Lee, R. (2018). Immigrant entry visa categories and their effects on the children of immigrants' education. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 44(9), 1560–1583. doi:10.1080/1369183X.2017.1362976.
- \*Lenette, C. (2016). University students from refugee backgrounds: why should we care? *Higher Education Research & Development*, 35(6), 1–5. doi:10.1080/07294360.2016.1190524.
- \*Lenette, C., Baker, S., & Hirsch, A. (2019). Systemic policy barriers to meaningful participation of students from refugee and asylum seeking backgrounds in Australian higher education. In J. L. McBrien (Ed.), *Educational Policies and Practices of English-Speaking Refugee Resettlement Countries* (pp.88–109). Brill Sense. doi:10.1163/9789004401891\_004.
- Levantino, A. (2016). Refugees' higher education access in Germany and Italy: Different contexts, similar challenges? *NORRAG News 53, Volume Refugees, displaced persons and education: New challenges for development and policy.* Network for international policies and cooperation in education and training (NORRAG).
- Liebold, R., & Trinczek, R. (2009). Experteninterview. In Kühl S., Strodtholz P. & Taffertshofer A. (Eds.), *Handbuch Methoden der Organisationsforschung* (pp.32–56). VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Liu, A. (2011). Unraveling the myth of meritocracy within the context of US higher education. *Higher Education*, 62(4), 383–397. doi:10.1007/s10734-010-9394-7.
- Lobato Calleros, O., Chanlat, A., Bédard, R., & Ramírez, G. (2014). Autopietic decisions approach: a governance research network case study. *The TQM Journal*, 26(4), 382–394. doi:10.1108/TQM-01-2014-0011
- Lomer, S. (2018). UK policy discourses and international student mobility: the deterrence and subjectification of international students. *Globalisation, Societies and Education 16*(3), 308–324. doi:10.1080/14767724.2017.1414584.
- Luhmann, N. (1970). Soziologie als Theorie sozialer Systeme. In N. Luhmann (Ed.), *Soziologische Aufklärung* (pp.114-136). Westdeutscher Verlag.
- Luhmann, N. (1975). Soziologische Aufklärung (Vol. 2). Westdeutscher Verlag.
- Luhmann, N. (1976). Funktionen und Folgen formaler Organisation (3. Auflage). Duncker und Humblot.

- Luhmann, N. (1980). Gesellschaftsstruktur und Semantik: Studien zur Wissenssoziologie der modernen Gesellschaft, Band 1. Suhrkamp.
- Luhmann, N. (1982). Politische Theorie im Wohlfahrtsstaat. Olzog.
- Luhmann, N. (1986). Ökologische Kommunikation. Kann die moderne Gesellschaft sich auf ökologische Gefährdungen einstellen? Westdeutscher Verlag.
- Luhmann, N. (1995). Social Systems. Stanford University Press.
- Luhmann, N. (2006). Organisation und Entscheidung. VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Luhmann, N. (2018 [2011]). Organization and Decision. Cambridge University Press.
- \*Luu, D. H., & Blanco, G. L. (2019). Exploring US Federal Policy discourse on refugee access to post-secondary education. *Higher Education Policy*, *36*(3), 1–18. doi:10.1057/s41307-019-00144-2.
- Mahoney, J., & Thelen, K. (2010). A theory of gradual institutional change. In J. Mahoney & K. Thelen (Eds.), *Explaining Institutional Change* (pp.1–37). Cambridge University Press.
- Mangan, D., & Winter, L. A. (2017). (In)validation and (mis)recognition in higher education: the experiences of students from refugee backgrounds. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, *36*(4), 486–502. doi:10.1080/02601370.2017.1287131.
- \*Marcu, S. (2018). Refugee students in Spain: The role of universities as sustainable actors in institutional integration. *Sustainability*, *10*(6), 1–21. doi:10.3390/su10062082.
- \*Maringe, F., Ojo, E., & Chiramba, O. (2017). Traumatized home and away: Toward a framework for interrogating policy–practice disjunctures for refugee students in higher education. *European Education*, 49(4), 1–23. doi:10.1080/10564934.2017.1352450.
- Massing, C. (2018). African, Muslim refugee student teachers' perceptions of care practices in infant and toddler field placements. *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 26(2), 186–200.
- McBrien, J. L. (2005). Educational needs and barriers for refugee students in the United States: A review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 75(3), 329–364.
- Mey, G., & Mruck, K. (2009). Methodologie und Methodik der Grounded Theory. In W. Kempf & M. Kiefer (Eds.), Forschungsmethoden der Psychologie. Zwischen naturwissenschaftlichem Experiment und sozialwissenschaftlicher Hermeneutik (pp. 100–152). Regener,
- Meyer, J.W., & Rowan, B. (1977). Institutionalized organizations: Formal structure as myth and ceremony. *American Journal of Sociology*. 83(2), 340-363
- \*Molla, T. (2019). Educational aspirations and experiences of refugee-background African youth in Australia: A case study. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 8(3), 1–19. doi:10.1080/13603116.2019.1588924.
- Morrice, L. (2009). Journeys into higher education: The case of refugees in the UK. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 14(6), 661-672. doi: 10.1080/13562510903315282.

- Morrice, L. (2013). Refugees in higher education: Boundaries of belonging and recognition, stigma and exclusion. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 32(5), 652–668. doi:10.1080/02601370.2012.761288.
- Morris-Lange, S. (2017). Allein durch den Hochschuldschungel. Hürden zum Studienerfolg für internationale Studierende und Studierende mit Migrationshintergrund. Sachverständigenrat deutscher Stiftungen für Integration und Migration (SVR).
- Müller, M. (2011). Intersektionalität und Interdependenz. Soziologische, Revue, 34, 298–309.
- \*Muñoz, J. C., Colucci, E., & Smidt, H. (2018). Free digital learning for inclusion of migrants and refugees in europe: A qualitative analysis of three types of learning purposes. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning* 19(2), 1–21. doi:10.19173/irrodl.v19i2.3382.
- \*Mupenzi, A. (2018). Educational resilience and experiences of African students with a refugee background in Australian tertiary education. *Australasian Review of African Studies*, 39(2), 122–150. doi:10.22160/22035184/ARAS-2018-39-2/122-150.
- Nägler, R. (2019). *Steuermannskunst im Hochschulmanagement*. Springer Fachmedien. doi:10.1007/978-3-658-28406-0.
- Naidoo, L. (2015). Educating refugee-background students in Australian schools and universities. *Intercultural Education*, 26(3), 210–217. doi:10.1080/14675986.2015.1048079.
- \*Naylor, R., Terry, L., Rizzo, A., Nguyen, N., & Mifsud, N. (2019). Structural inequality in refugee participation in higher education. *Journal of Refugee Studies*.
- \*Nayton, C., Meek, G., & Foletta, R. (2019). Language education for people seeking asylum aspiring to higher education in Australia: Practitioner perspectives from the Asylum Seeker Resource Centre (ASRC). *Widening Participation and Lifelong Learning*, 21(2), 209–221. doi:10.5456/WPLL.21.2.209.
- Nyssen, J. M. (2018). The social dimension and university rankings. In A. Curaj, L. Deca, & R. Pricopie (Eds.). *European Higher Education Area: The Impact of Past and Future Policies* (pp.155-169). Springer International Publishing,
- Page, A. G. & Chahboun, S. (2019). Emerging empowerment of international students: how international student literature has shifted to include the students' voices. *Higher Education* 78(5), 871–885. doi:10.1007/s10734-019-00375-7.
- \*Park, E. S. (2019). Refugee-Background students' experience with college English requirements: The case of North Korean students in South Korea. *Journal of Language, Identity & Education*, 21, 1–14. doi:10.1080/15348458.2019.1650278.
- Parkhouse, H., Lu, C. Y., & Massaro, V. R. (2019). Multicultural education professional development: A review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 89(3), 416–458. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654319840359

- Peacock, N., & Harrison, N. (2009). "It's so much easier to go with what's easy": "Mindfulness" and the discourse between home and international students in the United Kingdom. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 13(4), 487–508. doi:10.1177%2F1028315308319508.
- \*Perry, K. H., & Mallozzi, C. A. (2017). 'We have education, I can say that': worldview and access to education for adult refugees. *International Journal of Applied Linguistics*, 27(2), 491–513. doi:10.1111/ijal.12152.
- Pfadenhauer, M. (2009). Das Experteninterview: Ein Gespräch auf gleicher Augenhöhe. In R. Buber & H. H. Holzmüller (Eds.). *Qualitative Marktforschung. Konzepte Methoden-Analysen* (pp. 449-461). GWV Fachverlage,
- \*Phan, T. A. (2018). When one door closes, another opens: Community colleges as gateways to higher education for refugee students. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 42(7-8), 564–568. doi:10.1080/10668926.2018.1429966.
- Predazzi, E. (2012). The third mission of the university. *Rendiconti Lincei*, 23(S1), 17–22. doi:10.1007/s12210-012-0182-4.
- Ramos, F. (2020). Academic success as willful-resistance: theorising with refugee-background students in Australia. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, *2*(1), 1–16. doi:10.1080/01596306.2020.1718063.
- Ramsay, G., & Baker, S. (2019). Higher education and students from refugee backgrounds: A meta-scoping study. *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 38(1), 55–82. doi:10.1093/rsq/hdy018.
- \*Rasheed, R. A., & Munoz, A. (2016). Higher education and peacebuilding a bridge between communities? *Journal of Peace Education*, 13(2), 172–185. doi:10.1080/17400201.2016.1205003.
- \*Reimer, K., Kaukko, M., Dunwoodie, K., Wilkinson, J., & Webb, S. (2019). Acknowledging the head, heart, hands and feet: Research with refugees and people seeking asylum in higher education. *Widening Participation and Lifelong Learning*, 21(2), 190–208. doi:10.5456/WPLL.21.2.190.
- \*Reinhardt, F., Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, O., Deribo, T., Happ, R., & Nell-Müller, S. (2018). Integrating refugees into higher education the impact of a new online education program for policies and practices. *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, 2(2), 198–226. doi:10.1080/23322969.2018.1483738.
- Reinhardt, S. (2018). Exploring the emerging field of online tertiary education for refugees in protracted situations. *Open Praxis*, 10(3), 211. doi:10.5944/openpraxis.10.3.872.
- Robson, S. (2011). Internationalization: A transformative agenda for higher education? *Teachers and Teaching, 17*(6), 619–630. doi:10.1080/13540602.2011.625116.
- \*Rowe, N., Martin, R., Knox, S., & Mabingo, A. (2016). Refugees, migrants, visitors and internally displaced persons: investigating acculturation in Academia. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 35(1), 58–70. doi:10.1080/07294360.2015.1121210.

- Salami, B., Salma, J., & Hegadoren, K. (2019). Access and utilization of mental health services for immigrants and refugees: Perspectives of immigrant service providers. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 28(1), 152–161. https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85050498466&doi=10.1111%2finm.12512&partnerID=40&md5=2e33b1210a97485d 2f3fc93ff856378b
- Scarvaglieri, C., & Zech, C. (2013). ,ganz normale Jugendliche, allerdings meist mit Migrationshintergrund'. Eine funktional-semantische Analyse von ,Migrationshintergrund'. Zeitschrift Für Angewandte Linguistik, 58(1). doi:10.1515/zfal-2013-0008.
- Schammann, H. (2015). Wenn Variationen den Alltag bestimmen. Unterschiede lokaler Politikgestaltung in der Leistungsgewährung für Asylsuchende. Zeitschrift Für Vergleichende Politikwissenschaft, 9(3), 161–182.
- Schammann, H., & Younso, C. (2016). Studium nach der Flucht? Angebote deutscher Hochschulen für Studieninteressierte mit Fluchterfahrung. Universitätsverlag Hildesheim.
- \*Schammann, H., & Younso, C. (2017). Endlich Licht in einer dunklen Ecke? Hürden und Angebote für Geflüchtete im tertiären Bildungsbereich. ZEP: Zeitschrift Für Internationale Bildungsforschung Und Entwicklungspädagogik, 40(1), 10–15.
- Schimank, U. (2012). Wissenschaft als gesellschaftliches Teilsystem. In S. Maasen, M. Kaiser, M. Reinhart, & B. Sutter (Eds.). *Handbuch Wissenschaftssoziologie* (pp. 113-123). Springer VS.
- \*Schneider, L. (2018). Access and aspirations: Syrian refugees' experiences of entering higher education in Germany. *Research in Comparative and International Education*, *13*(3), 457–478. doi:10.1177/1745499918784764.
- Schneidewind, U. (2016). Die "Third Mission" zur "First Mission" machen?, *die hochschule*, (1), 14–22.
- \*Schröder, S., Grüttner, M., & Berg, J. (2019). Study preparation for refugees in German 'Studienkollegs': Interpretative patterns of access, life-wide (language) learning and performance. *Widening Participation and Lifelong Learning*, 21(2), 67–85.
- Seeber, M., & Lepori, B. (2014). The internationalization of European higher education institutions. In A. Bonaccorsi (Ed.) *Knowledge, Diversity and Perfomance in European Higher Education A changing landscape* (pp. 138-163). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Seidl, D., & Mormann, H. (2015). Niklas Luhmann as organization theorist. In P. Adler, P. Du Gay, G. Morgan, & M. Reed (Eds.) *Oxford Handbook of Sociology, Social Theory and Organization Studies: Contemporary Currents* (pp. 125-157). Oxford University Press.
- Shakya, Y. B., Guruge, S., Hynie, M., Akbari, A., Malik, M., Htoo, S., Khogali, A., Mona, S. A., Murtaza, R., & Alley, S. (2010). Aspirations for higher education among newcomer

- refugee youth in Toronto: Expectations, challenges, and strategies. *Refuge*, 27(2), 65–78.
- \*Shapiro, S. (2018). Familial capital, narratives of agency, and the college transition process for refugee-background youth. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, *51*(3-4), 332–346. doi:10.1080/10665684.2018.1546151.
- \*Sheikh, M., Koc, Y., & Anderson, J. R. (2019). A qualitative exploration of the tertiary education experiences of refugee and asylum seekers in Australia. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk (JESPAR)*, 24(4), 346–368. doi:10.1080/10824669.2019.1657867.
- \*Sheridan, V. (2016). Support and surveillance: 1956 Hungarian refugee students in transit to the Joyce Kilmer Reception Centre and to higher education scholarships in the USA. *History of Education*, 45(6), 775–793. doi:10.1080/0046760X.2016.1185542.
- Slack, R.E., Corlett, S., & Morris, R. (2015). Exploring employee engagement with (corporate) social responsibility: A social exchange perspective on organisational participation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 127(3), 537–548.
- \*Sontag, K. (2018). Highly skilled asylum seekers: case studies of refugee students at a swiss university. *Migration Letters*, 15(4), 533–544.
- \*Sontag, K. (2019). Refugee students' access to three European universities: An ethnographic study. *Social Inclusion*, 7(1), 71-79. doi:10.17645/si.v7i1.1622.
- \*Steinhilber, A. (2019). Higher education and forced migration: An evaluation of psychosocial support provided for Syrian refugees and the Jordanian host community. *Intervention*, 17(1), 96. doi:10.4103/INTV.INTV\_53\_18.
- \*Stevenson, J., & Baker, S. (2018). Refugees in Higher Education: Debate, Discourse and Practice. Emerald Publishing.
- Stevenson, J., & Willott, J. (2007). The aspiration and access to higher education of teenage refugees in the UK. *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, 37(5), 671–687. doi:10.1080/03057920701582624
- Steward, B. (2004). Writing a literature review. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 67(11), 495–500.
- Stichweh, R. (2014). Paradoxe Autonomie. Zu einem systemtheoretischen Begriff der Autonomie von Universität und Wissenschaft. Zeitschrift Für Theoretische Soziologie, 2. Sonderband: Autonomie Revisited. Beiträge Zu Einem Umstrittenen Grundbegriff in Wissenschaft, Kunst Und Politik, (2), 29–40.
- Stichweh, R. (2000). Semantik und Sozialstruktur. Soziale Systeme, 6, 237–250.
- Streeck, W., & Thelen, K. (Eds.). (2005). *Beyond Continuity. Institutional Change in Advanced Political Economies*. Oxford University Press.
- \*Streitwieser, B. (2019). International education for enlightenment, for opportunity and for survival: Where students, migrants and refugees diverge. *Journal of Comparative and Higher Education*, (11), 3–8. doi:10.6017/ihe.2019.97.10939.

- \*Streitwieser, B., & Brück, L. (2018). Competing motivations in Germany's higher education response to the "Refugee Crisis". *Refuge*, 34(2), 38–51.
- \*Streitwieser, B., Brueck, L., Moody, R., & Taylor, M. (2017). The potential and reality of new refugees entering German higher education: The case of Berlin institutions. *European Education*, 49(4), 231–252. doi:10.1080/10564934.2017.1344864.
- \*Streitwieser, B., Miller-Idriss, C., & deWit, H. (2017). Higher education's response to the European refugee crisis. In J. Gacel-Avila, E. Jones, N. Jooste, & H. de Wit (Eds.), *Higher Education's Response to the European Refugee Crisis* (pp. 29-39). Routledge.
- \*Streitwieser, B., Schmidt, A., Brück, L., & Gläsener, K. (2018a). Not a crisis but a coping challenge: How Berlin universities responded to the refugee influx. In K. Arar, K. Haj-Yehida, D. Ross, & Y. Kondakci (Eds.), *Equity in Higher Education Theory, Policy, and Praxis. Refugees and Global Challenges in Higher Education.* Peter-Lang.
- \*Streitwieser, B., Schmidt, M. A., Gläsener, K. M., & Brück, L (2018b). Needs, barriers, and support systems for refugee students in Germany. *Global Education Review*, *5*(4), 136–157.
- \*Streitwieser, B., Loo, B., Ohorodnik, M., & Jeong, J. (2019). Access for refugees into higher education: A review of interventions in North America and Europe. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 23(4), 473–496. doi:10.1177/1028315318813201.
- \*Student, R., Kendall, K., & Day, L. (2017). Being a refugee university student: A collaborative auto-ethnography. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, *30*(4), 580–604. doi:10.1093/jrs/few045.
- Studienkolleg Hannover. (n.y.). *Studienkolleg Hannover*. https://www.stk.uni-hannover.de/133.html.
- Studienkollegs.de. (n.y.). *Studienkollegs.de*. http://www.studienkollegs.de/Willkommen.html.
- Study In. (n.y.a). *Study In: Fehlende oder unvollständige Unterlagen*. https://www.study-in.de/de/refugees/studieren/voraussetzungen/fehlende-oder-unvollstaendige-unterlagen\_39087.php.
- Study In. (n.y.b). *Study-In: Finanzierung und Finanzielle Unterstützung*. https://www.study-in.de/de/refugees/studieren/finanzierung-und-finanzielle-unterstuetzung\_38515.php.
- Study In. (n.y.c). Study-In: Voraussetzungen. https://www.study-in.de/fluechtlinge/studieren/voraussetzungen/.
- \*Tamrat, W., & Habtemariam, S. D. (2019). The quest for refugee higher education in Ethiopia: The case of self-financing Eritreans. *Widening Participation and Lifelong Learning*, 21(2), 120–140. doi:10.5456/WPLL.21.2.120.
- Täubig, V. (2009). Totale Institution Asyl: Empirische Befunde zu alltäglichen Lebensführungen in der organisierten Desintegration. Beltz Juventa.
- \*Theuerl, M. (2016). Geflüchtete und Hochschule: Transkulturelle Begegnung an der Hochschule. Femina Politica Zeitschrift Für Feministische Politikwissenschaft, 25(2).

- \*Toker, H. (2019). The Norwegian way: Protection through higher education the recognition process for Syrian refugees in HE. *International Migration*, 83(46), 1–16. doi:10.1111/imig.12664.
- Torka, M. (2009). Die Projektförmigkeit der Forschung. Nomos.
- Torraco, R. J. (2005). Writing integrative literature reviews: Guidelines and examples. *Human Resource Development Review*, 4(3), 356–367. doi:10.1177/1534484305278283.
- Torraco, R. J. (2016). Writing integrative literature reviews. Using the past and present to explore the future. *Human Resource Development Review*, 15(4), 404–428. doi:10.1177/1534484316671606.
- \*Tuliao, M. D., Hatch, D.K., & Torraco, R. J. (2017). Refugee students in community colleges: How colleges can respond to an emerging demographic challenge. *Journal of Applied Research in the Community College*, 24(1), 15–26.
- \*Tzoraki, O. (2019). A descriptive study of the schooling and higher education reforms in response to the refugees' influx into Greece. *Social Sciences*, 8(3), 1-14. doi:10.3390/socsci8030072.
- \*Unangst, L. (2019). Refugees in the German higher education system: Implications and recommendations for policy change. *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, *3*(2), 144–166. doi:10.1080/23322969.2019.1643254.
- Unangst, L., & Crea, T. M. (2020). Higher education for refugees: A need for intersectional research. *Comparative Education Review*, 62(2).
- \*Unangst, L., & Streitwieser, B. (2018). Inclusive practices in response to the German refugee influx: Support structures and rationales described by university administrators. In A. Curaj, L. Deca, & R. Pricopie (Eds.), *European Higher Education Area: The Impact of Past and Future Policies* (pp. 287-300). Springer International Publishing.
- UNESCO. (2018). Migration, displacement and education: Building bridges, not walls. Global Education Monitoring Report 2019. UNESCO Publishing. http://www.guninetwork.org/files/265866e.pdf
- UNESCO. (n.y.). *Leading SDG 4 Education 2030*. https://en.unesco.org/themes/education2030-sdg4
- UNESCO, UNICEF, World Bank, UNFPA, UNDP, UN Women, & UNHCR (Eds.) (2015). Education 2030: Incheon Declaration and Framework for Action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all. UNESCO, UNICEF, World Bank, UNFPA, UNDP, UN Women, UNHCR.
- \*Unger-Ullmann, D. (2017). Sprachorientierte Maßnahmen für AsylwerberInnen im universitären Kontext. *Magazin Erwachsenenbildung.At*, 11(31).
- UNHCR. (2018). The other one percent Refugee students in higher education. DAFI Annual Report 2017. https://www.unhcr.org/5bc4affc4.

- UNHCR. (2019a). *Figures at a glance*. UNHCR. https://www.unhcr.org/en-us/figures-at-a-glance.html
- UNHCR. (2019b). *Tertiary education*. UNHCR. https://www.unhcr.org/tertiary-education.html
- UNHCR. (2019c). *Refugee education 2030: A strategy for refugee inclusion*. UNHCR. https://www.unhcr.org/publications/education/5d651da88d7/education-2030-strategy-refugee-education.html
- UNHCR. (2020). *Global trends: Forced displacement in 2019*. UNHCR. https://www.unhcr.org/globaltrends2019/
- United Nations. (2019). Sustainable Development Goal 4: Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all. United Nations. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg4
- van Mol, C. (2013). Intra-European student mobility and European identity: A successful marriage? *Population, Space and Place, 19*(2), 209–222.
- \*Vickers, M., McCarthy, F., & Zammit, K. (2017). Peer mentoring and intercultural understanding: Support for refugee-background and immigrant students beginning university study. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 60, 198–209. doi:10.1016/j.ijintrel.2017.04.015.
- \*Villegas, P. E., & Aberman, T. (2019). A double punishment: The context of postsecondary access for racialized precarious status migrant students in Toronto, Canada. *Refuge*, 35(1), 72–82. doi:10.7202/1060676ar.
- \*Vue, R. (2019). Trauma and resilience in the lives and education of Hmong American students: forging pedagogies of remembrance with critical refugee discourse. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 44(2), 1–20. doi:10.1080/13613324.2019.1599347.
- Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, 10(1), 69–80.
- Warriner, D. S., Fredricks, D. E., & Duran, C. S. (2019). Valuing the resources and experiences of refugee-background learners: A principled approach to teaching and learning Academic Language. *Theory into Practice*, 59(1), 32–41. doi:10.1080/00405841.2019.1665412.
- \*Webb, S., Dunwoodie, K., & Wilkinson, J. (2019). Unsettling equity frames in Australian universities to embrace people seeking asylum. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 38(1), 103–120. doi:10.1080/02601370.2018.1559891.
- Weick, K. (1976). Educational organizations as loosely coupled systems. *Administrative Science Quarterly*. 21(1), 1-19.
- Weinbach, C. (2008). Intersektionalität'. Ein Paradigma zur Erfassung sozialer Ungleichheitsverhältnisse. In C. Klinger & A. Knapp (Eds.) ÜberKreuzungen. Fremdheit, Ungleichheit, Differenz (pp. 171-193). Westfälisches Dampfboot.

- \*White, J. (2017). The banality of exclusion in Australian universities. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 21(11), 1–10.
- Wissenschaft Weltoffen. (2019). Wissenschaft Weltoffen 2019 Abbildungen. http://www.wissenschaftweltoffen.de/wwo2019/
- de Wit, H., Hunter, F., Howard, L., & Egron-Polak, E. (2015). *Internationalisation of higher education study. Report for the European parliament's committee on culture and education*. Brüssel: European Union.
- \*Witthaus, G. (2018). Findings from a case study on refugees using MOOCs to (re)enter higher education. *Open Praxis*, 10(4), 343. doi:openpraxis.10.4.910.
- Wright, R. W., Brand, R. A., Dunn, W., & Spindler, K. P. (2007). How to write a systematic review. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, 455, 23–29. doi:10.1097/BLO.0b013e31802c9098.
- Wojtkiewicz, W., & Heiland, S. (2012). Landschaftsverständnisse in der Landschaftsplanung. Eine semantische Analyse der Verwendung des Wortes "Landschaft" in kommunalen Landschaftsplänen. *Raumforschung Und Raumordnung*, 70(2), 133–145. doi:10.1007/s13147-011-0138-7
- \*Yesufu, L., & Alajlani, S. (2019). Measuring social innovation for education and resource development in refugee camps: A conceptual study. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 8(4), 208. doi:10.5430/ijhe.v8n4p208.
- Yildiz, A. G. (Ed.). (2019). Integration of refugee students in European higher education Comparative Country Cases. Yaşar University Publications.
- Young, M., Sørensen, M. P., Bloch, C., & Degn, L. (2017). Systemic rejection: political pressures seen from the science system. *Higher Education*, 74(3), 491–505. doi:10.1007/s10734-016-0059-z
- Younso, C., & Schammann, H. (in press): The politics of restricted meritocracy: Refugees in higher education in Germany. In J. Berg, M. Grüttner & B. Streitwieser (Eds.): *Refugees in higher education. Questioning the notion of integration*. Springer Nature.
- \*Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, O., Happ, R., Nell-Müller, S., Deribo, T., Reinhardt, F., & Toepper, M. (2018). Successful integration of refugee students in higher education: Insights from entry diagnostics in an online study program. Global Education Review, 5(4), 158–181